

Using Data to Track Racehorse Physiology During Training and Racing



Charlotte Schrurs PGDip, MSc.

School of Veterinary Medicine and Science

A thesis submitted to the University of Nottingham for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

November 2023

Abstract

This thesis investigates multiple aspects of racehorse training, physiology, and performance. The overarching objective of the work is to explore the various factors that may influence the development of racehorses in-training, where a dearth of information exists, historically due to technological limitations. Here, by using a validated fitness tracker, the 'Equimetre^{™'} then multiple aspects of racehorse physiology (heart rate, heart rate recovery), speed (GPS tracked), stride and on-course performance (results-based) could be analysed in large cohorts of racehorses. All studies were retrospective and observational.

In the first study I investigated how training intensity (slow canter to hard gallop) and training surface (sand, fibre, or turf) impacts upon parameters like heart rate, heart rate recovery, stride length/frequency in the racehorses in-training. Additionally, I also explored the influence of horse age and sex on these parameters. The dataset included 509 Thoroughbred racehorses from Australia and France, of varying age, sex (including geldings), and training conditions. In summary, the precision of the Equimetre was excellent (coefficient of variation from 1-5% for locomotory parameters, 3-6% for speed and 5-15% for cardiovascular parameters). The data revealed the marked effect of training surface - sand being mainly used for canters, but markedly shortening stride relative to turf - and how racehorses reach maximum heart rate even at relatively slow speeds (e.g., often at only 'hard canter'). Heart rate recovery was mostly influenced by training intensity and did not appear to 'improve' through the season, as a marker of 'fitness'. There was clearly a zone of maximal cardiac flexibility, at hard canter-to-slow gallop, where responses to training were greatest, perhaps offering the opportunity to use as a basis for setting training zones, as opposed to maximal heart rate, which offered little in terms of between or within horse performance difference. Establishing these data as a reference point, I could then begin to look at training data in a new light; for example, with information on the sex of each training rider, and their experience (professional or non-professional) I could examine whether sex of the rider had any overt influence on racehorse physiology in training or performance on track.

Thus, my second study explored the effect of the sex of rider on racehorse cardiovascular (heart rate, heart rate recovery) and locomotory (stride length and frequency) parameters in training (slow canter to hard gallop) and, ultimately, on the track as race performance in both Australia and the United Kingdom. The dataset consisted of 530 Thoroughbred racehorses that were ridden by randomly allocated work riders of varying sex (male, n= 66; female, n=37) and experience (including registered professionals, n= 43). In training, female riders, on average, participated in more training sessions, but usually at slower intensities (e.g., canter

i

rather than gallop) than their male counterparts. Racehorse speed or the average time taken to cover a furlong (200m) did not differ according to the sex of the rider onboard, nor did stride length adjusted according to training surface (turf or sand). While heart rate and peak heart rate increased with training intensity, as expected, this was not influenced by the sex of the rider. Interestingly, the rate of recovery of heart rate in the horses (from peak to 15 minutes post exercise), appeared to be affected by the sex of the rider, but this depended on the anticipated training intensity vs. the actual training surface: horses recovered slower on turf after slow canters, but faster on sand after fast gallops with male riders, suggesting that the riders either transmitted anticipatory information to the expected training intensity to the horse or the racehorses responded differently according to sex of the rider (i.e. less anticipating a hard gallop on turf with a female jockey). In regard to race data, significantly more male jockeys are represented in the starting gates on race-day (in complete contrast to data during training). However, race-day performance (win percentage) between male and female jockeys was not different. With these aspects considered, I then considered what evidence there was for the race specificities of each racehorse; for example, is a racehorse that only participates in shortdistance races, a pre-designated sprinter that can be identified early in its training sessions (e.g., by having a shorter stride) relative to a middle- or long-distance racehorse. With threegeneration pedigree information for 421 racehorses, I could then simultaneously explore to what extent the unique characteristics of racehorses are pre-determined by genetics or are developed through the early training sessions.

Therefore, my third study delved into understanding racehorse stride patterns (peak, length, and frequency) by comparing differing distance profiles ('sprinters, milers, or stayers; according to known race distance). I also investigated the heritability of stride by extracting a comprehensive pedigree database and finally also instigated the correlation of stride with performance prediction through previously collected race-results. The dataset comprised of 421 Thoroughbreds, from a single racing yard in Australia, of varying age, sex (including geldings), and training conditions. Stayers, although fewer and mostly older horses, competed in fewer races but were more successful than sprinters. For the race-pace gallops held on turf, then differences in stride were marked: sprinters presented shorter peak stride length but of higher frequency than stayers. When replicating race-day speeds and conditions from starting gates on turf ('jumpouts') over consecutive furlongs, then sprinters were significantly faster than stayers. However, no substantial evolution in stride was reported over the course of continuous training sessions for any individual horse. With everything considered, then colts generally had greater win percentages. Although the effect was relatively small, longer stride length increased the chance of a horse winning and/or finishing in the top three of a race. Peak stride length and frequency were considered moderately heritable, which could theoretically,

ii

when coupled to experience and objective data, aid trainer decision-making for the selection of horses. Finally, I explored the extent to which in-training speed and heart rate recovery could differentiate successful racehorses (those that won races, including black-type) from horses that did not.

For this final study, I accumulated sufficiently large training and race data from the same 485 racehorses in Australia in which the training sessions were restricted to race-pace workouts on turf only (i.e., hard gallop and jumpouts) conducted close to and before (within two months) races. Speed, heart rate peak and recovery at maximal running intensities were similar to previously described data in the first chapters. During standard gallops, then the greatest recovery of racehorse heart rate was identified within the first minute following exercise, designated as the early phase of heart rate recovery. Horses completing jumpout sessions, took longer to recover than others during the first three minutes after exercise, as expected for a race-pace simulation exercise. Interestingly, horses appeared to recover better (+/- 5-6 bpm), at any intensity during warmer workouts, relative to cold, with no effect or interaction with humidity. Racehorse speed over the final 600m in-training when designated as 'fast' versus 'slow' was marginally predictive of race performance. Again, as previously described, colts and stayers also tended to win more racehorses in our dataset relative to mares/fillies and sprinters, respectively. I observed very little predictive ability of heart rate measures on race performance. Hence, in-training physiological data is useful for the trainer and/or sports physiologist to monitor the general health and well-being of racehorses and their general condition but does not evidently predict with certainty the chances of a given racehorse winning a selected race.

Overall, these comprehensive, large-scale studies lay the foundation for future research on infield racehorse exercise physiology. They serve as a valuable resource for trainers and contribute to informed decision-making in the horseracing industry. The findings have the potential to enhance racehorse health and safety, further empowering the future and sustainability of the sport.

Publications & Presentations

Publications

Schrurs, C., Dubois, G., Patarin, F., Cobb, M., Gardner, D.S. and Van Erck-Westergren, E. (2022) Cardiovascular and locomotory parameters during training in thoroughbred racehorses: a multi-national study. *Comparative Exercise Physiology* <u>https://doi.org/10.3920/CEP210037</u>

Schrurs, C., Dubois, G., Van Erck-Westergren, E., Gardner, D.S. (2022) Does sex of the jockey influence racehorse physiology and performance. *PLoS One* <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0273310</u>

Schrurs, C., Blott, S., Dubois, G., Van Erck-Westergren, E., Gardner, D.S. (2022) Locomotory profiles in Thoroughbreds: peak stride length and frequency in training and association with race outcomes. *Animals* 12 (23), 3269 <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12233269</u>

Presentations

Schrurs, C., Dubois, G., Patarin, F., Cobb, M., Gardner, D.S., Van Erck-Westergren, E. *The use of data science to track equine health during training.* School of Biosciences and School of Veterinary Medicine Postgraduate Symposium, University of Nottingham, July 2021.

Schrurs, C., Dubois, G., Van Erck-Westergren, E., Gardner, D.S. (2022) *Does sex of the jockey influence racehorse physiology and performance.* School of Biosciences and School of Veterinary Medicine Postgraduate Symposium, University of Nottingham, December 2021.

Schrurs, C., Dubois, G., Van Erck-Westergren, E., Gardner, D.S. (2022) *Does sex of the jockey influence racehorse physiology and performance.* Horse Tech Conference (online), Cheltenham, United Kingdom, March 2022.

Schrurs, C., Dubois, G., Patarin, F., Cobb, M., Gardner, D.S. and Van Erck-Westergren, E. (2022) *Cardiovascular and locomotory parameters during training in thoroughbred racehorses: a multi-national study.* International Congress on Equine Exercise Physiology, Uppsala, Sweden, June 2022.

3MT presentation: *'Using data to track racehorse physiology during training and racing'*. Annual dinner of the Royal Belgian Benevolent Society, London, United Kingdom, March 2023.

Declaration

Unless otherwise acknowledged, the work presented in this thesis is original. No part of the present work has been submitted for another degree at The University of Nottingham or elsewhere. Any views expressed in the dissertation are those of the author.

Signed:

Charlotte Shruns

Date: 22-11-2023

Acknowledgements

I want to extend my heartfelt gratitude to the amazing human beings below, who have been the guiding lights in my doctoral journey as I rode the winds and waves of academia.

First and foremost, I am immensely grateful to my supervisor, Professor David S. Gardner, who has been the steadfast anchor in my kitesurfing adventure on this boundless academic ocean. What a wild ride it has been since the early days of my MSc! Thank you for accompanying me on this memorable research voyage, although at 'distance', with the blink of an eye. You always went above and beyond for me, in every aspect, accommodating my crazy hours and lifestyle with enthusiasm, patience, kindness, and relentless sense of humour. You have been the lighthouse guiding me through academic storms and bliss, making the journey immensely enriching, stimulating and fun, as I read, navigated, and tamed my first waves. I am so grateful for your unwavering support in all aspects of my learning, growth, and endeavours. Your guidance, mentorship and friendship have been invaluable, just like a perfect-shaped surfboard beneath my feet, keeping me balanced in the ebb and flow of research.

I would also like to extend my thanks to my collaborators, Dr Emmanuelle van Erck and Dr Guillaume Dubois, who have accompanied me on my crossing over the sea of knowledge. Your insights and expertise were like the favourable winds in my sails, propelling me forward in my academic journey. Emmanuelle, thank you for believing in me since the start. It has been such a privilege to work together and learn from you over the last four years. Guillaume, thank you for making this research possible and for your involvement until the end. Your know-how played a pivotal role in the success of this project. It was such a pleasure to work alongside both of you. Special thanks must also go to Romane and Joshua for sharing their field knowledge and experience throughout all studies.

Peter and Lee, you have been my lifeguards on this academic voyage, ever-vigilant, ready to support and rescue me in times of intellectual shore breaks, like guardians watching over a surfer's safety in the reef. Thank you for your support when things got tough, ensuring I did not wipe out on my academic, personal, or professional waves. Amelia, my PhD surf sister since day one, thank you for the friendship all along.

To my friends, especially Lara, Sam, and Anna, I owe a debt of gratitude to you, who provided encouragement, motivation, and moments of respite throughout this enduring 'kite-athon'.

vi

University of Nottingham

You were the currents beneath my kitesurf, keeping me buoyant and propelling me forward as I rode the everchanging waves. Your positive outlook and presence were the steady pull of my kite, keeping me soaring high on this vast ocean.

My dearest Mamy and Sego, your unconditional support was my deep-sea bedrock, unyielding and immovable, like the steady seabed for a surfer to float upon. Thank you for always standing by my decisions and encouraging me to reach the greatest heights.

Damien, my partner in life, I am deeply gifted by your support during this journey. Your kindness and patience sustained me through all the wind seasons. Thank you for riding the wave of life next to me, at times breezy and serene or equally wild and relentless. This achievement would not have been possible without your presence and easy-goingness.

A heartfelt thanks must also go to the institutions and organisations that provided the resources and financial winds that filled my academic kite, including the Royal Belgian Benevolent Society, Arioneo, and the University of Nottingham. You allowed me to explore deeper intellectual currents by materialising my ambition to pursue new academic heights.

And to all the unsung ocean lovers, friends and mentors, near or far, who may not be named here but who, in their own ways, were the hidden currents beneath my kiteboard, I am deeply grateful for you shaping the contours of my horizon.

This journey, much like kitesurfing, has been both a thrilling and enriching ride full of manoeuvres and glides. It would not have been possible without all of you. Thank you for inspiring and encouraging me as I reach the other side of the shore.

With the wind in my sails and the blessing of your support, I continue to surf through the vast sea of life, wherever it will take me, always chasing the next big wave.



Table of Contents

Abstract	i	
Publications & Presentations iv		
Declaration	v	
Acknowledgements	vi	
Table of Contents	viii	
Table of Tables	xii	
Table of Figures	xiii	
Abbreviations	xiv	
Chapter 1 Introduction and Literature Review	15	
1.1 Summary	15	
1.2 The Thoroughbred racing industry	15	
1.2.1 Horseracing: nations and global revenue 1.2.2 Racehorse wastage	15 16	
1.3 Thoroughbred flat racing	20	
1.3.1 Race distance and tracks 1.3.2 Race categories	20 21	
1.4 The training environment		
1.4.1 Track surfaces 1.4.2 Ground condition	23	
1.4.3 Racetrack surface and relevance to injuries		
1.5 Training practices		
1.5.1 Continuous versus interval training		
1.5.2 Example of training model		
1.6. Equipe exercise physiology		
1.6.1 Exercise testing		
1.6.1.1 Treadmill versus track testing	34	
1.6.2 Introduction of physiological tracking devices to racehorse training	35	
1.7 Performance indicators.		
1.7.1 Maximal oxygen uptake 1.7.2 Heart rate		
1.7.3 Blood lactate		
1.8 Physiological data recorded by the Equimetre fitness tracker	42	
1.9 Data collection	44	
1.10 Statistical models	45	
1.11 Conclusions	47	

1.12 Study aims and research questions	47
1.13 Thesis structure	49
Chapter 2 Study 1: Cardiovascular and locomotory parameters during train	ina
in thoroughbred racehorses: a multi-national study	50
2.1 Abstract	50
2.2 Introduction	
2.3 Material and Methods	52
2.3.1 Horses	52
2.3.2 Equipment	53
2.3.4 Data collection	53
2.3.5 Data analysis	55
2.4 Results	56
2.4.1 Variation associated with recordings from the Equimetre.	56
2.4.3 Effect of track surface	61
2.4.4 Cardiovascular responses to training in thoroughbred racehorses	63
2.4.5 Effect of age on training parameters	65
2.4.6 Effects of sex of horse and month on training outcomes	66
2.5 Discussion	67
Chapter 3 Study 2: Does sex of the jockey influence racehorse physiology	and
performance	74
3.1 Abstract	74
3.2 Introduction	74
3.3 Material and Methods	77
3.3.1 Racehorse physiological outcomes in training according to sex of the jockey	77
3.3.1.1 Horses	77
3.3.1.3 Equipment	78
3.3.2 Training	78
3.3.3 Data collection	79
3.3.4 Racehorse race outcomes according to sex of the jockey	79 70
3.3.5 Statistical analysis	80
3.3.5.1 Training data	80
3.3.5.2 Race data	80
3.4 Results	81
3.4.1 Descriptive data of the cohort; number, type and intensity of training session b of work-rider	y sex 81
3.4.2 Racehorse speed, stride length and effect of training on differing surfaces by swork-rider	sex of
3.4.3 Racehorse cardiovascular responses to incremental training intensity by sex of rider	work- 86
3.4.4 Racehorse recovery of heart rate after incremental training intensity by sex of rider	work- 88
3.4.5 Race results	90
3.5 Discussion	90

4.1 Abstract	96
4.2 Introduction	96
 4.3 Material and Methods	
 4.4 Results	102 102 103 108 109
 4.5 Discussion	111 111 112 113 115

	5.1 Abstract	117
	5.2 Introduction	117
	 5.3 Material and Methods	120 120 120 121 121 122 123
	 5.4 Results	124 124 125 130 131
	 5.5 Discussion 5.5.1 Descriptive characteristics of the racehorse training dataset 5.5.2 Racehorse heart rate and recovery during training 5.5.3 Racehorse speed during training 5.5.4 Racehorse heart rate recovery and speed for the prediction of race-day performed and speed for the prediction of race-day performed	136 136 137 138 nance 139
Chapter 6 Overall Discussion		
	6.1 Project overview6.2 Limitations of using data analytics to assess racehorse physiology and perform	142 nance 147

6.3 Future work	148
6.4 Conclusions	150
Chapter 7 Bibliography	152
Chapter 8 Published Papers	173

Table of Tables

Table 1 Summary of commercially available technologies for racehorses and their reportedcapabilities (Kee et al., 2023)
Table 2 Overview of racehorse speed, stride and heart rate parameters collected through theEquimetre fitness tracker
Table 3 Percentage coefficient of variation of the Equimetre 57
Table 4 Validation of the fitness tracker device (Horse A exercised at 'Hard Canter' on the same track and surface [sand]) .58
Table 5 Descriptive characteristics of the Australian and French racehorse training datasets
Table 6 Descriptive data for the complete cohort of racehorses training at a single racing yard in Australia
Table 7 Race performance stratified by type of horse
Table 8 Descriptive characteristics of the training dataset
Table 9 Peak stride frequency and length in race-speed training efforts categorised by type of racehorse 105
Table 10 Heritability (h²) of locomotory and peak heart rate during race-speed training efforts categorised by type of racehorse
Table 11 Descriptive characteristics of the racehorse training dataset
Table 12 Stride length and frequency at 600m stratified by quintiles of speed 130

Table of Figures

Figure 1 The Equimetre fitness tracker set up on a horse (ter Woort et al., 2021)45
Figure 2 Classifying intensity of racehorse training sessions
Figure 3 Track surface influences racehorse training characteristics
Figure 4 Cardiovascular responses of racehorses to differing training intensities
Figure 5 Effect of age, training month or training session on racehorses
Figure 6 Classification of the number, type and intensity of training sessions
Figure 7 Speed, stride and influence of multiple training sessions on different track surfaces by sex of work rider
Figure 8 Racehorse heart rate on different track surfaces by sex of work rider87
Figure 9 Recovery of racehorse heart rate on different track surfaces by sex of work rider89
Figure 10 Training data during jumpout for different categories of racehorse107
Figure 11 Evolution of locomotory parameters throughout the training season
Figure 12 Predicting race wins or podium places on training data109
Figure 13 Racehorse heart rate and recovery during hard gallop training according to age126
Figure 14 Racehorse heart rate and recovery during training according to exercise group.127
Figure 15 Racehorse heart rate recovery phases during training according to exercise group
Figure 16 Evolution of temperature and humidity according to training month throughout the study period129
Figure 17 Racehorse heart rate recovery according to environmental conditions during a hard gallop workout
Figure 18 Racehorse time to cover various 200m segments up to a virtual finish line during a gallop workout
Figure 19 Racehorse heart rate and recovery during a hard gallop workout according to participation in a group race
Figure 20 Racehorse speed during a hard gallop workout according to participation in a group race
Figure 21 Predicting race wins on training data134
Figure 22 Predicting the percentage chance of race wins on training data

Abbreviations

ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
AUC	Area under the curve
BPM	Beats per minute
СМІ	Catastrophic musculoskeletal injury
СТ	Continuous incremental training
GPS	Global positioning system
h ²	Heritability
HR	Heart rate
HRR	Heart rate recovery
HR at 15min	Heart rate at 15 minutes after cessation of training
HRV	Heart rate variability
HRM	Heart rate monitor
HR Max	Maximal heart rate
IFHA	International Federation of Horseracing Authorities
IT	Interval training
MSI	Musculoskeletal injury
VO ₂ Max	Volume of maximum oxygen uptake
V200	Speed at a heart rate of 200 beats per minute
VLa4	Speed at a blood lactate concentration of 4mmol/l
VLa10	Speed at a blood lactate concentration of 10mmol/l

Chapter 1 Introduction and Literature Review

1.1 Summary

This chapter provides background information on the horse racing sport, including its challenges (i.e., race-day injuries and wastage) and opportunities found in training management, along with the surge of new validated technologies to monitor racehorse performance on the track. The chapter ends with a summary of the aims and research questions of this project, and an overview of the structure of the thesis.

1.2 The Thoroughbred racing industry

1.2.1 Horseracing: nations and global revenue

Thoroughbred horseracing, a globally acclaimed and intensely competitive sport (Wilson et al., 2014a), has shifted from a traditional pursuit into a multi-million dollar industry shaped by both gambling and breeding. The International Federation of Horseracing Authorities (IFHA), established in 2003, now serves as the international governing body. Its overarching mission is to establish a unified framework for horseracing regulations and best practices across member nations.

According to the 2019 IFHA survey, the sport witnessed a staggering total of 148,179 Thoroughbred races (flat and jump races combined) across 50 countries, displaying 239,783 individual runners and offering a total prize money of approximately \in 3.5 billion (IFHA, 2019). Notably, Australia hosted 19,276 flat races, securing the second position globally after the United States of America (USA) with 36,066 flat races, and preceding Japan with 16,444 flat races. The annual distribution of prize money distributed revealed the following top-ranking nations: Japan (\in 964,829,380), the USA (\in 842,570,286) and Australia (\in 456,662,546) (IFHA, 2019). Given the extensive data available from a single racing yard in Australia, this thesis primarily delves into the intricacies of this particular racing industry.

Australia stands out among racing nations for its high per-capita ownership of Thoroughbred racehorses (Ross, 2003). Moreover, its racing industry significantly contributes to the nation's economy, serving as a vital source of employment, export income and gambling revenue. In 2019, race-day gambling alone reached a substantial turnover of \$AUD 18,254 million. The

extensive reach of the industry is evidenced by 454 racecourses hosting 19,276 flat races, with 34,682 different horses participating during the 2019 season (IFHA, 2019).

1.2.2 Racehorse wastage

As mentioned above, the racing sector represents a major driver of the Australian economy. The viability of this particular industry relies directly on the welfare of its horses and thus, their low turnover (Jeffcott et al., 1982), aspects that are intimately associated with public perception and participation (Bourke, 1995). Indeed, if a high turnover is recorded (e.g., many horses unable to race), then racecourses may struggle to fill scheduled races. Unfilled races, in turn, will hinder the ability of venues to attract the betting public. Consequently, this tendency would then cause poor return on owner investment and restrict racehorse owners' pool. Hence, minimising wastage is a priority for most nations, along with the reinforcement of racehorse health and welfare strategies to ensure the sustainability of the sport.

'Wastage' is the term used for a horse that leaves the industry at any stage of its life or career ranging from pregnancy, illness or death in foals, to training or racing related injuries (Bailey, 1998). Within the horseracing discipline, and across other equine sports, a 'one-third' theory continues to be observed: within any given year cohort, approximately one-third of the horses born will not enter the racing sport. Within the remaining cohort, horses will either be intentionally withdrawn from training (e.g. unsuitability for the sport), retire unintentionally (e.g. poor performance-related issues such as musculoskeletal injuries) or will be sent to breeding farms (O'Brien et al., 2005, Friedrich et al., 2011). A study conducted by More (1999) in Queensland, Australia outlined that only 71% of 2- or 3-year-old Thoroughbreds continued to race for at least one more year, and only 46% for at least two more years after their first race. Previous evidence by Bourke (1995) revealed that more than one-third of the Thoroughbred population in Victoria, Australia exited the industry each year. To date, limited information is available to quantify this wastage effect. However, suitable training programs coupled to objective performance monitoring (i.e by means of validated tracking technologies) could lead to overall improved health and welfare, and thus reduced racehorse wastage.

The typical Thoroughbred racehorse is characterised by a height of ~160cm (~16 hands) and weighs ~500 kilograms to perform at maximal speeds of 50-70 km/h depending on the distance to cover (Evans, 2007b, Rivero et al., 2007, Marlin and Nankervis, 2013, Williams and Ashby, 1992, Fleming et al., 2001). Race timings usually span between 1-3 minutes depending on the distance to cover and reflect superior sprinting or endurance aptitude. Running at peak speeds provokes high metabolic rates and exerts substantial impact forces on the horses' limbs.

Such demands only partly justify the particular nature of the horseracing, perceived as a high risk and dangerous sport for its participants including both horses (Hitchens et al., 2016) and professional jockeys (Bailey et al., 1997, Cohen et al., 1997) and its direct association with the high incidence of falls and injuries (Turner et al., 2002, Hitchens et al., 2009, Rueda et al., 2010, Waller et al., 2000, McCrory et al., 2006).

In recent years, the occurrence of catastrophic incidents on the racetrack has become more visible to the greater public through wider media coverage. In both Thoroughbred flat and jump racing, the percentage of sudden death was estimated to be 19% in Australia between 1989-2004, 12% in the UK and 9% in California between 2000-2009 (Lyle et al., 2011, Boden et al., 2006). Some more recent events include the death of horses during or shortly after participating in the Kentucky Derby in 2023, the Melbourne Cup in 2020 and the Cheltenham Festival in 2023. Social media now, more than ever, significantly contributes to the rapid dissemination of negative news, further serving lobby groups (Graham and McManus, 2016). Triggering substantial criticism and debate, these incidents further question both the ethics and future of the sport. The origin of such accidents is often reported as 'anomalies' (i.e. a rare physical condition or accident-related injury) (Markwell et al., 2017), pressing the need for both evidence-based research and clear jurisdiction strategies to improve racehorse health and welfare. Recently, large epidemiological studies have been on the rise in effort to identify recurring racehorse conditions associated with track-related injuries (Clegg, 2011). These included musculoskeletal damage (Boden et al., 2006), exercise-induced pulmonary haemorrhage (Morley et al., 2015) and gastric ulcers (Orsini et al., 2009).

Racehorses may initiate their training from the age of one to ultimately start racing at the age of two. Some trainers follow a practice of "training by the calendar" for their yearlings: that is, they set a specific target date for their horses to be race-ready, even if it requires sacrificing periods of rest in the paddock. For racing and bloodline purposes, Thoroughbred age is determined by the calendar (i.e., 1st of January for the Northern Hemisphere and 1st of August for the Southern Hemisphere) and not the individual's birthdate. As a result, buyers tend to shy away from horses born late in the year, as they will present less training experience and maturity, thus increasing their likelihood of average race performance. This raises a significant controversy within the racing community: whether commencing Thoroughbred training at two years of age is detrimental or beneficial to a racehorse's career and growth. Contrasted opinions fuel the debate amongst equine professionals, as this practice engages relatively immature horses to high work demands early on in their development phase and may therefore increase the risk of injury. Evidence in the literature on both the training and racing of two-year-olds is conflicting. For instance, Mason and Bourke (1973) evaluated 74 Thoroughbreds in

Australia during their two-year old racing season and reported that 40% were unsound at the end of the season. Similarly, Hernandez and Hawkins (2001) observed that 45% of horses presented lameness over a 6- to 8-month period for a median of 26 lost days. In contrast, a more recent epidemiological review by Stover (2003) outlined that two-year-old racehorses were not at greater risk of injury as opposed to 4-year-olds and age categories above. For twoyear old horses, it is indispensable for trainers to carefully balance workload, distance, and frequency. Indeed, regular, low intensity canter exercise is necessary and considered beneficial as contributes to overall joint health (Tanner et al., 2013). However, it should be coupled to the right amount of high-speed exercise, as excessive accumulation has the potential to damage meta-carpo- and meta-tarso-phalangeal joints (Reed et al., 2013). Interestingly, Stover (2003) also highlighted that horses appropriately exercised at high speeds over short distances presented lower injury incidence as opposed to those that completed single, long-distance high-speed work. Early onset of suitable training provides a positive stimulus and equally offers racing advantages for two-year-olds compared to those initiating training at a later date (Rogers et al., 2012) including prolonged careers (Velie et al., 2013a), more race starts and greater earnings (Santschi et al., 2017).

In racehorse training, when a locomotory issue arises (e.g., lameness in a limb or other musculoskeletal concern), then it is common practice for trainers to administer pain-mitigating medications to their horses instead of prescribing rest or reducing the workload. Corticosteroids, regardless of their anti-inflammatory effects, when injected in joints repetitively alter the integrity of articular cartilage leading to increased risk of racehorse injury (Murray et al., 1999). Similarly, hyaluronic acid, injected to provide lubrication and cushioning to the targeted joint, can also cause training injuries (Hitchens et al., 2018). In California, USA for instance, it is estimated that 70% of the in-training Thoroughbred population is routinely under medication (Hitchens et al., 2018). The reason behind this widespread practice lies in the substantial amount of financial pressure placed on trainers: the high expectations to produce exceptionally performing horses, a strong push to maximise race-entries and above all, to ensure that high-paying owners and shareholders secure their return on investment.

Such factors have long been major contributors to the persistent doping issues that blemish the horseracing industry (Tobin, 1981). 'Doping' refers to the unethical practice of administrating prohibited substances to horses to enhance their performance or obtain a competitive advantage. It is interesting to note that racing authorities equally prioritise the detection of substances that can impair a horse's performance. That is, in certain circumstances, individuals may intentionally reduce a horse's performance, not to win the race, but rather to manipulate betting outcomes. The motivation behind this practice lies in the fact that the financial gain from betting on a race with impaired performance may, in certain

18

contexts, outweigh the potential prize money on offer from winning a race legitimately. In human sports, a unified approach for rules and regulations is implemented for most elite sport events worldwide under the World Anti-Doping Agency. The horseracing sport is currently hampered by the lack of global governance that would streamline both rules and regulations. However, several racing authorities have gradually adopted the guidelines and best practices advocated by the IFHA. The following principle has drawn particular attention: no prohibited substance should be present in official samples (i.e., urine or blood) collected from any horse following racing, with testing and screening conducted by officially registered racing chemists or regulatory veterinarians.

In addition to the variations in doping control programs, the vast scope of substances to control continues to pose considerable challenges (Wong and Wan, 2014). Indeed, the ongoing surge of new drugs on the market, whether legal or illegal, outpaces the development of testing methods by racing chemists, creating a barrier in effectively detecting their use and abuse. Various global initiatives have been developed in attempt to address racehorse doping and its related risks. One example is the Californian Horseracing Board that tested the implementation of a 30-day drug cutoff prior to races along with a 10-day cutoff prior to training on intra-articular injections of corticosteroids. The results led to a marked decrease in catastrophic injuries on major racetracks such as the Santa Anita course (Horse Racing News, 2020). Hence, medical administration and other management-related factors can play a direct role in mitigating race-related injuries on the track.

Whilst racing injuries must officially be recorded by veterinarians, there is no current obligation to register training related injuries. This is somewhat surprising, considering that the majority of musculoskeletal injuries (MSI) are reported to occur during training (Verheyen and Wood, 2004, Robinson et al., 1988) and not racing (Perkins et al., 2005, Verheyen and Wood, 2004, Estberg et al., 1995, Jeffcott et al., 1982). Characterised as repetitive stress, MSI is the leading cause behind lost training days in Thoroughbreds (Cogger et al., 2006). Johnson et al. (1994) reported that in-training MSI mainly occurred in both the forelimb and hindlimbs (i.e., humerus, fetlocks, and pelvic joints). A series of countries have explored this topic. In the UK, 20% of horses presented serious lameness issues that impeded return to race training between 1977-1980 (Jeffcott et al., 1982). During similar years, 19% to 33% of racehorses terminated training within a 3-month-or-less period in the USA (Kobluk et al., 1990). While later, in Germany, 26% of racehorses finished training within a 9-month period (Lindner and Dingerkus, 1993).

From a racing perspective, MSI account for 70% of racehorse fatalities (Wood et al., 2000). According to post-mortem investigations, they are seen to predominantly affect the forelimb, including the proximal sesamoid bone (i.e., navicular bone), suspensory apparatus and the

third metacarpal bone (i.e., commonly referred to as the cannon bone). An analysis of the literature relating to racehorse injury between 1990-2017 compared the numbers of catastrophic musculoskeletal injuries (CMI) happening on the racetrack between countries (Hitchens et al., 2019). Findings outlined that the pooled incidence for racehorse CMI was 1.17 per 1000 race starts. For Australia and New Zealand, the pooled incidence of CMI were substantially lower than the findings observed in the United States (P < 0.001) and Canada (P = 0.011) but did not differ significantly from Hong Kong (P = 0.608) and the United Kingdom (P = 0.091). The following factors are believed to mitigate CMI occurring on the racetrack:

(1) Horse-level indicators: older horse age and age at first race start, male sex, and higher race class or lower claiming price.

(2) Race-level indicators: harder track conditions on turf and wetter conditions on dirt, prolonged race distance, and a greater number of racehorse starters.

(3) Management-related indicators: more days since previous race start, greater number of starts, longer career, issues found at pre-race examination, previous recorded injury, and recent administration of medication or injections.

Overall, the prevalence of MSI and racehorse mortality (Maron et al., 2009, Lyle et al., 2012) raises substantial ethical, welfare, safety and economic concerns across the racing industry. Racing jurisdictions have gradually created monitoring programmes to track, monitor and investigate this particular topic (Arthur, 2011), such as the 2023-2027 Equine Welfare Strategic Plan of Racing Victoria in Australia. Studies objectively tracking racehorse training, whether in small or larger size cohorts, are needed to guide existing racehorse health and welfare efforts.

1.3 Thoroughbred flat racing

Thoroughbred racing is largely subdivided into two forms known as flat and jump racing (i.e., National Hunt racing in the United Kingdom, steeplechasing in the USA). This thesis will exclusively focus on flat racing. Flat races are usually held on oval tracks deprived of obstacles (i.e., hurdles or fences), where typical distance varies between 1000 - 4400m. Largely of similar nature across all nations, some differences are found in terms of flat racing rules, regulations (i.e., the use of the whip by the jockey) and race-day conditions (i.e., distance and track type).

1.3.1 Race distance and tracks

In Australia, flat races are mainly run on turf surfaces (i.e., grass) over distances of 800 - 3375m. For instance in Victoria, during the 2016/2017 racing season (1 August 2016 - 31 July

2017), 91.6% of the flat race starts were conducted on turf, with the remainder performed on synthetic tracks (Racing Victoria, 2017). In the United Kingdom and France, with the racing season running from March to November, common flat race distances range between 1000 - 4400m and occur on turf tracks. However, during the colder and wetter months of winter, then it is frequent to leverage all-weather tracks (i.e. a mixture of sand/fibre/binder) (Turner et al., 2002, McCrory et al., 2006).

Five race distance categories have been established by the IFHA: **Sprint** (5-6.5 furlongs (f), \leq 1,300 m) **Mile** (6.51-9.49 f, 1,301-1,900m) **Intermediate** (9.5-10.5 f, 1,901-2,112m) **Long** (10.51-13.5 f, 2,114-2,716 m) **Extended** (> 13.51 f, > 2,717m) races (IFHA, 2022).

Note that one furlong equals 200 meters. Horses that compete in these races are commonly referred to as 'sprinters' (<6 furlongs; 1200m), 'middle distance' or 'milers' (7–8 f; 1400-1600m) or 'stayers' (>8 f; >1600m).

1.3.2 Race categories

In Australia, flat racing encompasses various categories of races. The classification system is designed to group horses of similar abilities, allowing for fair and competitive racing. In some circumstances (i.e., condition races), a racehorse's eligibility to enter a race will depend on its performance level (i.e., number of wins), sex, age, prize money won, etc. The common flat racing categories found in Australia are described below (Morrice-West et al., 2021).

Group and Listed races

Group races, also called 'Stakes' races, are at the top echelon of races. Considered the highest level attainable in Australia, such meetings attract only elite horses. To be entered in such races, horses must accumulate a certain level of winnings. These prestigious meetings include classic races (e.g., Coxe Plate and Golden Slipper) and those of major international importance (e.g., the Melbourne Cup). The prize money offered is often significant, with a starting minimum of \$250,000. Group 2 races, the next tier below Group 1, still feature high-quality competition. While the prize money is slightly lower (i.e., at least \$125,000 per race) than in Group 1 races, these events are also prestigious (e.g., Makybe Diva Stakes and the AAMI Vase) as they attract quality horses. Group 3 races, the third tier, offer competitive fields and decent prize money (i.e., a minimum of \$75,000). They are essentially domestic races, with examples

including the Victoria Handicap and the Caulfield Guineas Prelude. Listed races are just below Group level in terms of prestige and prize money (i.e., \$50,000 per race). They offer horses the chance to improve and develop their racing before entering the higher-level events. Examples include the Winterbottom Stakes and the Blue Diamond Prelude.

Maiden and Class 1 races

These races are for starters that have not previously won a race and have not won more than one race respectively. With different races applied to different age groups, this category carries the lowest prize money and provides opportunities for less experienced horses to break their maiden status.

Class 2-5 races

These races target starters that have won no more than the respective number of races.

Restricted races

Such events include both Benchmark and Handicap, that is, races in which horses are assigned weights based on their rating. Benchmark races are classified based on a horse's benchmark rating, which reflects its recent performance. Horses compete against others with similar benchmark ratings, ensuring more evenly matched fields. Handicap races require horses to carry a weight determined by their previous performances in other races. Horses are instructed to carry different weights based upon their ability and race performance history, with the aim of equalising the chances of all horses. The amount of weight horses carry is predetermined by specialists referred to as 'handicappers' (Langlois, 1980, Bokor et al., 2006). On race day, the handicapper or racing steward allocates a specific weight to each jockey for a particular race in comparison to its opponents. To supplement the combined weight of the jockey and saddle up to the assigned weight (referred to the 'impost'), lead weights are placed in the pockets of the saddle pad (referred to lead pads). A better-performing horse will carry a heavier weight, to give it a disadvantage when racing against slower competitors. During handicap race betting, the skill lies in predicting which horse can overcome its handicap. Most handicap races are run for older, less valuable horses. However, some famous meetings are handicap races with examples of the Grand National steeplechase (UK) and the Melbourne Cup (Australia). Open handicap races welcome horses of various ages and abilities, and the weights are assigned to level the playing field. Quality handicaps are similar but are restricted to horses of a certain quality or rating. The weights are assigned based on a horse's handicap rating.

Open races

Open races impose no special conditions or restrictions.

Altogether, understanding the categories that revolve around flat racing in Australia is crucial for participants, punters, and racing enthusiasts to appreciate the level of competition and make informed decisions both on and off the track. The classification also system ensures that horses of similar abilities compete against each other, making races more thrilling and fairer.

1.4 The training environment

Racehorse exercise sessions occur in a controlled and safe environment of purpose-built tracks, commonly referred to as 'gallops'. Usually between 3-4 metres wide, they are designed to ensure sufficient distance for both the initial warm-up and final pull-up (i.e the last phase of cooling down and bringing the horse to a complete stop after a workout) of horses during exercise. Track layouts may vary including oval, circular, or irregular shapes. However, the most common shape is an oval. The bends (i.e left/anti-clockwise or right-handed/clockwise direction), straightaways and inclination will be different from one training ground to another. Each track presents its own unique characteristics and understanding these features is essential for all those gravitating around the racehorse athlete.

1.4.1 Track surfaces

Various surfaces compose racetracks, each with their own characteristics that can significantly affect the performance of horses. The main types of racetrack surfaces include dirt, turf, synthetic and sand. The choice of surface depends on factors such as climate, location, and the preferences of racing authorities.

Dirt tracks are commonly used in the United States and consist of a mixture of sand, clay, and soil. They are often treated with additives to improve both stability and drainage and provide a loose surface that becomes compact over time. Their offer a cushioning effect reducing impact on racehorses' limbs while remaining weather dependent (i.e., muddy with rain, dusty when dry).

Turf tracks are made of grass and are commonly used in Europe, Asia, and some parts of the United States. Turf racing is often associated with long distance races and is favoured by horses with a preference for grass surfaces. Turf tracks are generally firmer than dirt tracks, providing a consistent and stable surface. The disadvantage of turf tracks lies in the slow

draining of the ground. Grass provides a softer surface, reducing the impact of racehorse running forces, which can be beneficial for horses' joints.

Also known as all-weather tracks, synthetic tracks are artificial surfaces designed to provide a consistent and stable surface, good drainage properties and resist to extreme weather conditions. Made from artificial materials such as polytrack, or other proprietary blends (e.g., wax or polymeric binder on a hard porous base), they replicate the properties of natural surfaces (e.g dirt and turf), providing a reliable racing surface that can withstand heavy rain or dry spells.

Some racetracks use sand tracks, consisting of a mixture of sand and other materials. Manmade sand tracks tend to be composed of pure sand over a non-porous base, to offer drainage and cushioning. When used in training, they provide a soft and 'forgiving' surface for conditioning work. In Australia for example, location dependent, it is not uncommon for trainers to exercise their horses on the beach on firm or soft sand (Morrice-West et al., 2018). Sand tracks are less common in major racing circuits but may be found in certain regions where other surfaces are not practical due to climate or cost considerations.

Thus, appropriate track surface and condition are fundamental aspects of the daily decisionmaking of any trainer prior to racehorse routine workouts. Influenced by weather and maintenance, tracks can be fast, firm, slow, or muddy, impacting the speed and performance of horses. The choice of suitable surface for the training of any individual horse will largely depend on the maximal speed targeted by the trainer. However, training programs are rarely restricted to a single type of track, but rather a combination of two or three (e.g., sand, turf, or wood pellets/all-weather).

When leveraged appropriately, such surfaces can be maximised to build racehorse fitness and reproduce race-day conditions. Morrice-West et al. (2018) in their survey, interviewed 66 registered trainers in Victoria, Australia. The results of their study showed that track surfaces were variable from one trainer to another, with the most common surfaces including turf (grass), sand, synthetic or dirt. The study outlined that for slow-workouts, 97% of trainers used sand while 36% preferred synthetic surfaces. For fast workouts, 82% of the trainers directed gallop training on turf tracks compared to 58% on synthetic. Evidence showed that 90% of trainers also integrated alternatives to flat ridden exercise such as treadmill and swimming.

That same study described that 80% of the trainers adopted turf surfaces, with only 34% accounting for gallop exercise. The reasons behind this observation included 1) limited access

24

or availability of turf tracks, 2) synthetic surfaces being more practicable in wet conditions 3) sand tracks providing less concussion 4) synthetic surfaces being too compact (Morrice-West et al., 2018). The use of track surfaces contrasts greatly with what has been described in the United Kingdom by Verheyen et al. (2006a). The study assessed the risk of tibial and pelvic fractures in horses and found that 81% of individuals completed a minimum of 70% of their high-speed work on turf or peat-moss soil tracks. 36% of trainers surveyed in Victoria raced their horses on surfaces they were exposed to in training (i.e., sand or turf) (Morrice-West et al., 2018). While a proportion of 34% of trainers did the opposite by using a specific surface only for an occasional gallop (i.e., pre-race trial) or exposed their horses to a new or different surface on race-day. This can occur when certain training facilities restrict easy access to turf tracks for gallops, thus making the tracks exclusively accessible to given horses participating in planned races that same week. This aligns with the findings of Morrice-West et al. (2018), whereby 29% of trainers declared no prior exposure to the surface used on race day for their horses, or only occasionally, in context of a preparatory gallop or trial.

1.4.2 Ground condition

The track rating (AUS), also referred to the 'going' (UK) or track condition (USA), has the potential to significantly alter and influence racehorse performance. Reflecting either the firmness or softness of a track, the track rating plays a crucial role in determining how horses will perform. Often described as "fast," "good," "firm," "soft," or "heavy" it can be measured by means of a penetrometer, an iron rod instrument with a one-kilogram shell-shaped point. The instrument, used by racing stewards, is dropped from a specific height (i.e usually 1 meter), and measures the depth (i.e in centimetres) it reaches upon penetration. Ground measurement involves three consecutive impacts at ten designated locations on the track, typically 2 to 3 meters apart. The collected data provides an average numerical value, typically measured in newtons (N), with an established range from 2.2 to 6 or higher. Measurements are conducted the day before racing and on race-day to inform a report that publishes the track rating for punters and trainers. Racing authorities may use various methods to assess and communicate the condition of the track, including penetrometer readings, visual inspections, and reports from jockeys. The track rating may evolve throughout a racing event, especially with precipitation or significant weather variations. Racecourse stewards monitor tracks and signal any improvements or deterioration with a siren for on-course punters. While broadcasters and betting agencies relay the information to punters of any track rating changes. Race-callers also announce any track rating changes before the next race.

Racing Victoria, one of the racing jurisdictions in Australia, suggests the following track rating benchmarks as a reference guide (Racing Victoria, 2022):

1-2 firm: a firm track is hard but not excessively dry or abrasive, thus doesn't cause excessive wear or discomfort to the horses. Additionally, a firm track typically has less 'give' in the ground compared to softer tracks and therefore may be less forgiving in terms of cushioning and shock absorption.

3-4 good: a good track is slightly softer and balances firmness and cushioning. Horses generally perform well on good tracks. A good track rating is usually considered the optimum surface to race on, as it provided the safest and fairest racing conditions for the majority of horses.

5-7 soft: a soft track shows more flexibility in the ground. It often results from recent rainfall or irrigation. Horses that handle softer surfaces well may have an advantage in soft conditions.
8-10 heavy: a heavy track is wet, thus contains a significant amount of water. Resulting from prolonged rain or poor drainage, a heavy track can be physically demanding, thus may tire horses more quickly.

The track rating is an important consideration for trainers, jockeys, and punters as horses have unique preferences for specific track conditions: some will perform better on firmer surfaces, while others will excel on softer ones. Therefore, trainers include the track rating in their decision-making for race entries to select events that are best aligned with their horse's preferred track conditions.

Racehorse performance is further influenced by surface-related factors including maintenance, temperature, moisture and hardness (Peterson et al., 2010, Peterson and McIlwraith, 2008). As a result, the track rating may significantly impact race times, with firm ground delivering the best race times. The suitability of a horse to a particular sort of going can be explained by its conformation or locomotion (i.e. speed) (Marlin and Nankervis, 2013). For example, a horse showing a pronounced upright forelimb conformation may be more likely to suffer concussion-related injuries on firm ground, while a horse with a higher, rounder action may have a race advantage on soft ground.

1.4.3 Racetrack surface and relevance to injuries

Thoroughbred races predominantly take place on turf in Europe, South Africa, Australasia, and South America, whereas dirt racetracks are more commonly found in North America, Japan and the Middle East. Regardless of the type of racing ground, racetrack surface was shown to alter limb loading, hoof acceleration and ground reaction forces of horses (Chateau et al., 2009, Setterbo et al., 2009). Track surface properties may therefore lead to the development of bone fatigue injuries (MacKinnon et al., 2015). Hard tracks, particularly firm surfaces, offer reduced cushioning effect, which may increase the risk of racing injuries (Oikawa and Kusunose, 2005).

Publications on safety considerations related to racetrack surface remain somewhat contradictory. Work by Hernandez et al. (2001) explored the association between race-start characteristics and catastrophic MSI injuries in Thoroughbred racehorses in Florida, USA. The findings showed that incidence of injury was significantly higher during turf races (2.3/1,000 starts) compared to dirt races (0.9/1,000 starts). While a case-control study in New York evidenced that horses racing on turf tracks had a lower risk of MSI compared to dirt (Mohammed et al., 1991). More recently, a five-year cohort study (2009–2013) in North America including all flat racing starts, deducted that horses racing on a dirt surface were at a higher risk of fatality, compared to horses racing on turf or all-weather surfaces (Georgopoulos and Parkin, 2017).

During training, then a correlation was identified between gallops on turf and lower odds of lateral condylar third metacarpal/metatarsal fracture has previously been evidenced (Parkin et al., 2005). All-weather, synthetic training tracks have proven to associate with increased risk of pelvic and tibial stress fractures compared to both turf (Verheyen et al., 2006a) and dirt surfaces (MacKinnon et al., 2015). In another study, gallop work conducted on both sand and dirt surfaces lead to a higher risk of catastrophic MSI compared to turf-tracks (MacKinnon et al., 2015, Parkin et al., 2004a). When the same type of surface is found at two different racetracks, the performance on that surface may vary significantly, because of the influence of factors such as maintenance, temperature, moisture, and hardness (Peterson et al., 2010, Ratzlaff et al., 1985, Peterson and McIlwraith, 2008). The North American horseracing industry has witnessed a surge in the recent years of synthetic tracks, as it was believed that overall, they were safer and similar to turf (Clarke, 2009). The shift of trainers from dirt to synthetic track surfaces, led to speculation that hindlimb lameness and tibial stress fractures became more prevalent (Arthur, 2010). Dimock et al. (2010) demonstrated a change in the distribution of humeral stress remodelling lesions to the distal cranial aspect, rather than the proximal caudal aspect, following a transition from dirt to synthetic tracks. Other, less evident aspects contributing to MSI during racing and training include horse (age, sex, return to training following rehabilitation, specific shoes and previous injury), trainer (work regimens), racetrack (surface, maintenance, temperature, moisture, hardness, racing class and race length) and jockey-related (experience) factors (Verheyen and Wood, 2004, Carrier et al., 1998, Verheyen et al., 2006a, Parkin, 2011, Peterson and McIlwraith, 2008).

Nonetheless, the impact of both training and track surfaces has consistently been proposed as more influential in causing injuries compared to other factors, although there is limited research on this topic (Verheyen and Wood, 2004, Verheyen et al., 2006a, Parkin et al., 2004b). Both aspects of racehorse management are considered modifiable risk factors (Georgopoulos and Parkin, 2017). The adoption of alternative training approaches has become widespread in Australia and may also contribute to lowering the risk of injury. Both treadmill and swimming training methods specifically target reducing the cumulative load from ridden exercise while simultaneously improving cardiovascular fitness and oxidative muscle capacity (Misumi et al., 1994, Misumi et al., 1995). The evidence on high-speed treadmill exercise supports adaptive bone modelling and shows a positive correlation with enhanced racing performance when compared to horses exercising on the ground (Kobluk et al., 1996). In the context of swimming, the intensity of exertion was described as similar to that of a fast trot or slow canter rather than gallop, resulting in reduced stress on the skeletal system, offering a less adaptive loading (Murakami et al., 1976). There is limited research on the relationship between walking distance and injury occurrence. However, Bolwell et al. (2012) demonstrated that an increase in time spent on mechanical walkers resulted in a higher risk of involuntary interruptions to training (including MSI and dorsal metacarpal disease).

1.5 Training practices

Racehorses undergo daily training in cohorts organised by age, experience, and fitness level. A horse in full race training would typically engage in slow workouts at canter pace 6 days per week and perform high-speed or 'breeze' workouts at gallop pace 2-3 times a week, depending on its racing schedule. Thoroughbreds initiate their training at the age of one, focusing primarily on canter work to promote physical development. The race preparation phase spans from the yearling sales in October of the horse's first year until a few months into their second year. Thoroughbreds are universally considered one year older on the first day of January each year in the Northern Hemisphere (or first day of August in the Southern Hemisphere). This practice is intended to align with the breeding season, aiming to produce foals as early as possible in the year to ensure physical maturity before entering the racetrack as 2-year-olds. Following the completion of their foundational training and adequate exposure to starting stalls, Thoroughbreds begin racing at the age of two.

Training programs vary among different yards, but they all have a shared objective: to optimise and develop specific physiological capabilities necessary for a particular type of exercise, with

28

the ultimate goal of winning races (Bayly, 1985). Whether focused on long-distance or short distance horseracing, the physiological demands differ significantly.

Exercise programs generally aim to achieve four key objectives:

- (1) Increase stamina/endurance
- (2) Increase speed
- (3) Increase muscular strength
- (4) Delay the onset of fatigue due to exercise (Marlin and Nankervis, 2013)

Racehorse training stands apart from other equestrian sports (e.g. endurance, eventing, show jumping, dressage, reining etc) due to variations in energy demands, biomechanical function, thermoregulation, and training strategies, particularly in terms of aerobic energy utilisation. Each exercise session is customised by the trainer to consider factors such as the optimal age to initiate training, the specificity of workouts (e.g. speed versus stamina), the selection of horses and the progression of individual racehorse fitness (Hodgson and Rose, 1994).

Racehorses require substantial energy for both efficient gait and high-speed sprinting. This energy is derived from two distinct metabolic pathways: aerobic and anaerobic. The utilisation of such pathways contributes to the horse's explosive power and stamina (Williams, 2015). These pathways differ in terms of the availability of oxygen and the efficiency of energy production.

The aerobic pathway relies on oxygen to break down nutrients, primarily fatty acids and carbohydrates, to produce energy in the form of adenosine triphosphate (ATP). In racehorses, the aerobic pathway is primarily responsible for providing sustained energy during moderateintensity exercise, such as long-distance gallops and endurance rides. During aerobic metabolism, fatty acids are broken down in the mitochondria of muscle cells through a process called beta-oxidation, while carbohydrates are metabolized through glycolysis and the citric acid cycle. The aerobic pathway yields a large amount of ATP per molecule of nutrient, making it an efficient energy source for prolonged activities.

While the anaerobic pathway operates in the absence of sufficient oxygen and is utilised during high-intensity, short-duration efforts, such as sprints or intense bursts of speed. In racehorses, the anaerobic pathway primarily relies on the rapid breakdown of stored carbohydrates (glycogen) in muscle cells to produce energy. Anaerobic metabolism involves glycolysis, where glucose is converted into pyruvate in the cytoplasm of cells, followed by the conversion of pyruvate into lactate or lactic acid. While the anaerobic pathway produces ATP quickly, it is

less efficient than aerobic metabolism and generates lactate as a byproduct. Accumulation of lactic acid in muscles leads to difficulties in sustaining physical exertion, commonly referred to muscular fatigue or 'heaviness' in human physiology (Sahlin, 1986). The ability to maintain high-intensity exercise is thus associated with the capacity to either prevent the production of lactic acid or enhance its metabolism to minimise accumulation.

1.5.1 Continuous versus interval training

Various training models offer guidance to trainers for conditioning their horses for specific disciplines, such as flat racing, and optimising performance in particular events including short and long-distance flat racing. The racing industry primarily employs two main training protocols: continuous training (CT) and interval training. These protocols differ in intensity, duration, and frequency, with the resulting "training effect" arising from a combination of these factors (Bayly, 1985).

Continuous training (CT), the traditional form of training, involves prolonged workouts at low intensity or submaximal speed. Often associated with "endurance training", CT is implemented during the preparatory period of an equine athlete to enhance fitness and stimulate metabolic, cardiovascular, and musculoskeletal adaptations. The goal of CT is to improve the horse's aerobic capacity, measured as cardiorespiratory fitness by VO₂max. VO₂max (ml/min/kg) represents the optimal rate at which heart, lungs and muscles can efficiently use oxygen during exercise. The intensity and duration of CT vary day-to-day, that is, ranging from walking or galloping over longer distances than races to completing a single fast gallop or "breeze" at or above racing speed over a shorter distance than that of race-day. This variety aims to develop or enhance the horse's anaerobic capacity (Bayly, 1985).

Advancements in human sports physiology have gradually introduced interval training (IT) to equine conditioning (Derman and Noakes, 1994). IT entails exercise sessions with alternating segments of high intensity and periods of recovery at slower speeds. Previous research indicates that short recovery periods (i.e. less than 2 minutes) enhance oxidative recovery within the muscles (Eto et al., 2004a). The advantage of IT lies in enabling athletes to perform multiple bouts of strenuous exercise at a specific intensity and cumulative time, unlike CT, which may lead to a quicker onset of fatigue. The primary goal of IT is to enhance both aerobic and anaerobic performance, benefiting cardiorespiratory, muscular, and metabolic functions. Anaerobic capacity is defined by the total energy output from anaerobic (without oxygen) systems, combining ATP, phospho-creatine, and lactic acid systems. Additionally, Stover (2003) found evidence that breeze work, a short high speed gallop, possibly better prepares

racehorses for the skeletal stresses involved in racing. However, few studies have compared Thoroughbred fitness following IT with other training types (Knight et al., 1991). In conclusion, both IT and CT contribute to equine fitness, provided both approaches are conducted at the same workload, considering fewer galloping strides for CT (Bronsart et al., 2009).

1.5.2 Example of training model

Thoroughbred trainers tailor their exercise routines to enhance both racehorse endurance and speed, focusing on the appropriate utilisation of aerobic and anaerobic energy pathways. Derman and Noakes (1994) proposed one of the first training models that incorporates the following three phases, a framework still widely adopted by Thoroughbred trainers globally.

Phase 1: Endurance training

This initial phase, spanning several weeks, involves workouts at slow speeds (i.e. trot 14-25km/h (Starke et al., 2013), canter ~40 km/h (Verheyen et al., 2006b)) over varying long distances, depending on individual trainer preferences. In Australia, this slow-speed training spans 4-5 weeks, with horses trotting and cantering over 3-5km on a typical training day, followed by faster work at speeds of 20 seconds per furlong. Early training preparation for 2year-olds in Australia is a sensitive topic, as prolonged exercise distances over short periods of time correlated to the increased risk of developing joint pathologies such as dorsalmetacarpal disease (Verheyen et al., 2005). Most Thoroughbreds then typically canter over 10km at about 30km/h in one bout, six days a week, following a suitable 3- to 5-month pretraining and adaptation period. Balancing adaptive advantages and the financial cost of prolonged training duration is crucial. In hot and humid environments, endurance training is divided into 10- to 15-minute sessions to mitigate the risk of exhaustion from hyperthermia or heat stroke.

Slow-speed training usually also includes a phase at a faster speed to provoke physiological adaptations in the racehorse. The duration and intensity of this approach vary based on the trainer, horse, track and climate. Prolonged exercise at such speeds, with gradual intensity increases every few weeks, is likely the most physiologically appropriate. Endurance training triggers a rapid increase in maximal oxygen consumption (VO₂max) within the initial weeks, along with improvements in maximal aerobic capacity. During this period, bone strength and soft tissues also develop in the racehorse's limbs, although the optimal duration or intensity of exercise for adaptive responses in bone or soft tissue remains unknown.

Trainers employ various methods for racehorse endurance training, including treadmill exercise at trot and canter, jogging behind trucks or swimming. However, sufficient ridden work is essential to shape the horse's behaviour and physical adaptations. For instance, a 14-week treadmill program has shown effects on the third metacarpus bone quality in 13- to 14-month-old Thoroughbred horses (McCarthy and Jeffcott, 1992), indicating adaptive responses in the cortices of the metacarpal bones compared to unexercised controls (i.e. increased subcortical bone, bone mineral content and bone stiffness). The "overload" principle supports optimal bone adaptation, emphasizing a gradual increase in the training stimulus every 2 to 3 weeks to allow for adaptation before introducing further stress. Common issues like bucked shins and periodic inappetence are often associated with Thoroughbred training and may result from a rapid increase in training intensity, causing stress without sufficient time for necessary adaptation.

Phase 2: Combined aerobic and anaerobic training.

This phase involves training at 70-80% of the racehorse's maximal speed (i.e. a gallop up to ~60km/h (Verheyen et al., 2006b)). During this phase, there is an accumulation of lactate in both the muscles and blood of racehorses, as muscle cells employ anaerobic glycolysis to promptly supply ATP in response to the need for energy. Exercise at speeds generating high blood lactate concentrations (i.e., 5-20 millimoles per Liter; mmol/L), values comparable to those observed after racing, cannot be sustained for extended periods or reproduced daily. Frequent attempts to replicate such exercise can lead to various states of overtraining including lameness, weight loss, inappetence, loss of interest in racing and/or poor performance (Morrice-West et al., 2020). However, this training is essential for initiating muscular adaptations, enhancing the capacity for anaerobic ATP resynthesis, and likely increasing the percentage of type II fibres and enzyme concentrations involved in anaerobic metabolism.

Australian racehorse trainers employ a strategy of alternating between slow and fast workouts. Slow workouts entail horses exercising over 5.5km at speeds ranging from 14-25km/h, corresponding to trot and slow canter. Fast workouts are conducted at velocities of 43-57km/h over 1-2km after a warmup of approximately 1km. Training strategies aim to increase the volume and intensity of exercise to stimulate anaerobic glycolysis while avoiding fatigue and overtraining. Some training sessions may include increased training distance or frequency, as well as the use of terrain inclination at 5-10% (e.g., a hill or treadmill). Many horses in Australia train on distances shorter than those during races. The assumption is that Thoroughbreds can successfully perform at top speeds over 1km at least once a day for five days per week, in addition to daily treadmill exercise. Treadmill exercise typically involves 1.6km of trot and slow canter, with 3-minute rest periods, followed by a fast canter workout over 1.2 - 1.6km (blood lactate concentrations of about 4 mmol/L).

Phase 3: Anaerobic training

In horseracing, achieving peak speed requires significant acceleration, regardless of the race distance (Hodgson, 2014). Traditionally, the training of Thoroughbreds has given minimal attention to aspects of speed and acceleration. The majority of high-speed exercise follows workouts at submaximal speeds. For instance, horses may cover distances of 600-1600m at 14-16 seconds per furlong and then gallop over 200-600m at 95%-100% of their peak speed. Employing 'interval-training' techniques, which may include even shorter sprints lasting around 40-45 seconds duration, is considered most effective for improving anaerobic capacity and lactate threshold. Trainers gradually increase the number of these intervals every 2 to 3 weeks, with intensive training days limited to two sessions per week.

1.5.3 Alternative approaches to track work

Many trainers have incorporated alternative approaches to traditional ridden track work into their exercise programs. Land treadmills, for instance, offer a consistent and firm surface for the exercising horse, eliminating the constraint of the rider's weight. This setup allows the trainer to control climatic conditions and the speed of the workout effectively (Kobluk et al., 1996, Harkins and Kamerling, 1991). Swimming is another modality that can be integrated into a horse's training program. Swim training, by virtue of the buoyancy of water counteracting the effects of gravity, reduces the frequency of limb injuries associated with weight bearing forces (Misumi et al., 1994). Additionally, hill work or inclined treadmill exercises reduce the speed at which horses exercise, contributing to strengthening efforts and lowering the risk of injuries (Self et al., 2012).

In a survey conducted by Morrice-West et al. (2018) with 66 registered Thoroughbred trainers in Victoria, Australia, results indicated that swimming, followed by mechanical walkers, were the most commonly used alternative exercises. These findings align with observations by Walmsley et al. (2011), emphasizing their widespread use in Australasia. Bolwell et al. (2013) described the practices of 14 New-Zealand trainers, revealing that horses entering races complete a median of one swim per day before racing starts, with a median session of 40 minutes on mechanical walkers.

1.6 Equine exercise physiology

Exercise physiology encompasses the study of all systems within an individual including cells, tissues, organs and whole systems, involved in exercise (Marlin and Nankervis, 2013). These have been explored in various athletic species including humans, dogs and camels. Among

mammals, horses and specific canine breeds (i.e greyhounds) present evolved superior athletic capabilities (Poole and Erickson, 2011, Derman and Noakes, 1994).

1.6.1 Exercise testing

Exercise testing is a method that evaluates the physiological and biomechanical responses to exercise, as well as the physical ability of an individual, typically during a standardised exercise or benchmark test (Galik, 2013). Two forms of exercise testing can be performed for any athlete: clinical exercise testing and performance exercise testing. In horses, clinical exercise testing allows veterinarians to assess vital organ function, particularly the cardiorespiratory system, and make corresponding diagnostic evaluations (Hinchcliff et al., 2013). Performance testing, on the other hand, assesses both the fitness and performance of athletes. On the rise in the equine racing industry, these tests are usually conducted in apparently healthy horses and aim to guide trainers in evaluating fitness and refining training programs. In elite human athletes, continuous performance testing aims to optimize training program design, mitigate injury or illness risks, extend career longevity, and enhance overall sports performance (Newton et al., 2008).

The motivations behind applying performance testing for racehorse trainers are diverse and include:

- (1) Comparing horses within a cohort for performance prediction.
- (2) Monitoring individual horses over time to assess responses to training.
- (3) Verifying the effectiveness of a set training program in preparing the horse for racing.

Studies have identified that certain routine training programs in racehorses and eventers may 'overprepare' the horse for racing or competition (Serrano et al., 2002, Kingston et al., 2006), potentially leading to injuries (Evans, 2007b).

1.6.1.1 Treadmill versus track testing

Exercise testing can take place in various settings, either to assess fitness or to identify underlying clinical pathologies. In human athletes, exercise testing is commonly conducted in controlled environments, such as a laboratory, treadmill or on an ergometer machine resembling an indoor fitness bike. These controlled settings facilitate the comparison of a broader range of physiological parameters, allowing for referencing against previous benchmark tests conducted in the same environment. Outdoor testing can also be conducted on specific training tracks and typically involves equipment such as a backpack with an integrated, connected mobile device. The use of different settings offers unique advantages and disadvantages, which will be further discussed (Barker and Armstrong, 2011).

1.6.2 Introduction of physiological tracking devices to racehorse training

In the past three decades, advancements in high-speed land treadmills and techniques for recording physiological function during exercise have significantly enhanced the study of equine exercise physiology. The first equine treadmill, developed in the 1960s to study Swedish trotter horses, marked a significant milestone (Hodgson and Rose, 1994). Since then, the popularity and use of high-speed treadmills has grown among veterinary research institutions and other equine training settings (Nankervis et al., 2017). Treadmill research has expanded the understanding of physiological responses to exercise, encompassing cardiovascular, respiratory, metabolic, thermoregulatory, hematologic, and hormonal functions at various distances and intensities (Hodgson and Rose, 1994). From a practical perspective, measurements including arterial blood gases, blood lactate concentrations and heart rate obtained different sub maximal treadmill speeds offer insights into training responses.

Land treadmills provide a controlled environment for precise measurement of various physiological variables during specific exercise protocols. The controlled setting allows for the repetition and reproducibility of speeds and durations for each exercise step. Easy access to horses during and after exercise facilitates cardiorespiratory measurements and blood collections. However, treadmills present limitations in contextualising racing conditions and require prior acclimatisation of the horse to the treadmill and environment. Treadmills also reproduce an artificial and mechanical setting, thus lack elements pertaining to air movement, ground surface variations (i.e. grass or dirt), momentum and the impact of the rider (Hodgson and Rose, 1994). Therefore, treadmill work cannot be precisely extrapolated to outdoor track work or race conditions.

Persson (1967) developed the first standardised exercise protocol for assessing exercise capacity in horses, incorporating measurements of heart rate, oxygen uptake, blood lactate levels and total red cell volume. This study, conducted on Swedish trotter horses in both track and treadmill conditions, laid the groundwork for subsequent research analysing cardiovascular responses during treadmill exercise tests. Two standard protocols emerged, one utilising an incremental velocity test and the other focusing on a single step exercise test (Evans, 2007a). These protocols have widely been adopted for evaluating exercise programs in Thoroughbred and Standardbred racehorses. Initially designed for endurance horses, these tests aimed to optimise training regimens for peak performance in races (Fraipont et al., 2012).

35
Subsequently, physiological responses such as HR on both track and treadmill were studied, standardised and associated with specific equine disciplines (Navas de Solis, 2019). The measurement of standard variables such as HR and blood lactate concentration at various submaximal treadmill speeds allows for the identification of training responses and the calculation of derived values such as the speed at a HR of 200 beats per min (V200) and the speed at a blood lactate concentration of 4 mmol/l (V). While variables like stride length and stride frequency can be extrapolated, their correlation with training and performance remains unexplored (Couroucé, 1999).

In the early 1980s, the introduction of human radio telemetric heart rate monitors and portable lactate analysers validated their suitability for exercise testing in human athletes (Foster et al., 2017, Larsson, 2003). These portable devices rapidly found applications across various equine disciplines, providing insights into exercise capacity and track conditions (Fraipont et al., 2012, Hodgson, 2014).

In recent years, significant technological advancements have led to increased availability of portable diagnostic equipment for assessing athletic performance. Vermeulen and Evans (2006) emphasized that parameters such as heart rate (HR) and real-time velocity offer a method for routine fitness studies in the field. Alongside the proliferation of portable diagnostic equipment, field investigations offer the primary advantage of reflecting the natural environment and daily exercise routine of the horse. Surface variations, gaits and speeds closely mimic the demands of the sport, enabling the evaluation of jockey interaction and track modifications. Field tests also provide cost advantages over treadmill tests and do not disrupt routine training schedules, contributing to greater owner acceptance. However, the main limitation of field tests is the challenge of standardising conditions (e.g., track going, surrounding environment), which may introduce potential confounding factors that could bias interpretation.

Traditionally, trainers assess the physical condition and readiness of their horses on the track through a combination of visual observation, feel, rider feedback and expertise (De Maré et al., 2017). However, this subjective monitoring approach may reveal inconsistencies and lacks objectivity. With the evolution of the equine industry and ongoing scientific research, there has been a transformative shift in the training and health management of equine athletes. Traditional practices, rooted in tradition, experience and rider feedback (Ely et al., 2010), are now gradually being supplemented with scientifically proven, objective measures across various equine disciplines (Bitschnau et al., 2010, Rogers and Firth, 2004, Williams, 2013). The introduction of the Kruuse Televet 100 system marked a significant milestone as the first commercially available device capable of recording electrocardiogram (ECG) parameters during field testing (Fraipont et al., 2012, Hodgson, 2014). This system required an additional

36

Introduction and Literature Review

Global Positioning System (GPS) for recording speed and distance travelled. Lactate analysers also emerged as a simple method to investigate the effects of different exercise intensities and the training response in equine athletes. Evans et al. (1993) demonstrated the correlation between blood lactate concentrations and Thoroughbred performance quality. Subsequently, devices with integrated GPS, such as the Polar Equine system, replaced traditional stopwatches. Validation studies, albeit relatively small (n=10 horses), confirmed their utility in measuring speed during training (Kingston et al., 2006, Williams et al., 2019). Several equine studies provided satisfactory evidence of their usefulness in assessing fitness (Kingston et al., 2006) and performance (Gramkow and Evans, 2006) based on the linear relationship between heart rate and exercise intensity (Fonseca et al., 2010). Ille et al. (2014) affirmed the appropriateness of combining both systems for accurate recording measures in horses. Most of these HR devices offer storage mechanisms (with the capacity to review the effect of training on heart rate after exercise), transmission capabilities (i.e. telemetry from the monitor to a recorder or screen), records of distance travelled, practical designs (e.g. wristwatches) and effective application to the horse through electrodes placed over the withers and ventral midline under the girth, utilising electrode gel or concentrated saltwater solution to improve electrical transmission of heart rate signals.

The below table by Kee et al. (2023) provides an overview of the commercially available technologies for racehorses and their reported capabilities (Table 1).

Devices	Cardiovascular biometrics			Respiratory biometrics		Thermometry	Locomotor profile		Movement tracking		Device features								
	HR ^c (bpm)	HRV ^d	ECG ^e	Heart sounds	Respiration frequency	Blood oxygen saturation	Lung sounds	Body temperature	Stride length	Stride frequency	Sectional times	GPS ^f	Accelero- meter	Wearable	Wireless	Real-time measure- ments	Remote monitoring	Scientifically validated	Battery life
E-Trakka	1				ð.			a	1		1	1	1	1	1	1	1	√g,h,i,j,k	10 h
EKuore 1-lead digital cardiac monitor	1	1	1													1	û	ſ	Not stated
Equimetre by Arioneo	1	1	1						1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	√ g,h,i,j,k	20 h
Equinity by Equinity Technology	1								1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	∕€.h.i.j.k	16h
Motion sport by Equisense	1								1	1		1	1	1	1	√ ^b			30h
Nightwatch	1				1							1	1	1	1	1	1		12h
Smart Bit by Equine Smart Bit	1				1	1		1					1	1	1	1	1		40h
Stridemaster									1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	√g,h,i,j,k	Not stated
Tail Tab by Epona Biotec								V						1	1	1	√ ^a		480h
/etCheq by PonyUp Technologies	1				1									1	1		û		Not stated

Wearable fitness tracking devices, validated to measure physical activity, physiological and biomechanical variables, have gradually been incorporated in horses at rest (Williams et al., 2019). Another innovative device, the 'Equimetre™' (Arioneo Ltd, Paris, France), integrates heart rate, GPS, ECG and provides additional information on heart rate variability (ter Woort et al., 2021) and locomotion. The increased availability of connected monitoring devices enhances the expertise of trainers and veterinary professionals. A more integrated interpretation of generated data allows for tailored training regimes, optimising performance while minimising injuries. These systems undeniably aid the decision-making regarding appropriate training regimes and the selection of suitable race entries.

1.7 Performance indicators

Race performance is a key factor determining a horse's value and influences decisions related to future career plans, breeding and retirement. Training methods have evolved to include quantitative assessments aimed at evaluating the athletic potential of racehorses. Physiological indicators of athletic performance include muscle fibre and enzyme activity (Ronéus et al., 1999), blood lactate concentrations, heart rate and oxygen consumption (Harkins et al., 1993, Evans, 2007a).

1.7.1 Maximal oxygen uptake

Brandon and Boileau (1992) established a correlation between VO_2 max and athletic performance, with VO_2 Max representing the maximum volume of oxygen a horse can utilise during exercise. In a laboratory setting (e.g. overground treadmill), maximal oxygen consumption is measured in horses undergoing submaximal tests using open or biased-flow systems (Bayly et al., 1987) or breath-by-breath systems (Curtis et al., 2005). Few commercialised systems are suitable for measuring high flow and respiratory rates in the field. One portable breath-by-breath gas analyser was employed for VO_2 measurement in horses exercising in the field (Art et al., 2006, Van Erck et al., 2007). However, the resistance of the mask decreased ventilation during exercise, hindering horses from reaching maximal exercise (Van Erck et al., 2007). An alternative system used by Sides et al. (2014) produced results similar to those of an open-flow system. Expressed in ml/min(/kg), horses reach VO_2 Max at their maximum speed (Harkins et al., 1993). A higher VO_2 Max varies with genetics, age, sex, training level and time of the year. Incorporating VO_2 Max into longitudinal monitoring routine provides insights into the horse's progression over time, quantifying the energetic cost of each effort.

During racing, horses surpass the speeds which VO_2 Max is reached, leading to a build-up of blood lactate. Research by Mercier and Aftalion (2020) suggests that VO_2 Max is attained within 20 to 30 seconds of a race's start. They emphasize the importance of maintaining VO_2 Max throughout the race for optimal performance, particularly during sprint starts in long races. In training, considering VO_2 Max aids in establishing race strategies. For instance, a soft canter typically requires about 50% of VO_2 Max, while galloping requires 90 to 100%, reaching up to 115% during a sprint (Bermann, 2010). The challenge for trainers lies in enhancing the speed at which VO_2 Max is reached, as trained horses exhibit lower VO_2 values for the same exercise compared to undertrained horses with higher VO_2 Max. Routine measurement of VO_2 Max in athletic horses is impractical due to the controlled environment requirement (e.g., land treadmill), making indirect measurements preferable.

1.7.2 Heart rate

Assessing HR responses in the field, depending on the equine discipline, provides valuable insights into fitness and exercise intensity. HR responses to exercise may be influenced by health status and inherited factors like breed and body conformation (Marlin and Nankervis, 2013). Horses with superior athletic capacity tend to reach HR Max at faster speeds. Comparable to findings in highly trained human endurance athletes exhibiting faster heart rate recovery (Hagberg et al., 1980), simultaneous measurement of HR and speed, such as through HR and GPS monitors, enables the calculation of variables such as the speed at which maximal HRmax is reached (VHRmax) and the speed corresponding to a heart rate of 200 beats/min (V200).

Contrary to VO_2 Max, no direct correlation has been established between VO_2 Max and HRmax, but a relationship exists between %VO₂ Max and %HR Max (Evans, 1987). In situations where VO_2 Max measurement is impractical, VHRmax serves as a useful fitness indicator correlated with VO_2 Max (Evans, 1987). Notably, horses with superior athletic capacity tend to reach HRmax at peak speeds, with studies indicator, V200, is easily measured during submaximal exercise tests, although its utility is limited to the variability in HR max among individual horses. For instance, in sport horses, V140, V170 or V180 are recommended when HR as high as 200 beats/min is not achieved, and consecutive measurements of these

VHR variables over time can evidence fitness improvement during a training regime (Vermeulen and Evans, 2006).

Traditionally, speed and HR assessments involved standardised stepwise exercise tests, allowing HR to reach a steady state at each speed. While such tests are common in treadmill settings and with Standardbred racehorses on the track, replicating them in Thoroughbred flat training poses challenges due to shorter distances. Vermeulen and Evans (2006) explored the pairing of HR and speed measurements during continuous exercise, which is more applicable and can be integrated into typical 'fast' Thoroughbred workouts. GPS measurements of speed and distance may not be ideal for confined spaces such as arenas, especially at peak speeds (Coutts and Duffield, 2010, Duffield et al., 2010).

1.7.3 Blood lactate

Blood lactate, a byproduct substance of anaerobic muscle metabolism, serves as a key indicator of a horse's aerobic and anaerobic capacity. Its measurement in field training is crucial for assessing training intensity and performance (Eto et al., 2004b). This parameter is paramount in evaluating the onset of lactate accumulation, identifying the anaerobic threshold, and measuring overall fitness in equine athletes (Williamson et al., 1996). When horses engage in high-intensity workouts or sustain maximal effort for 20–120 seconds, blood lactate levels reach the anaerobic threshold, indicating the point at which energy production becomes anaerobic (Clayton, 1991). Short-term supramaximal exercise induces intramuscular lactate production in racehorses, and the onset of fatigue, marked by a rapid rise in blood lactate post exercise (Hinchcliff et al., 2008), becomes a performance-limiting factor (Hodgson and Rose, 1994).

At rest, blood lactate levels range from 0.5 – 1 mmol/l. During exercise, the relationship between blood lactate and speed forms an exponential curve (Kronfeld et al., 1995), and deviations from this curve indicate an imbalance between lactate production and metabolism in the horse's body. This imbalance typically occurs at blood lactate concentrations of 2–4 mmol/l, with 4 mmol/l commonly designated as the onset of blood lactate or anaerobic threshold (Campbell, 2011). Peak blood lactate concentrations in horses can be significantly higher than those in human athletes, reaching values of 25–30 mmol/l in Thoroughbred horses after maximal workouts (Harris et al., 1987). Peak lactate levels are typically observed around 5 minutes after exercise due to the outward flow from muscles (Marlin, 1991).

Introduction and Literature Review

When comparing measures between a cohort or individual horses, standardising the methodology and sampling site is crucial to avoid influencing the results (Lehnhard et al., 2010). Differences exist between whole blood and plasma lactate concentrations, with plasma lactate approximately 1.5 times greater than whole blood lactate. While jugular venepuncture is the conventional method for sample collection, portable hand-held lactate, though relatively expensive, offer immediate analysis in the field (Lehnhard et al., 2010). Two approaches are commonly applied for blood lactate assessment. The first involves calculating the speed at which a lactate concentration of 4 mmol/l is reached (VLa4), providing insights into aerobic capacity and performance potential. The second approach measures lactate concentrations after a single bout of submaximal exercise or during intense exercise fatigue, serving as an indicator of anaerobic capacity (Davie and Evans, 2000, Lehnhard et al., 2010). Routine monitoring of VLa4 during a training program helps trainers assess their horses' fitness, with incremental exercise tests on both treadmills and field conditions providing valuable data (Couroucé, 1999, Lindner, 2007). The suitability of these tests depends on factors like step duration, emphasizing the importance of controlled conditions for accurate blood sampling (Lindner, 2007).

1.8 Physiological data recorded by the Equimetre fitness tracker

The table below presents an overview of the parameters analysed in the subsequent chapters of this thesis; providing a summary of data collected from the Equimetre fitness tracker (Table 2).

Table 2 Overview of racehorse speed, stride and heart rate parameters collected through the Equimetre fitness tracker

Parameter	Description	Unit	Source type
200m	Time taken to cover the distance of 0-200 meters	seconds	derived
400m	Time taken to cover the distance of 200-400 meters	seconds	derived
600m	Time taken to cover the distance of 400-600 meters	seconds	derived
800m	Time taken to cover the distance of 600-800 meters	seconds	derived
1000m	Time taken to cover the distance of 800-1000 meters	seconds	derived
1200m	Time taken to cover the distance of 1000-1200 meters	seconds	derived
1400m	Time taken to cover the distance of 1200-1400 meters	seconds	derived
Best 1000m	Fastest time recorded for covering 1000 meters	seconds	derived
Best 800m	Fastest time recorded for covering 800 meters	seconds	derived
Best 600m	Fastest time recorded for covering 600 meters	seconds	derived
Best 400m	Fastest time recorded for covering 400 meters	seconds	derived
Best 200m	Fastest time recorded for covering 200 meters	seconds	derived
Max Speed	Maximum speed recorded	km/h	derived
HR peak	Maximum heart rate recorded	BPM	derived
HRauc	Area under the curve of heart rate or overall HR	BPM	calculated
Delta HR	Rate of recovery	value	calculated
HRR	Heart rate recovery	BPM	calculated
HR at 15 min	Heart rate during recovery at 15 minutes, estimated based on a model	BPM	derived
Cardiac flexibility	The ability of the horse's cardiovascular system to quickly adjust heart rate during recovery from exercise, with higher values indicating a greater ability to return heart rate to baseline	value	n/a
Peak Stride Frequency	Highest recorded stride frequency	strides/sec	derived
Peak Stride Length	Maximum recorded stride length	meters	derived

The validity of the Equimetre for heart rate monitoring, thus ECG, was evaluated against the Televet system in 49 exercising horses and was concluded reliable including for arrythmia detection (ter Woort et al., 2021).

As far as locomotion is concerned, the company has integrated algorithms developed in the 90s by Barrey et al. (1995). There are also internal validations which the company could not

disclose to include in this thesis, for obvious intellectual property reasons. Stride information is captured by gyroscope (i.e a device that measures orientation and angular velocity) and accelerometer sensors. The stride length calculation combines data from both sensors. The tracker can provide a stride length estimate by analysing the time taken for a full stride cycle and the associated acceleration/deceleration.

Speed measurements rely on a commercially available integrated system, combining GPS (USA), GLONASS (RUS) and GALILEO (EU) constellations. This network of satellites is used to determine the precise location of the tracker and thus the horse. Speed calculation can then be deducted by tracking the horse's position on the track at regular intervals and the change in location over time. The device constructor reported a high accuracy of < 2.5 meters for distance in 50% of the trials and a high accuracy of 1.5meters @CEP (Circular Error Probable), open sky conditions for 24 hours. Thus, there is a high probability that the actual location or measurement will fall within a circle with a radius of 1.5 meters around the target or intended position, indicating the precision or reliability of the Equimetre system in determining locations or measurements.

1.9 Data collection

For the Chapters 2-5, data collection occurred retrospectively for all the available parameters, as part of the company's database. The trackers were fitted to the horses by trained stable personnel and thus, data was directly collected by users of the Equimetre (i.e riders or racehorse trainers). As the individual studies developed over time, the parameters and algorithms of the company's database were constantly upgraded and refined. Therefore, separate databases were provided for each study.

The Equimetre comprises of two fixing systems, the first is an all-in-one system. One electrode is placed under the girth, close to the heart, and the other electrode is positioned under the saddle pad. The second system consists of a strap with two electrodes, one close to the heart and the other to the right of the withers. The girth is connected to the device unit secured at the right rear of the saddle pad by a wired cable. The electrodes are positioned as previously illustrated below, by ter Woort et al. (2021) (Figure 1a).



The patented electrodes (patent number PCT/FR2017/053028) allow a sampling frequency of 500 Hz. Their design consists of large rectangles of conducting small soft rubber spikes and a foam (Figure 1b). The soft spikes at the surface of the electrode, penetrate the hair and maximise the contact surface also reducing movement over the horse's skin. While the foam collects sweat to improve overall electrode conductivity.

1.10 Statistical models

When comparing large datasets of animals retrospectively, various statistical models may be employed depending on the specific research questions and characteristics of the data. Commonly used models are briefly described below along with their main advantages and disadvantages.

Cox proportional hazards regression, or Cox regression, is a statistical method used in survival analysis to examine the association between covariates and the time until a specific event (e.g., death or disease) occurs. It allows for the incorporation of time-dependent covariates and censoring. However, interpretation can be challenging for individuals not familiar with survival analysis concepts. Assumptions such as proportional hazards need to be assessed and, if violated, may lead to biased results.

Logistic regression is another statistical model used to analyse the association between a binary outcome (e.g., alive/dead, success/failure) or categorical (e.g., disease/no disease) and one or more predictor variables, estimating the probability of the outcome. It provides interpretable odds ratios that quantify the association between predictor variables and the

outcome. However, it may not capture time-to-event data directly and may not be suitable if the outcome is not binary or categorical.

Generalised linear models adopt a more flexible approach, involving linear regression to handle non-normally distributed response variables by specifying a link function and a probability distribution. Such models can accommodate various types of outcome variables (e.g., continuous, binary, count data) by specifying different distributions and link functions. However, model selection and interpretation can be complex, particularly with large datasets and many potential predictors.

Propensity score matching method can be used to reduce selection bias in observational studies by matching treated and control subjects based on their propensity scores (i.e., the probability of receiving the treatment given covariates). It can be useful for comparing outcomes between treated and control groups in retrospective studies. However, it requires careful selection and matching of covariates, and the validity of the results depends on the adequacy of the propensity score model and the quality of the matching.

Time series analysis techniques can be used to analyse longitudinal data collected over time, such as repeated measurements on the same animals. However, such models may require a large number of observations to accurately estimate parameters, and they assume stationarity and independence of observations, which may not always hold in animal data.

Machine learning techniques like random forests, support vector machines, or deep learning can handle complex, high-dimensional data and capture nonlinear relationships between predictors and outcomes. However, such models may require a large amount of data for training and validation, and they can be computationally intensive. Interpretability may also be a concern with some machine learning models.

The choice of statistical model will depend on the specific research question, the type of outcome variable, the structure of the data (e.g., longitudinal, time-to-event), and considerations regarding model assumptions, interpretability, and computational resources. It is necessary to assess the performance of different models using measures such as predictive accuracy, goodness-of-fit statistics, and interpretability of results. Additionally, sensitivity analyses and validation techniques can help assess the robustness and generalisability of the findings.

46

1.11 Conclusions

The integration of connected technologies in equestrian disciplines mark a new turn for the monitoring of equine exercise physiology. Over the last decade, commercially available fitness trackers have been integrated in routine work across leading racing yards globally, complementing the trainers' 'eye' for racehorse health and performance management. These tools facilitate the live recording of racehorses' responses to routine exercise on the track, capturing cardiovascular (e.g., peak HR, HR recovery, ECG) and locomotory parameters (e.g., speed, stride length or frequency). The purpose is to monitor an individual racehorse's performance over time or compare multiple horses amongst each other. This data tracking approach can provide valuable information for the detection of racehorse injuries, assessment of physical preparedness including responses to exercise intensity or workload (referred to as 'fitness') and determining readiness for racing. The acquisition of such quantitative data has the potential to bring racehorse training into the 21st century, embracing the era of 'Big Data'. However, a vast majority of the existing literature on equine exercise physiology has focused on small cohorts of horses (~15-20 horses), often exercised in controlled laboratory conditions such as a treadmill, with no jockey aboard. To establish comprehensive insights into physiological patterns and characteristics at a population level, particularly factors influencing race-day preparation and performance, large-scale observational studies involving hundreds of horses are essential. These studies would contribute to a more holistic understanding of equine exercise physiology in real-world scenarios, encompassing the diverse variables encountered during actual race conditions.

1.12 Study aims and research questions

The aim of this thesis was to explore the application of data science to track racehorse physiology and performance. Data science involves extracting insights from data using a combination of statistical analysis, machine learning, and visualisation techniques to ultimately inform decision-making. The present research primarily used a single dataset (a 'convenience sample') in Victoria, Australia, but was also compared against other available datasets using the same technology. Our approach involved the completion of large retrospective, descriptive studies to explore racehorse physiological patterns and other relevant factors relating to training and racing. Four separate studies were conducted, each comprising different research questions that will be briefly outlined below:

Introduction and Literature Review

The **first study** described physiological patterns recorded during training in two large racehorse cohorts, based in Australia and France respectively. It reported the effect of increased training speed and intensity, on racehorse heart rate, heart rate recovery and stride length and frequency. This research also demonstrated the effects of varying track surface, horse age and sex (*see Chapter 2*).

The effect of the sex of the jockey on racehorse physiology and performance was investigated in the **second study**. The primary research questions of the project were: (1) whether racehorse cardiovascular (heart rate, heart rate recovery) and biomechanical (stride length and frequency) parameters at various exercise intensities varied according to sex of the rider in Victoria, Australia and (2) what effects may sex of jockey have upon win percentage and chance of a top-three placing in both UK and Australia (*see Chapter 3*).

The **third study** investigated locomotory profiles (stride length and frequency) during training and association race performance in Victoria, Australia. The study also asked whether locomotory characteristics had high heritability i.e., is a sprinter born a sprinter? The primary hypothesis of the study was: (1) racehorses categorised according to race distance (sprinter/miler/stayers) may be distinguished in training by having relatively short, medium or long stride, respectively when analysed at race speed (soft-medium-hard gallop session or 'jumpout'). Secondary hypotheses were: (2) sprinters-milers-stayers with relatively short or long stride within each category are more successful in their respective races, and (3) that locomotory parameters have moderate-to-high heritability. Finally, since many racehorses compete in different types of races (e.g., sprint, mile and/or staying race), an analysis was conducted on the extent to which locomotory profiles (e.g., peak stride frequency, length) in training evolved over time within individual horses throughout the race season (*see Chapter 4*).

The **fourth study** examined whether measures of speed (i.e., speed over the final 600m), heart rate peak and recovery during race-pace workouts on turf (hard gallop and jumpout) and other factors (sex, age and locomotory profile) were predictive of race performance (i.e., 'win' or 'lose' as primary outcome) (see Chapter 5).

Ultimately, this project should provide a better understanding of how data can be used and applied in the context of the training of racehorses in order to further explore racehorse physiology and performance. Such quantitative data could be used as a reference point from which, in the future, potential impacts on racehorse health and welfare and improved decision-making for all participants involved in the sport, can be determined. Given that the most

common reported reason for Thoroughbred horses leaving racing stables in Australia is poor performance and illness/injury, the results from this project could have substantial implications for racehorse management and future of the sport (Thomson et al., 2014).

1.13 Thesis structure

Chapter 1: A general introduction to the thesis, including a literature review on the horseracing industry, sport and performance assessment.

Chapter 2: Study 1, Cardiovascular and locomotory parameters during training in Thoroughbred racehorses. Published as "Schrurs, C., Dubois, G., Patarin, F., Cobb, M., Gardner, D.S. and Van Erck-Westergren, E. (2022) *Cardiovascular and locomotory parameters during training in thoroughbred racehorses: a multi-national study.* Comparative Exercise Physiology <u>https://doi.org/10.3920/CEP210037</u>."

Chapter 3: Study 2, Does sex of the jockey influence racehorse physiology and performance? Published as "Schrurs, C., Dubois, G., Van Erck-Westergren, E. and Gardner, D.S. (2022). Does sex of the jockey influence racehorse physiology and performance PLoS ONE 17(8): e0273310. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0273310</u>."

Chapter 4: Study 3, Locomotory Profiles in Thoroughbreds and association with race success. Published as "Schrurs, C., Blott, S. Dubois, G., Van Erck-Westergren, E. and Gardner, D.S. (2022) Locomotory profiles in Thoroughbreds: peak stride length and frequency in training and association with race outcomes. Animals 2022 12(23) 3269 <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2076-2615/12/23/3269</u>."

Chapter 5: Study 4, Cardiovascular fitness and stride acceleration in race-pace workouts for the prediction of performance in Thoroughbreds.

Chapter 6: Overall discussion and implications of the work. Study limitations and future work.

Chapter 7: Bibliography.

Chapter 8: Published Papers.

2.1 Abstract

Studies assessing concurrent speed, cardiovascular physiology and biomechanical parameters in racehorses during training have been rarely reported, mostly due to a lack of available comprehensive technology. Here, using a validated device (the 'Equimetre'™) that records all parameters simultaneously, we report the effect of increased training speed and thus intensity, from slow canter to hard gallop, on racehorse heart rate, heart rate recovery and on biomechanical parameters such as stride length and frequency. We also demonstrate the effects of varying track surface, horse age and sex. Cohorts comprised a total of 509 Thoroughbred racehorses in-training in either Australia or France, completing a total of 1,124 and 6,016 training sessions, respectively. Horses varied by age (2-9 years old) and sex (including geldings) and were trained by either a single trainer (Australia) or two trainers (France); both using multiple training centres that varied by track surface (sand, turf or fibre). Data were analysed using Analysis of Variation (ANOVA) or linear mixed-effect models as appropriate. Racehorses increased speed predominantly by an increment in stride length, then frequency, both of which varied according to track surface (shorter stride on sand; P<.001). Cardiovascular parameters (peak, and recovery of, heart rate) increased with training intensity, but not linearly (P_{trend}<.001). Older horses recorded lower heart rate at 15mins after training (P=0.002), often due to lower achieved peak heart rate at most training intensities (P<.001 for the cohort in Australia). In conclusion, this immersive field study demonstrates the value of comprehensive technology for recording physiological and biomechanical parameters of racehorses-in-training. The data could inform trainers, jockeys and owners on aspects of individual racehorse health, welfare and suitability for certain races.

2.2 Introduction

Thoroughbred racehorses have evolved, comparatively, as elite athletes. By any measure, they have superior speed, oxidative threshold and exhibit greater circulatory responses to exercise such as release of red cells from the splenic reservoir, when compared to Man (Allen et al., 2016b). Racehorses are trained consistently from two years of age to race and ideally win against other racehorses at ages two, three or older. Despite much progress in the understanding of equine sports performance, training practices remain predominantly grounded in tradition, experience, observation and the rider's feedback (Ely et al., 2010) rather

than evidence-based principles of performance (Williams, 2013). In contrast, development of human elite performance toward readiness for competition has been influenced and informed by objective feedback from a variety of training aids such as monitoring of heart rate (HR) or of recovery (HRR), or power output (particularly for cycling) for decades. Indeed, relatively recently, incorporation of variations in training intensity (e.g. high-intensity intervals during a training session) and variations in training patterns over time (e.g. periodisation of training over the racing season) have been introduced with significant gains in peak performance, accompanied by a reduction in the proportion of athletes reporting symptoms of 'over-training' or of injury (Seiler, 2010).

In part, the relatively slow adoption of training devices to monitor performance in equine athletes has been due to lack of available, validated, and accurate technology. Treadmill exercise testing is relatively straight-forward to perform, as the horse is in a fixed position and has been used for assessing cardio-respiratory responses to set testing regimes in set environments (Marlin et al., 1996). However, an individual horse galloping on a treadmill with no jockey aboard will perform significantly differently to a racehorse working on an outdoor training gallop or in a race (Bitschnau et al., 2010). Thus, to ascertain cardiovascular fitness in racehorses and increase the number of horses able to be assessed, it is important and preferable to record them working in their natural training environment. Over the last decade, a few devices have been developed for use on the freely moving, exercising racehorse. After overcoming technological difficulties associated with loss of body contact, interference and movement, the Kruuse Televet 100 system was the first device able to record ECG parameters during field exercise testing (Fraipont et al., 2012, Hodgson, 2014), but required an additional GPS device to also record speed and distance travelled. Shortly after, devices with integrated Global Positioning Systems (GPS) became more standard such as the Polar Equine system. Similar technologies were able to measure speed whilst training, albeit in relatively small studies (e.g. n=10 horses; (Kingston et al., 2006, Williams et al., 2019). A device has recently been developed that can integrate all these measures (heart rate, GPS, ECG) plus additional information on heart rate variability (ter Woort et al., 2021) and locomotion. The 'Equimetre™' (Arioneo Ltd, Paris, France) has been validated to accurately record heart rate at rest and during high-intensity training sessions and, when used in conjunction with an electrocardiogram (ECG), can also provide information on heart rate variability (ter Woort et al., 2021). Hence, the technology is now available to objectively monitor several aspects of a racehorse's cardiovascular response to a given exercise together with their rate of recovery, characteristics of locomotory function and speed before, during and after exercise. To date, however, no large observational studies have been conducted to report how such parameters may change for individual racehorses over multiple training sessions nor how they compare to

51

horses training on different track surfaces (turf, fibre or sand) or how responses may effectively vary according to sex or age of the horse.

Racetrack surface has been shown to influence the level of training effort in racehorses (Crevier-Denoix et al., 2010) but the effect on cardiovascular physiology is unknown. Similarly, racetracks of differing surfaces may alter locomotion by affecting hoof movement, stride length and/or frequency (Burn and Usmar, 2005, Crevier-Denoix et al., 2010, Symons et al., 2014). No study has reported how differing training regimes on various surfaces may influence racehorse locomotory function including stride length and frequency. Equines, much like canines, can only breathe in synchrony with their stride during canter and gallop, due to a 1:1 respiratory-locomotory coupling (Ainsworth et al., 1997). Therefore, it could be expected that variation in stride rate may have an effect on cardio-respiratory parameters.

In the present study, the largest of its kind to date, we have conducted a multi-national, observational study, using a validated fitness tracking device to report on racehorse cardiovascular (e.g., heart rate [HR] and heart rate recovery [HRR]) and locomotory (stride length and frequency) responses to in-field training at three renowned training yards. Horses of varying age and sex were tracked longitudinally as they trained on varying surfaces throughout the year. The primary outcome of the study was to report the effect of increasing speed (slow canter to hard gallop) on heart rate, heart rate recovery after exercise and on stride length and stride frequency in racehorses-in-training, considering varying track surfaces, horse age and sex.

2.3 Material and Methods

2.3.1 Horses

Ethical approval for this study was obtained from the University of Nottingham (School of Veterinary Medicine and Science) Research Ethics Committee (REC code: 3270 201029). The study is a retrospective, observational study using datasets collected from racing stables in two countries (Australia and France), training racehorses according to the established practices of each trainer. Both study populations represented convenience samples.

Study population 1 included 275 Thoroughbred racehorses that were recruited from the same racing yard in Australia. The horses were 2 - 7 years of age. However, date of birth and thus racing age were only partially available (two; n=56, three; n=28, four; n=19, five; n=11, six;

n=6, and seven-year-olds; n=3). When recorded, the sex of the horse was coded as male (colts/stallions; n=38), female (fillies/mares; n=76) or gelding (n=52).

Study population 2 comprised 234 Thoroughbred racehorses, trained at two different racing yards in France. The horses were 2 – 9 years of age and included males (colts/stallions; n=13), females (fillies/mares; n=38), geldings (n=21) or unrecorded individuals. The respective trainers regarded all horses as race fit; that is, horses that were actively in training to sustain their fitness levels and competing in races during the study period. Each training session was evaluated based on the trainer's observation on the track, riders' feedback following exercise and the fitness tracker recordings ('Equimetre'™, Arioneo Ltd, France). Prior to the study, all trainers had integrated such systems into their work regimes. For the subsets of each cohort where age and sex were known, these were cross-checked against data available on the Racing.com and France-Galop websites.

2.3.2 Equipment

All horses were equipped with a commercialised equine fitness tracker ('Equimetre'[™], Arioneo Ltd, France) during and after exercise. Horses wore their regular tack and were exercised by their usual work rider. The device was fitted prior to training by persons accustomed to the system. An electrode was fastened at the girth and the second secured under the saddle pad in the natural dip of the back, as previously described (ter Woort et al., 2021). The Equimetre uses an algorithm based upon the accelerometric recordings to detect and measure parameters associated with speed and stride (Barrey et al., 1995).

2.3.3 Training

During the study, horses were trained according to an individual and tailored programme established by the trainer. Trainers considered the most appropriate type of work and track to meet their objectives for each horse in relation to age and stage of career. In Australia (study population 1), the trainer gave target timings, to their discretion, for set distances to the riders during each type of training. A sound and light system fixed to the riders' helmet signalled the time taken to cover each furlong. Training usually occurred before daylight, with the trainers monitoring the horses from a distance, often from a watchtower, using binoculars. Subsequently, recorded Equimetre sessions were downloaded and retrospectively reviewed on a computer by the trainer. When appropriate, trainers would also time the horses' performance on the track using a manual stopwatch. Following exercise, all horses were systematically placed on a horse walker or walked in hand to recuperate. This approach formed the trainer's own exercise categorisation (e.g., soft canter to hard gallop). With target

timings to cover set distances, speed could be known at any point along the track during each session, but to an extent was dependant on the jockey following the instructions of the trainer. Speed was categorised as soft canter, medium canter, hard canter and soft gallop, medium gallop and hard gallop (see Figure 2a). The training locations were on racetracks or training centres with a choice of surface including sand, turf or fibre. These latter aspects were also recorded for each training session. Using the Equimetre, data were available on speed (i.e., time taken to cover 200m in seconds) recorded for each 200m segment (at 200, 400, 600, 800, 1km, 1.2 and 1.4km using GPS satellite data). From this data, the Equimetre also calculated the fastest 200, 400, 600, 800 or 1000m segment. Using such data from the device allowed for a data-driven categorisation of speed from slow-canter to hard-gallop by taking the value for the 'fastest 200m' recorded for each individual training session following a progressive increase of speed, as opposed to an explosive sprint (see Figure 2b). This markedly reduced variability in classification of training intensity was used thereafter for all other analyses and comparisons.

For study population 2 in France, horses were exercised daily in groups according to age and level with the aim of developing their racing experience and to gradually build their fitness. The trainer would watch the horses train on the track and review the recorded sessions a posteriori on a computer. Once mounted, horses were walked to the gallops or training centres nearby (approximately a 1km walk), then "warmed up" by completing two 800-meter (4 furlongs) sessions in trot (10.1 ± 1.3 kph) or soft canter (19.6 ± 5.1 kph). After this warm-up, horses would walk 150-200m before being instructed to complete a given 'work' session at trainer defined speed for a given duration (on average, a distance of 1,765 ± 701 metres). Horses would then walk a further 150-200m before completing, if instructed to do so, a final work session, often faster than the first. Once a week, trainers would exercise individual horses "harder" by warming up as before, followed by 1500m at a medium canter (24.3 ± 1.8 kph) and a final 1000m at medium (53.8 \pm 2.1 kph) to hard (58.9 \pm 1.7 kph) gallop, increasing speed toward the final 500m. Similar to the Australian cohort, for analysis purposes, training sessions were divided into six categories (Canter, soft/medium/hard; Gallop, soft/medium/hard) based upon the fastest 200m achieved during each session. This enabled direct comparison to dataset 1 (Australia). In the French cohort, track surface was also recorded (sand or turf) for many of the sessions, but no training was conducted on all-weather or fibre tracks.

2.3.4 Data collection

All data collection occurred between March and December 2020 for Study population 1 and from May 2018 to June 2020 for Study population 2. Study population 1 (Australia) recorded a total of 1,124 training sessions. Each horse completed n=4 (2-7), median (first-third interquartile range [IQR]) training sessions. Study population 2 (France) recorded a total of 6,016 training sessions. Each horse completed n=20 (8-48) median (IQR) training sessions. Month of training session was recorded and from the exact date of training then the number of training sessions, and the interval between them, could be recorded for each horse. The Equimetre recorded aspects of each horse's cardiovascular responses to exercise (e.g., heart rate, HR) during trot, canter, gallop, peak heart rate (HRpeak) and HR during recovery (HR at 15 or 30 mins or at the end of training session) and aspects of locomotion (speed, stride length and stride frequency). From these live data that were instantly recorded by the device, further analyses were able to be conducted post-hoc that pertained to each training session such as the deltaHR (HRpeak – HR at 15min recovery) or overall HR area under the curve (HRauc; ([HRpeak +HR at 15min]/2)+([HR at 15min+HR at 30min]/2)+ ([HR at 30min+HR at end of session]/2)) or the recovery response (i.e. only including values to 15min). All AUC were calculated according to the trapezoid rule in Graphpad Prism (Graphpad Prism 9, Graphpad Software, La Jolla, USA). Final datasets were cleaned and checked for artifacts in MS Excel. Further data collected but not found to contribute to variability in outcomes and thus not considered here were environmental temperature and precipitation.

2.3.5 Data analysis

Any descriptive data (e.g., continuous variables) that were normally distributed (e.g., speed, stride length, stride frequency) are presented as mean (± 1 standard deviation [SD]). Similar data that were not normally distributed or categorical are presented as median (1st - 3rd interquartile range) or as percentage (of total number) for categorical variables. Data distribution was checked either by standard tests (e.g., Shapiro-Wilk test) or checking of residuals post analysis. If necessary, data were log-transformed (log10) to normalise the distribution of the data prior to analysis. For some analyses, where assumptions for analysis of variance could not be met (e.g., differing sample size for some factors (mare/stallion/gelding) or missing data, then a different approach was taken so as not to exclude that individual from all analyses. These data were analysed by linear mixed models (restricted maximum likelihood; REML), which adopts a flexible approach to estimating treatment effects (e.g., assumes 95% CI for small sample sizes and adjusts accordingly), and assumes that any missing data were randomly distributed amongst treatment groups. Such a technique means all data can be used and any estimates are not biased by an uneven dataset. Any factors that were not part of the design but may influence outcome were included as co-variates in any

55

analysis (e.g., interval between training session in days, training month). Where data for the same horse were repeated, then either a repeated measures analysis was conducted with training session (i.e. 1 to \leq 21) included as a fixed effect (if the effect of time was of interest) or with each horse fitted as a random effect in the model, to account for the reduced within-animal variation (where the effect of repeated sessions is averaged over all fixed effects in the model). Similarly, training centre/location were added as a further random effect, as many had tracks of differing surfaces at the same location. All data were analysed using Genstat v21 (VSNi Ltd, Rothamsted, Harpenden, UK). Statistical significance was accepted at P<0.05.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Variation associated with recordings from the Equimetre.

In live recording of the same horses (n=21) completing at least eight or more (average = 10) different training sessions, where the training interval was not >30 days and was conducted on the same surface (sand) at a similar training speed for each horse (n=330 sessions available for comparison), the coefficient of variation ([SD/mean] \times 100) for data on speed, cardiovascular and locomotory data were excellent (Table 3). An example of real data for an individual horse are given in (Table 4).

Table 3 Percentage coefficient of variation of the Equimetre										
Training type	Soft Canter	Med Canter	Hard Canter	Soft Gallop	Med Gallop	Hard Gallop				
Speed parameters										
Best 200m (secs) Turf	-	-	-	-	4	3				
Sand	14	8	10	6	5	-				
Best 600m (secs) Turf	-	-	-	-	4	3				
Sand	12	8	-	5	4	-				
Cardiovascular parameters										
HRpeak (bpm) Turf	-	-	-	-	3	5				
Sand	9	11	10	1	7	-				
HR at 15min (bpm) Turf	-	-	-	-	11	15				
Sand	14	16	20	12	16	-				
Locomotory parameters										
Stride frequency (strides/sec) Turf	-	-	-	1	2	1				
Sand	4	3	3	3	2	-				
Stride length (metres) Turf	-	-	-	2	3	2				
Sand	8	7	4	5	4	-				

Values are mean coefficient of variation from live recording of n=21 racehorses completing at least ten different training sessions in which the training interval was not >30 days apart. Sessions were conducted on sand at the same track. Values for differing surfaces training speed are given. In total, n=265 sessions were available for comparison. Coefficient of variation calculated as ([SD/mean] × 100), expressed as percent.

Study	1:	Cardiovascular	and	locomotory	parameters	during	training	in	thoroughbred
raceho	rse	s: a multi-nationa	l stud	ly					

Table 4 Validation of the fitness tracker device (Horse A exercised at 'Hard Canter' on										
······································										
	Best	Best	HR	HR at	Stride	Stride				
Individual example, Horse 'A'	200m	600m	Peak	15min	Frequency	Length				
	(secs)	(secs)	(beats/min)	(beats/min)	(stride/sec)	(m/stride)				
Training session 1, 23/03/2020	19.5	59.5	195	66	2	5.3				
Training session 2, 25/03/2020	21	64	185	40	1.92	5.2				
Training session 3, 26/03/2020	18.5	57	200	55	2.02	5.5				
Training session 4, 30/04/2020	19.5	59.5	190	45	1.98	5.35				
Training session 5, 01/04/2020	20.5	62	184	43	1.92	5.25				
Training session 6, 03/04/2020	18.5	57.5	180	53	1.94	5.8				
Training session 7, 17/04/2020	20.5	63	190	52	1.94	5.25				
Training session 8, 11/05/2020	21	65	193	43	1.96	5.45				
Mean	19.88	60.94	189.6	49.6	1.96	5.39				
Standard deviation	1.02	2.99	6.47	8.58	0.03	0.20				
Coefficient of variation	5%	5%	3%	17%	2%	4%				
Intraclass	0.87	0.87	0.18	0.61	0.90	0.94				
correlation coefficient (ALL)	(0.78-0.94)	(0.78-0.94)	(0.02-0.44)	(0.2-0.80)	(0.83-0.96)	(0.90-0.98)				

Recorded values by the fitness tracker device for an individual horse over eight training sessions, conducted on sand at the same track and at hard canter. The intraclass correlation coefficient (3,1) was used to assess the reliability of the Equimetre to record a similar value for each training parameter on the first five occasions for each horse training under the same conditions (i.e., pace and surface). The output quantifies the agreement between two independent scores of the same parameter (0 = no agreement, 1 = perfect agreement). A value ≥ 0.75 is considered as very strong agreement and 95% confidence intervals are used to represent the experimental variability around each score.

2.4.2 Descriptive characteristics of each cohort

Training practices varied from trainer-to-trainer within and between countries. The use of a fitness tracker provided equivalent data for the comparison of speed, cardiovascular response, recovery and locomotory parameters in racehorses in training. During warm-up, average HR during trot and canter was: 93 ± 24 and 169 ± 30 beats/min, respectively for Australia; and 99 ± 27 and 134 ± 32 beats/min, respectively for France. Thereafter, HR increased progressively with pace of the training session from soft to hard canter, where, on average, the peak heart rate (HRpeak) was achieved for each horse (249 ± 20 [1 SD], 237-260 [IQR] beats/min). As pace increased from soft to hard gallop, the HRpeak did not change significantly (Table 5). At hard gallop, the fastest 200m (or 'furlong') was covered in 11.0 ± 0.2 secs, in contrast to soft canter, covered in 24.7 ± 5.2 secs (Table 5). Despite many different horses and training sessions, there was good consistency between the differing paces; however, it was clear that based on the trainer-determined session, dependent on jockey compliance, versus a datadriven session based on the best 200m achieved and recorded during that session, then some variability existed with the former (Figure 2a,b). Consequently, for equivalence and comparison, we adopted a data-driven designation of training sessions (split into six categories; Figure 2a, b) based upon the fastest 200m for any training session. Highest variability was only in the slowest 'soft canter' category. Comparison between countries and training strategies, at each training intensity, suggested that racehorses in Australia had similar maximum stride frequency but consistently longer maximum stride length (Table 5), and were exercised at a higher intensity for shorter intervals based upon indicators of speed and time within each training category coupled with the HRpeak during each session. However, in France, the training sessions appeared to have a greater overall cardiovascular stimulus with higher and longer indices of recovery (e.g., HR at15min, HRauc) within each training category (Table 5). At higher speeds (medium to hard gallop) the differences in training strategies were largely eliminated (Figure 2c, d). Horses increased speed by both increasing stride length and frequency, although the increment in stride length from soft canter to hard gallop was much greater (~ 63% increment) than frequency (~ 25% increment; Table 5).

Image: series of the	Table 5 Descriptive characteristics of the Australian and French racehorse training									
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $					datase	ts				
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Training type	Country	Soft Canter	Med Canter	Hard Canter	Soft Gallop	Med Gallop	Hard Gallop	'Jumpout'	
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Best 0-	Australia	24.7 ± 5.2	19.9 ± 0.8	15.6±1.	12.6 ± 0.4	11.7 ± 0.2	11.0 ± 0.2	11.2 ± 0.6	
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	200m	France	43.0 ± 14.0	30.7 ± 1.5	23.2 ± 2.	16.4 ± 1.2	13.5 ± 0.4	12.2 ± 0.3	_	
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Time,	Australia	26.1 ± 5.4	21.3 ± 1.3	16.9±1.	14.1 ± 0.9	13.2 ± 0.8	12.7 ± 0.8	11.5 ± 0.78	
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	400- 600m	France	42.8 ± 13.3	33.0 ± 2.6	$25.5 \pm 3.$	18.4 ± 2.3	14.9 ± 1.6	13.5 ± 0.9	_	
speed France 19.6 ± 5.1 24.3 ± 1.8 $32.2 \pm 3.$ 44.9 ± 3.5 53.8 ± 2.1 58.9 ± 1.7 $-$ Peak Australia 178 ± 31 195 ± 21 212 ± 27 221 ± 26 214 ± 18 216 ± 15 215 ± 18 heart France 152 ± 42 166 ± 33 182 ± 35 206 ± 33 217 ± 23 219 ± 23 $-$ Percent Australia 76 ± 14 83 ± 12 87 ± 15 92 ± 11 92 ± 11 93 ± 10 94 ± 8 max HR France 62 ± 16 66 ± 15 75 ± 15 85 ± 13 90 ± 10 92 ± 9 $-$ Heart Australia 59 ± 14 63 ± 29 70 ± 23 90 ± 21 97 ± 20 94 ± 27 rate Australia 59 ± 14 63 ± 29 70 ± 20 81 ± 20 96 ± 19 102 ± 17 $-$ HR Australia 119 ± 18 130 ± 18 141 ± 20 156 ± 19 154 ± 11 157 ± 13 155 ± 17 <	Max	Australia	31.6 ± 5.2	37.1 ± 1.8	47.3 ± 4.	58.1 ± 2.5	62.3 ± 1.2	66.0 ± 1.6	64.5 ± 3.7	
Peak heartAustralia 178 ± 31 195 ± 21 212 ± 27 221 ± 26 214 ± 18 216 ± 15 215 ± 18 heartFrance 152 ± 42 166 ± 33 182 ± 35 206 ± 33 217 ± 23 219 ± 23 $-$ PercentAustralia 76 ± 14 83 ± 12 87 ± 15 92 ± 11 92 ± 11 93 ± 10 94 ± 8 max HRFrance 62 ± 16 66 ± 15 75 ± 15 85 ± 13 90 ± 10 92 ± 9 $-$ HeartAustralia 59 ± 14 63 ± 29 70 ± 23 90 ± 24 92 ± 17 97 ± 20 94 ± 27 rate at15minFrance 71 ± 24 73 ± 20 74 ± 20 81 ± 20 96 ± 19 102 ± 17 $-$ HRAustralia 119 ± 18 130 ± 18 141 ± 20 156 ± 19 154 ± 11 157 ± 13 155 ± 17 recovery aucFrance 220 ± 75 233 ± 59 244 ± 59 268 ± 64 318 ± 56 339 ± 56 $-$ StrideAustralia 1.96 ± 0.11 2.03 ± 0.07 2.17 ± 0 2.31 ± 0.0 2.34 ± 0.0 2.41 ± 0.1 $-$ (strides per sec)France 1.90 ± 0.25 1.97 ± 0.18 2.11 ± 0 2.28 ± 0.1 2.38 ± 0.1 2.41 ± 0.1 $-$ (metrice) (requence per sec)France 3.09 ± 0.60 3.62 ± 0.35 6.17 ± 0 7.10 ± 0.3 7.49 ± 0.2 7.11 ± 0.2 7.63 ± 0.41 (metrice) (metrice)France 3.09 ± 0.60 3.62 ± 0.35 </th <td>speed</td> <td>France</td> <td>19.6 ± 5.1</td> <td>24.3 ± 1.8</td> <td>32.2 ± 3.</td> <td>44.9 ± 3.5</td> <td>53.8 ± 2.1</td> <td>58.9 ± 1.7</td> <td>_</td>	speed	France	19.6 ± 5.1	24.3 ± 1.8	32.2 ± 3.	44.9 ± 3.5	53.8 ± 2.1	58.9 ± 1.7	_	
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Peak	Australia	178 ± 31	195 ± 21	212 ± 27	221 ± 26	214 ± 18	216 ± 15	215 ± 18	
Percent max HRAustralia 76 ± 14 83 ± 12 87 ± 15 92 ± 11 92 ± 11 93 ± 10 94 ± 8 max HRFrance 62 ± 16 66 ± 15 75 ± 15 85 ± 13 90 ± 10 92 ± 9 $-$ HeartAustralia 59 ± 14 63 ± 29 70 ± 23 90 ± 24 92 ± 17 97 ± 20 94 ± 27 rate at15minFrance 71 ± 24 73 ± 20 74 ± 20 81 ± 20 96 ± 19 102 ± 17 $-$ HRAustralia 119 ± 18 130 ± 18 141 ± 20 156 ± 19 154 ± 11 157 ± 13 155 ± 17 recovery aucFrance 220 ± 75 233 ± 59 244 ± 59 268 ± 64 318 ± 56 339 ± 56 $-$ StrideAustralia 1.96 ± 0.11 2.03 ± 0.07 2.17 ± 0 2.31 ± 0.0 2.34 ± 0.0 2.41 ± 0.0 2.40 ± 0.10 frequenc 	heart	France	152 ± 42	166 ± 33	182 ± 35	206 ± 33	217 ± 23	219 ± 23	_	
max HR France 62 ± 16 66 ± 15 75 ± 15 85 ± 13 90 ± 10 92 ± 9 $-$ Heart Australia 59 ± 14 63 ± 29 70 ± 23 90 ± 24 92 ± 17 97 ± 20 94 ± 27 rate France 71 ± 24 73 ± 20 74 ± 20 81 ± 20 96 ± 19 102 ± 17 $-$ HR Australia 119 ± 18 130 ± 18 141 ± 20 156 ± 19 154 ± 11 157 ± 13 155 ± 17 recovery France 220 ± 75 233 ± 59 244 ± 59 268 ± 64 318 ± 56 339 ± 56 $-$ Stride Australia 1.96 ± 0.11 2.03 ± 0.07 2.17 ± 0 2.31 ± 0.0 2.34 ± 0.0 2.41 ± 0.01 2.40 ± 0.10 frequenc France 1.90 ± 0.25 1.97 ± 0.18 2.11 ± 0 2.28 ± 0.1 2.38 ± 0.1 2.41 ± 0.01 2.40 ± 0.10 gresses France 1.90 ± 0.25 5.19 ± 0.25 6.17 ± 0 7.10 ± 0.3 7.49 ± 0.2 7.11 ± 0.2 7.63 ± 0.41 length France	Percent	Australia	76 ± 14	83 ± 12	87 ± 15	92 ± 11	92 ± 11	93 ± 10	94 ± 8	
$\begin{array}{c cccccc} \mbox{Heart} & \mbox{Australia} & 59 \pm 14 & 63 \pm 29 & 70 \pm 23 & 90 \pm 24 & 92 \pm 17 & 97 \pm 20 & 94 \pm 27 \\ \mbox{rate} & \\ \mbox{rate} & \\ \mbox{france} & \\ \mbox{at15min} & \mbox{france} & \\ \mbox{france} & \\ IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII$	max HR	France	62 ± 16	66 ± 15	75 ± 15	85 ± 13	90 ± 10	92 ± 9	_	
rate at15min France 71 ± 24 73 ± 20 74 ± 20 81 ± 20 96 ± 19 102 ± 17 $-$ HR Australia 119 ± 18 130 ± 18 141 ± 20 156 ± 19 154 ± 11 157 ± 13 155 ± 17 recovery auc France 220 ± 75 233 ± 59 244 ± 59 268 ± 64 318 ± 56 339 ± 56 $-$ Stride Australia 1.96 ± 0.11 2.03 ± 0.07 $2.17\pm 0.$ 2.31 ± 0.0 2.34 ± 0.0 2.41 ± 0.0 2.40 ± 0.10 frequenc y (strides per sec) France 1.90 ± 0.25 1.97 ± 0.18 $2.11\pm 0.$ 2.28 ± 0.1 2.38 ± 0.1 2.41 ± 0.1 $-$ Stride Australia 4.58 ± 0.58 5.19 ± 0.25 $6.17\pm 0.$ 7.10 ± 0.3 7.49 ± 0.2 7.71 ± 0.2 7.63 ± 0.41 length France 3.09 ± 0.60 3.62 ± 0.35 $6.17\pm 0.$ 7.10 ± 0.3 7.49 ± 0.2 7.71 ± 0.2 7.63 ± 0.41 france 3.09 ± 0.60 3.62 ± 0.35 4.54 ± 0.7 6.41 ± 0.3 6.88 ± 0.3 $-$	Heart	Australia	59 ± 14	63 ± 29	70 ± 23	90 ± 24	92 ± 17	97 ± 20	94 ± 27	
$ \begin{array}{cccccc} \mbox{HR} & \mbox{Australia} & 119 \pm 18 & 130 \pm 18 & 141 \pm 20 & 156 \pm 19 & 154 \pm 11 & 157 \pm 13 & 155 \pm 17 \\ \mbox{recovery} \\ \mbox{auc} & \mbox{France} & 220 \pm 75 & 233 \pm 59 & 244 \pm 59 & 268 \pm 64 & 318 \pm 56 & 339 \pm 56 & - \\ \mbox{Stride} & \mbox{Australia} & 1.96 \pm 0.11 & 2.03 \pm 0.07 & 2.17 \pm 0. & 2.31 \pm 0.0 & 2.34 \pm 0.0 & 2.41 \pm 0.0 & 2.40 \pm 0.10 \\ \mbox{frequenc} \\ \mbox{y (strides} & \mbox{France} & 1.90 \pm 0.25 & 1.97 \pm 0.18 & \\ \mbox{per sec)} & \mbox{I} & \mbox$	rate at15min	France	71 ± 24	73 ± 20	74 ± 20	81 ± 20	96 ± 19	102 ± 17	_	
recovery auc France 220 ± 75 233 ± 59 244 ± 59 268 ± 64 318 ± 56 339 ± 56 $-$ Stride Australia 1.96 ± 0.11 2.03 ± 0.07 $2.17 \pm 0.$ 2.31 ± 0.0 2.34 ± 0.0 2.41 ± 0.0 2.40 ± 0.10 frequenc y (strides per sec) France 1.90 ± 0.25 1.97 ± 0.18 $2.11 \pm 0.$ 2.28 ± 0.1 2.38 ± 0.1 2.41 ± 0.1 $-$ Stride length Australia 4.58 ± 0.58 5.19 ± 0.25 $6.17 \pm 0.$ 7.10 ± 0.3 7.49 ± 0.2 7.71 ± 0.2 7.63 ± 0.41 (meters) France 3.09 ± 0.60 3.62 ± 0.35 $6.017 \pm 0.$ 7.10 ± 0.3 7.49 ± 0.2 7.71 ± 0.2 7.63 ± 0.41	HR	Australia	119 ± 18	130 ± 18	141 ± 20	156 ± 19	154 ± 11	157 ± 13	155 ± 17	
Stride Australia 1.96 ± 0.11 2.03 ± 0.07 $2.17 \pm 0.$ 2.31 ± 0.0 2.34 ± 0.0 2.41 ± 0.0 2.40 ± 0.10 frequenc y (strides France 1.90 ± 0.25 1.97 ± 0.18 $2.11 \pm 0.$ 2.28 ± 0.1 2.38 ± 0.1 2.41 ± 0.1 $-$ ger sec) - Stride Australia 4.58 ± 0.58 5.19 ± 0.25 $6.17 \pm 0.$ 7.10 ± 0.3 7.49 ± 0.2 7.71 ± 0.2 7.63 ± 0.41 length - France 3.09 ± 0.60 3.62 ± 0.35 $4.44 \pm 0.$ 5.60 ± 0.4 6.41 ± 0.3 6.88 ± 0.3 $-$	recovery auc	France	220 ± 75	233 ± 59	244 ± 59	268 ± 64	318 ± 56	339 ± 56	_	
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Stride	Australia	1.96 ± 0.11	2.03 ± 0.07	$2.17 \pm 0.$	2.31 ± 0.0	2.34 ± 0.0	2.41 ± 0.0	2.40 ± 0.10	
y (strides France 1.90 ± 0.25 1.97 ± 0.18 per sec) Stride Australia 4.58 ± 0.58 5.19 ± 0.25 $6.17 \pm 0.$ 7.10 ± 0.3 7.49 ± 0.2 7.71 ± 0.2 7.63 ± 0.41 length France 3.09 ± 0.60 3.62 ± 0.35 (meters) 45 7 6 3	frequenc	_			2.11 ± 0.	2.28 ± 0.1	2.38 ± 0.1	2.41 ± 0.1		
Stride Australia 4.58 ± 0.58 5.19 ± 0.25 $6.17 \pm 0.$ 7.10 ± 0.3 7.49 ± 0.2 7.71 ± 0.2 7.63 ± 0.41 length France 3.09 ± 0.60 3.62 ± 0.35 (meters)	y (strides	France	1.90 ± 0.25	1.97 ± 0.18	18	6	2	2	_	
length France 3.09 ± 0.60 3.62 ± 0.35 (meters) $4.44 \pm 0.$ 5.60 ± 0.4 6.41 ± 0.3 6.88 ± 0.3 45 7 6 3	Stride	Australia	4 58 + 0 58	5 19 + 0 25	6.17 ± 0	$7 10 \pm 0.3$	749 ± 02	771 ± 02	7.63 ± 0.41	
France 3.09 ± 0.60 3.62 ± 0.35 (meters) $4.44 \pm 0.$ 5.60 ± 0.4 6.41 ± 0.5 6.88 ± 0.3 –	length	, astraid	т.30 ± 0.36	5.17 ± 0.23	$0.17 \pm 0.$	7.10 ± 0.3	$(.41 \pm 0.2)$	$(.00 \pm 0.2)$	1.05 ± 0.41	
	(meters)	France	3.09 ± 0.60	3.62 ± 0.35	$4.44 \pm 0.$	3.00 ± 0.4	0.41 ± 0.3	0.88 ± 0.3	_	

Values are Mean \pm 1SD for continuous data recorded by 'Equimetre' in Australia (n=275 different racehorses, n=1124 different training sessions) and in France (n=234 different racehorses, n=6016 different training sessions). Data were available throughout the year. Training intensity (soft/med/hard canter; soft/med/hard gallop) was calculated from both cohorts based upon the fastest furlong (200m interval) for each session, excluding 'jumpout' as in France, horses were not started from the starting gates. In Australia, there were n=163 racehorses that had trained from out of the starting gates ('jumpout'). Data are described and not formally statistically analysed.





Figure. **a**, **b**: Individual data points are time to complete a 200m segment from 400-600m (i.e., midsession) at varying training intensity (soft/med/hard canter; soft/med/hard gallop). Training intensity was calculated from both cohorts based upon the fastest furlong (200m interval) for each session, excluding 'jumpout', for which there was no equivalent in France. Values were recorded by a fitted 'Equimetre' on horses in Australia (n=275 different racehorses, n=1124 different training sessions) and in France (n=234 different racehorses, n=6,016 different training sessions). **c**, **d**: Data are predicted means (S.E.M.) for racehorses in Australia (including a further n=163 that had trained from out of the starting gates, 'jumpout'). Predicted means were calculated from continuous data recorded for each horse every 200m, with training intensity as the fixed effect in a repeated measures design. HorseID, track and racehorse trainer (two in France) were included as random effects in the model. All data analyses were conducted using Genstat v20 (VSNi, UK). Different superscripts indicate statistical significance at P<0.001, after *post hoc* analysis (Bonferroni correction).

2.4.3 Effect of track surface

Notably, track surface had an independent effect on racehorse speed, stride and the racehorse cardiovascular system during a given training session. Regardless of the intensity of the training session, speed was slower (P<.001; Figure 3a,b) and stride length was reduced (P<.001; Figure 3c,d) on sand versus turf (and fibre, where data were available for in the



Australian cohort); but recovery of heart rate at 15min was not different (Figure 3e,f).

Figure. **a,b,e,f,g:** Data are predicted mean \pm S.E.M. as recorded by 'Equimetre' in Australia (n=275 different racehorses, n=1,124 different training sessions) and in France (n=234 different racehorses, n=6,016 different training sessions). **c,d**: violin plots are all data with median and IQR indicated by solid and dashed lines, respectively. Training intensity (soft/med/hard canter; soft/med/hard gallop) was calculated from both cohorts based upon the fastest furlong (200m interval) for each session, excluding 'jumpout', for which there was no equivalent in France. Predicted means were calculated with training intensity fitted first, adjusted for sex of the horse and with track surface fitted last in the model. HorseID, racetrack and racehorse trainer were included as random effects in the model. All data analyses were conducted using Genstat v20 (VSNi, UK) and graphs produced using Graphpad Prism v9.0 (La Jolla, USA). ***, P<.001.

2.4.4 Cardiovascular responses to training in thoroughbred racehorses

During warm-up in trot, HR was 97 ± 27 and 92 ± 23 beats/min in France and Australian datasets, respectively. During canter, HR rose to 133 ± 32 and 169 ± 29 beats/min, respectively. These values were on average 40 \pm 11 and 54 \pm 13 percent of peak heart rate calculated for each individual horse. At the end of any recorded training session i.e., during cool-down, HR decreased to an average of 63 ± 18 beats/min across the two datasets. The average overall HRpeak recorded was 249 ± 20 and 238 ± 43 beats/min in France and Australian horses, respectively. As the intensity of the training session increased, so did the recorded HRpeak, but the response was not linear and HR appeared to plateau during soft gallop in France, versus hard canter in Australia (Figure 4a,b), where the average time to cover a furlong from 400-600m was 18.3 ± 2.3 and 14.1 ± 0.9 secs in France and Australia, respectively. These data corresponded to training intensities (percent of HRpeak) of between 62-75% and 76-87% for canter in France and Australia, respectively. In gallop, most horses were working at or above 85% HRpeak (Table 4). Recovery of HR toward baseline after each training session took longer after gallop than canter (Figure 4c,d), with some variability in recovery within training intensities (e.g. soft, medium, hard) between countries (Figure 4c,d). Analysis of rate of change in HR during recovery, with higher values indicating greater rate of return of HR toward baseline, suggested horses achieved greatest 'cardiac flexibility' during hard canter in Australia and soft gallop in France (Figure 4f,g).



Figure. **a,b,d,e,f,g**: Violin plots are all data for each individual horse at differing training intensities. Median and IQR are indicated by solid and dashed lines, respectively. Training intensity (soft/med/hard canter; soft/med/hard gallop) was calculated from both cohorts based upon the fastest furlong (200m interval) for each session, excluding 'jumpout', for which there was no equivalent in France. 'Equimetre' recorded n=275 different racehorses in the Australian cohort (n=1124 different training sessions) and n=234 different racehorses in France (n=6016 different training sessions); c) figure illustrates calculation of area-under-the-response-curve (AUC). Statistics are by REML with horse ID included as a random effect and 'training intensity' fitted last in the model after correction for sex of the horse, track surface and number of training sessions completed. Differing superscripts indicate statistical significance at P<0.01, adjusted appropriately for multiple comparisons (6 groups, Bonferroni correction). Data analyses were conducted using Genstat v20 (VSNi, UK) and graphs produced using Graphpad Prism v9.0 (La Jolla, USA).

2.4.5 Effect of age on training parameters

In both countries, age appeared to limit, to some extent, the peak HR achieved during a given intensity of training session; that is, at any given intensity of training younger horses achieved higher HRpeak than older horses (Figure 5a,b). These effects were more apparent in Australia than in France, where such effects were only noted at the higher speeds recorded during gallop. Equally, these effects, albeit biologically small, were also reflected in HRR where older horses appeared, to some extent, recover better (Figure 5c,d).



Figure. **a,b,c,d**: Data are predicted mean \pm S.E.M. as recorded by 'Equimetre' in Australia (n=275 different racehorses, n=1124 different training sessions) and in France (n=234 different racehorses, n=6016 different training sessions). **e,f**: Data are predicted mean \pm S.E.M (95% CI shown for comparison) for repeated data on individual two- or three-year old horses training on sand at only the paces shown (Hard Canter or Soft Gallop). All data were generated with individual horseID fitted as a random effect and after adjustment for track surface and age. Racetrack and racehorse trainer were also included as random effects in the model. All data analyses were conducted using Genstat v20 (VSNi, UK) and graphs produced using Graphpad Prism v9.0 (La Jolla, USA).

2.4.6 Effects of sex of horse and month on training outcomes

In both countries, horses were trained throughout the year and many individual horses completed multiple, repeated training sessions over the span of the study. When analysing all data for two and three-year olds training on sand (most data available for these categories)

there was no effect of sex of the horse (i.e. whether male [including geldings] or female) on the time taken to complete 600m (Figure 5e) or 200m (Figure 5f) - two standardised training metrics. There was some variability observed for training month, but no consistent effect.

2.5 Discussion

Digital progress has been increasingly embraced by those working in sports performance. Human performance analysts were early adopters of many types of wearable technologies (Jin et al., 2020). Within the equine sports industry, racehorse trainers are looking beyond subjective tradition, to incorporating more objective advice from veterinary specialists to help improve performance and conditioning of horses and getting them "race-ready", but also to reduce wastage and injury. Various wearable technologies are now much more mainstream in elite racehorse training, allowing real-time monitoring of performance in their natural environment, with little to no interference with their usual work routine. Data analysts are helping to interpret the signals and drive progression towards better performance and welfare. Nevertheless, among the fitness devices that have been commercialised to date for the equine market, few have been scientifically validated. For example, both the Polar S810i (Polar Ltd, Kempele, Finland) and Televet ECG system (Televet 100 v4.2.3) (Kruuse Ltd, Marslev, Denmark) have only explored their appropriateness for the measurement of heart rate and heart rate variability in horses at rest (Ille et al., 2014). A standard GPS device (Forerunner 205/305; Garmin Ltd, USA) was used to measure speed and distance in a small number of actively, exercising endurance horses (in the field and on a treadmill) (Fraipont et al., 2012). More recently, the Equimetre device, as used in this study, was validated against the Televet ECG system to accurately record heart rate (HR) and heart rate variability (HRV) during highintensity exercise in twenty thoroughbred racehorses (ter Woort et al., 2021). The size of the sample evaluated in the present study was particularly large (i.e., hundreds of horses across different countries and training regimes) allowing an analysis to be undertaken with greater sensitivity on the cardiovascular and locomotory changes of racehorses in training. The tracking device 'Equimetre ©' was shown to objectively discriminate training intensity by measuring racehorse speed, locomotor and cardiovascular responses. Categorising training intensity by speed within each country, and thus normalising the training impulse offered by incremental speed categories, this study has shown how the cardiovascular (heart rate) and locomotory (stride length and frequency) functions of an individual racehorse respond to bouts of exercise and be influenced by under-appreciated other factors such as the training surface.

The precision and reliability of the Equimetre was initially considered over a total of 330 sessions, performed at the same speed, on the same track and same surface: at faster paces, where most training occurs the device had coefficient of variation from 1-5% for locomotory parameters, 3-6% for speed and 5-15% for cardiovascular parameters. The latter being subject to much greater within-individual variation. Hence, the device when fitted correctly can offer good reliability and repeatability for recording of speed, cardiovascular and locomotory data in situ allowing individual racehorse responses and progression to be followed throughout the year. Such individual data in a large cohort can reveal more subtle and unforeseen effects of differing training environments on the physiological adaptation and biomechanics of the racehorse. For example, one variable drawn out in our analyses to have marked effects on most measured parameters was the racetrack surface: whether turf, fibretrack or sand.

Historically, some prestigious races have always been run on either turf (e.g., the English Derby) or 'dirt'/sand (e.g., the Breeders' Cup Classic). Fibre track or synthetic surfaces evolved as an all-weather option allowing racing to continue through poor atmospheric conditions and was adopted by many racehorse trainers as it allowed a consistent training surface throughout the year. Trainers can now choose where, and on what, to train or race their horses; nevertheless, many trained on a different surface to what the horse eventually raced on, perhaps contributing to racing-induced injury (Morrice-West et al., 2018). Indeed, track surface properties such as temperature, moisture and hardness can alter limb loading and lead to bone fatigue injuries (MacKinnon et al., 2015). Initial studies found that injury rates of limb fractures were the highest on dirt surfaces compared to turf and synthetic tracks. Regardless of the surface, fractures occurred predominantly in forelimbs. While forelimb injuries were mainly reported on dirt surfaces, horses were more likely to experience fatal hindlimb fractures on turf (Peterson et al., 2021); (Crevier-Denoix et al., 2010); (Symons et al., 2014). In more recent studies, some contradictions exist regarding injury rates on synthetic surfaces. Some studies suggested less injury rates (Setterbo et al., 2009), while others found greater musculoskeletal injuries such as pelvic and tibial stress (Verheyen et al., 2006a, MacKinnon et al., 2015). This study demonstrates an effect of track surface (e.g., turf vs. sand) on the racehorse's speed, stride and cardiovascular responses during training. However, we acknowledge that without any information on structural properties of each surface (e.g., porosity, granular composition, depth) or any knowledge of track gradient, then the data could be influenced by these factors. In both countries, speed was lower on sand, stride values (stride length and stride frequency) were reduced, but horses appeared to recover better when compared to turf. This could be explained by the use of each respective training ground for a given workout; for example, in France trainers conduct most of their "slow" workouts on sand. Fast workouts, during which horses reproduce racing conditions, tend to occur on turf. Previous work has shown that

deformable racetrack surfaces decrease stride length (Burn and Usmar, 2005). The importance of this finding lies in the fact that, knowing the effect of each type of track on the horse's biomechanical and cardiovascular function (i.e., recovery), trainers can adapt the type of exercise and the rate at which the horse reaches different cardiac training zones.

Heart rate measures in the present study rose with increasing exercise intensity, corresponding to the different paces (trot, canter, gallop) in both cohorts of racehorses, with some slight but significant differences between countries in the slope of HR increase with increasing work intensity. This is perhaps due to the differing training strategies in each country. Previous studies have demonstrated that horses exhibit a linear relationship between heart rate and submaximal exercise intensity (Hinchcliff et al., 2013). However, when measured in situ with a rider aboard, and with racehorses taken to their cardiovascular peak (e.g., hard gallop), then heart rate measures were linear and tailed off at higher speeds (see Figure 4a,b). Hence, estimated HRpeak or within 90-95% of it, was often achieved at relatively slower speeds; 'hard canter' in Australia or 'soft gallop' in France. This means that the cardiovascular system of racehorses, in terms of heart rate at least, peaks at only 70-75% of their top speed (see Table 5). In addition, at these speeds, greatest cardiac flexibility was observed; that is, the horse's ability to rapidly decrease its HR following an intense physical effort. Here, rate of recovery of heart rate ('delta HR') was highest, perhaps indicating the ideal, sub-threshold training zones, respectively. We also noted marked variation between individual horses in terms of their HRpeak; values varied from 238 – 249 beats/min, similar to values (210 – 250 beats/min) reported by Poole and Erickson (2014), but slightly higher than reported in National Hunt racehorses (201 – 230 beats/min; (Allen et al., 2016a)).

Regardless, it is clear that training practices differ between countries. Large comparative studies on the latter are limited, perhaps due to the lack of consistency in reporting training speeds. Firth and Rogers analysed monthly training regimens in Australasian 2-year-olds and described average speeds of 8.9m/s at canter (total monthly distance of 63,200m) and ~14.6m/s at gallop (total monthly distance of 4800m) (Firth and Rogers, 2005). Similar measures were identified by Morrice-West et al. (2020). In the USA, studies report speeds of 11m/s at gallop (total monthly distance of 28,400m), 15–16m/s at 'breezing' (total monthly distance of 1000 m) and GPS recordings at >8 m/s (23,004m per month) (Pagan et al., 2017). In the UK, studies report lower total monthly training volume when compared to Australia: for example, 26,800 m/month slow-speed exercise (\leq 14 m/s) and 2800m galloping (>14 m/s) have been reported (Verheyen et al., 2009). Similarly, 2-year-olds in the UK completed 4200 m/week at \leq 13.4 m/s and 380 m/week at >13.4 m/s. Our research complements these studies, also showing how Australian racehorses appear to be trained harder, as suggested by (Hodgson,

2014), compared to France. This could be explained by varying proportions of racehorse types (i.e., sprinters, milers or stayers) in each respective cohort. For example, 'sprinters' – horses better adapted for short race distances, would be expected to run at higher speeds, present higher stride frequency and a longer ground contact duration to allow more time for propulsion (Barrey et al., 2001). Such a categorisation of the horses in our cohorts was not available.

In an elite athlete, 'fitness' is usually measured as a consistent improvement in speed, power, economy of movement or recovery of heart rate after a standardised test. The athlete can maintain the same speed or power, but at a lower 'cost'; for example, as measured by recovery of heart rate. In our study, the area-under-the-response-curve (AUC) for HR increased with exercise intensity (see Table 5), largely driven by the peak HR. Concomitantly, recovery of HR was dependent on the intensity of exercise, as reported previously (Couroucé et al., 2002, Evans, 2007a). However, no clear signal for improved 'fitness' with successive training sessions was observed, probably due to a lack of consecutive and standardised training sessions recorded for individual horses, with all other factors being equal (~ 4 per horse). Another explanation could lie in the fact that, for the recorded sessions, horses may have already been fit, which could explain the minimal difference. For many racehorses, the repeat training sessions of an equivalent load (and using the 'Equimetre') were all conducted in either the same or consecutive months; a length of time insufficient to detect a clear increase in 'fitness' in equine athletes. Fitness in the horse is defined as the ability to perform prolonged, continuous and is also referred to physical work capacity (McMiken, 1983). In human elite athletes, longitudinal follow-up methods require the summation of workload over a period of weeks to months. Clearly, for racehorses that were only sampled conveniently, then further data is needed to ascertain progression of 'fitness'.

While peak HR cannot be considered a measure of fitness, as it doesn't evolve with training, it is a useful cardiovascular indicator to establish training zones or individualise workload/intensity (e.g., % of peak HR) during exercise. As we report, racehorses at trot, canter and gallop were working at approximately 40%, 75% and 85-95% of HRpeak, respectively. Using wearable technology, individualised training zones for each racehorse could be established, allowing trainers to adjust training programs for each horse or for groups of similar horses. The principles of high-intensity interval sessions or sub-threshold training, or even periodisation of training could be applied using these established training zones. Such a system has been used previously in polo-ponies (Williams and Fiander, 2014). Our data demonstrated different HR responses within groups of horses that were trained together at the same speed (i.e., canter or gallop, see Figure 4a,b). This supposes the existence of tangible differences between horses that could be due to differing 'fitness-level' or athletic ability.

70

Grouping horses of similar athletic potential could allow for a more homogenous training approach. It would ensure that horses are exposed to a training load suited to their physical capabilities and potentially reduce any risk of injury or pathology. It could also help retrieve training sessions that do not provide a sufficient training stimulus.

Our data revealed a small signal indicating that the peak HR achieved during work of most intensities was lower in older (aged 5-6 years) relative to younger (aged 2-3 years) horses, particularly for the Australian cohort (see Figure 5a). Heart rate as measured at 15mins after the training session had ended, was also lower in older horses. This perhaps reflects either a reduced peak HR (and thus faster return to a lower value) or a less anxious//excitable, older horse (cf. two/three-year old). Similarly, previous work conducted by Couroucé et al. (2002) in Standardbreds has provided valuable insight on the effect of age on training. Muscular (i.e., blood lactate concentrations) and cardiovascular adaptations (i.e., corresponding heart rates) indicated higher levels of fitness in older horses, despite similar training stimuli. Similar findings have been previously reported in human athletes and other sport horses (Hinchcliff et al., 2013, Betros et al., 2002). Previous research conducted on Thoroughbred horses by Lightfoot et al. (2006) evidenced that the dimensions of the left ventricle increased with age and training. Thus, a higher volume of blood ejected per heartbeat could correlate with a lower peak HR during physical exertion. Our insight on the effect of age is limited, however, to only what we have been able to measure. It could be, that older horses are trained slightly differently, or are more relaxed in their surroundings than younger, relative novices. Since the effects were more obvious in Australia than France, and we know that the differences in training practices are reflected in our HR data, could suggest that the effect of age is also linked to differences in the training or handling of older horses. Other external factors could also affect young versus old horses differently such as temperature/humidity (Hargreaves et al., 1999) or rider and the tack (Byström et al., 2010).

Despite very little difference between male and female racehorses at given training intensities, there was a small, statistically significant, effect of training month (Figure 5e) but none of training session (Figure 5e) i.e., do racehorses gradually get faster, adjusted to each training session, throughout the year? To an extent, this study is likely underpowered to draw definitive conclusions on seasonality or accumulated training effects, given the variability in training between countries in different hemispheres with varying race seasons. Nevertheless, this question is of interest and could be investigated with greater fidelity with a larger dataset. We were, to an extent, limited to only the data available where an 'Equimetre' was used, and this was determined by the trainer. A prospective study on a sample of horses used for every training session throughout the year would offer more reliable data on genuine effects of study month and/or accumulated training sessions.
Study 1: Cardiovascular and locomotory parameters during training in thoroughbred racehorses: a multi-national study

The study has several limitations, which should be acknowledged. First, there is a risk of selection bias due to the method of convenience sampling. However, when both datasets are combined from each country, then the sheer size of the study should minimise any slight effects of possible selection bias. Secondly, the study design was retrospective and descriptive. As a result, there are missing data for some horses along with other variables that have not been considered such as weight or sex of the rider. Nevertheless, using mixed-effect models to analyse the data with due incorporation of possible confounders and random effects, such as different racecourses, helps to reduce any bias and skew. Equally, whilst we have accounted for track surface in our analyses, there are potentially other variables associated with certain courses at the same racetrack that we may not have been able to account for, that may influence an individual racehorse's response to training such as a track with a gradual incline or inadvertently soft sand or hard turf. Whilst in human performance, measurement of heart rate during, and recovery from, exercise has helped construct training zones and thus guide development of fitness, these parameters are less well established for equine athletes. From our data, whilst rate of recovery took longer for harder training intensities, it was less clear to see any improvement in rate of recovery of HR for a similar training session undertaken later in the training year. This, most probably, is because of insufficient numbers of equivalent training sessions extended over sufficient time for an equine athlete to display changes in 'fitness'. Studying fewer horses in standardised conditions for every training session undertaken, rather than a convenience sample of many horses for fewer training sessions may help reveal these responses. The analysis of longitudinal effects of peak HR and HR recovery at a given speed in individual horses could potentially show improvement of fitness or signs of subclinical disease. Equally, any changes in stride length within individual horses over the course of time would also be of interest. It could provide trainers with early signs of lameness and a clearer understanding of every horse's locomotory profile (i.e., milers, stayers, sprinters) to then choose the most appropriate race accordingly.

In conclusion, by using wearable technology, this study shows how simultaneous measurements of speed, cardiovascular (e.g., heart rate) and locomotory (stride length and frequency) responses may be accurately recorded in usual field conditions, revealing clear differences in training approach between countries. Further research is needed to explore and identify the physiological adaptations to training from one geographical setting to another. Additionally, such systems also have the potential to generate individualised data that could reliably inform trainers, owners and jockeys on racehorse response to training. Furthermore, at an individual level the data could likely be used to identify altered patterns of behaviour in sub-clinically injured horses by changes in stride length or frequency or those overly tired or

72

Study 1: Cardiovascular and locomotory parameters during training in thoroughbred racehorses: a multi-national study

over-trained by analysis of baseline heart rate. By using such a large dataset, we were able to show how relatively small effects nevertheless influence racehorse response to training, for example, with increasing age, peak heart rate appears to be relatively limited. Finally, track surface has marked effects on racehorse biomechanics. Technology can now help guide and influence racehorse training, likely bringing a multitude of benefits such as individualised training plans designed to optimise race preparation whilst minimising injury risk.

3.1 Abstract

The racing industry is supported by a predominance of female stablehands and work riders, but few become professional jockeys. Female jockeys have recently had notable race success. No study has assessed whether the sex of the rider may subtly influence racehorse physiology to affect performance. Here, using a validated exercise tracking system (the 'Equimetre' TM) that records many physiological parameters simultaneously, this study characterised racehorse cardiovascular (heart rate, heart rate recovery) and biomechanical (stride length and frequency) parameters at various exercise intensities (slow canter to hard gallop) to address the question whether any parameter varied according to sex of the rider. A total of 530 Thoroughbreds, varying in age (2-7 years old) and sex (including geldings), from one racing yard in Australia, completed a total of 3,568 exercise sessions, monitored by a single trainer, on varying track surfaces (sand, turf, or fibre). Different work riders,103 in total (male, n= 66; female, n= 37) of which n= 43 were current or past registered professional jockeys, participated in the study. Data were analysed using analysis of variation (ANOVA) or mixed-effect models, as appropriate. Sex of the rider did not influence (P> 0.05) racehorse speed nor stride length at any training intensity. Racehorse heart rate and peak heart rate increased with training intensity (P<.001), with no difference according to sex of rider (P> 0.05). Racehorse heart rate recovery was influenced by sex of the rider, but only at the extremes of the reversed, usual training intensity on each surface (e.g., heart rate after galloping on sand was significantly lower with male riders, P= 0.03). Finally, analysis of 52,464 race results indicated a similar chance of a top-three placing for male and female jockeys. In conclusion, this study, using objectively obtained data, demonstrates for the first time no overt effect of the rider's sex on racehorse physiology in training and performance in racing. Such data could encourage greater female participation in racing and improve access of female jockeys to better quality mounts in racing events.

3.2 Introduction

In human elite sport, athletes are almost invariably segregated by sex. Male athletes tend to perform at a faster, higher, and stronger level due to a combination of various physical and morphological advantages (Bassareo and Crisafulli, 2020). Men usually have greater lean mass, less body fat and greater aerobic and cardiovascular dimensions such as heart size and

cardiac output, suggesting a greater capacity for exercise (Durnin and Womersley, 1974). Interestingly, when male and female athletes were matched according to performance in a timed race, despite the males being taller, heavier, and with higher haemoglobin concentration the sexes did not differ in measures of aerobic performance such as VO₂max (ml·kg-1·min-1), heart rate (HR), respiratory exchange ratio, or the ventilatory equivalent of oxygen during submaximal running or at maximal exercise (Pate et al., 1985). Therefore, when obvious physical differences between males and females are taken into account, performance differences become minimal. Nevertheless, males and females likely differ in various functions unrelated to lean mass that suggest tailoring training programs, equipment or nutrition to optimise performance with these differences in mind would be beneficial (Kim et al., 2021, Felton et al., 2019, Smith et al., 2022). In any sport conducted at the highest level, the difference between winning or losing may purely be psychological. Here, men seemingly have an advantage with greater self-confidence (Woodman and Hardy, 2003), less pre-competitive anxiety (Perry and Williams, 1998) and an ability to focus purely on performance (Hanton et al., 2004) often being reported. Over the last few decades, representation of women in elite sport has markedly increased. Women were only allowed to officially compete in an Olympic marathon in 1972 (Boston, USA), whereas in Tokyo 2020, medal opportunities for male and female athletes were near parity (49% female representation rate). This represented a rise of 45% since Rio in 2016, and 38% since Sydney in 2000 (Houghton et al., 2017, International Olympic Committee, 2021). In various professional sports, female teams are increasingly being created, equality of prize money is being realised, and greater female participation rates are raising the popularity of women's sport (Claus, 2020, Oxley, 2021, Townes, 2019, Douglas, 2018).

In horse-racing, both male and female horses and male and female jockeys compete against each other in most races. An average racehorse weighs ~500-600kg, an average jockey, ~49-55 kg (e.g., see <u>https://www.racing.com/jockeys</u>). Yet, a few 100g extra, on the back of a racehorse, has been shown to influence race performance; thus, additional weights are often used in 'handicap' races, to potentially equalise any performance advantage (Oki et al., 1995, Oki et al., 1994, Buttram et al., 1988). In other equestrian sports where there is no attempt to control for perceived differences between sexes (both animal and human) such as show-jumping (McCombs and Sommers, 1983, Whitaker et al., 2012) or eventing (Whitaker, 2007), there is no evidence to suggest any influence of the riders' sex on performance. At a recreational level, in most equestrian sports, riders are predominantly female (Fox et al., 2008, Barclay, 1978, Barone and Rodgers, 1989). At an elite level, this ratio is often reversed (Dumbell et al., 2010). In horse racing, despite an increase in participation rates for female jockeys, the proportion of female/male jockeys riding at the elite level in racing nations such

75

as England, France and the USA remains low (Binder et al., 2021) and see https://www.britishhorseracing.com/racing/participants/jockeys/). Physical strength, body shape and tradition were reported by Roberts & MacLean as perceived reasons of restricted opportunities for female jockeys, or the intimidating nature of the weighing room (Roberts and MacLean, 2012). In 2018, the French racing jurisdiction 'France Galop', implemented a 2kg weight allowance for female jockeys to encourage greater use of female jockeys (France Galop, 2017). Analysis of betting behaviour on races in the UK and Ireland (Brown and Yang, 2015), or USA (Binder and Grimes, 2021), was studied as an indirect proxy for public confidence in the ability of male or female jockeys to win races. In the UK and Ireland, a slight underestimation of the ability of female jockeys to win was found between the years 2003-2013 (i.e. female jockeys won +0.3% more races than estimated from the subjective assessment of the quality of the racehorse) (Brown and Yang, 2015). In the USA, the opposite was found for better quality 'stakes' races (-2.0% (Binder and Grimes, 2021). Any successful jockey must possess a combination of strength endurance, balance, fast reaction time and flexibility to be successful (Westerling, 1983, Maddox, 1976). Such attributes are equally shared by males and females who self-select to become successful jockeys, given equal opportunities to ride quality racehorses.

Successful jockeys are thought to readily form a partnership with each racehorse (Williams and Tabor, 2017). Competition, and the anxiety associated with it – as reflected in heart rate – usually alter in parallel (i.e., increase) in both horse and rider. In certain circumstances, for example when psychological aspects (i.e. 'pressure') are further imposed, such as performing in front of a crowd, then heart rate increases in the human, but not horse (von Lewinski et al., 2013)). It is well known that in human athletes during sporting events, cortisol production increases as a result of heightened anxiety or anticipation of the event, to the benefit of their performance (Crewther et al., 2011). Similarly, cortisol level in horses is higher during competition (Peeters et al., 2013), compared to training (Bohák et al., 2018), but no difference in equine plasma cortisol was found between race winners and losers (Tavanaeimanesh et al., 2022). Thus, a multitude of complex factors including anxiety, anticipation or other psychological factors could have an effect on an individual horse's race performance. Males and females per se approach competition differently (Gill, 1986), and there is no reason to believe this does not apply to jockeys. Yet, to date, there is a paucity of data on whether sex of the rider has any effect on aspects of racehorse physiology that are important for performance (e.g., the cardiovascular system) or on the actual performance itself in races. Using such data during the routine training of racehorses also mitigates any potential effect of race-day anxiety or other psychological factors.

76

Hence, the aim of the present study, the first of its kind to date, was to leverage a large database of racehorse training data collected routinely in a single racing stable in Australia using a validated fitness tracking device to investigate whether sex of the rider has an effect on aspects of racehorse speed (slow canter to hard gallop), cardiovascular function (e.g. recovery of heart rate) or locomotion (e.g. stride length) during race-speed training sessions. Furthermore, using publicly available databases of race outcomes (win, second, third place) from Australia and the UK the study also aimed to determine whether sex of the rider has an effect on racing performance. Our hypothesis was that sex of the rider has no effect on racehorse physiology in training or performance in racing.

3.3 Material and Methods

This retrospective, observational study used two large datasets: 1) a database of racehorse training sessions collected from a single racing yard (Ciaron Maher Racing) in Australia, where sex of the work-rider was known and 2) publicly-available datasets of race results in Australia and in the UK, with sex of the jockey recorded and downloaded from https://www.racing.com/jockeys/ and

https://www.britishhorseracing.com/racing/participants/jockeys/

3.3.1 Racehorse physiological outcomes in training according to sex of the jockey

Ethical approval for this study was obtained from the University of Nottingham (School of Veterinary Medicine and Science) Research Ethics Committee (REC code: 3270 201029). The nature of this study involved no experimental protocols. All methods were carried out in accordance with relevant guidelines and regulations. The study is a retrospective, observational study of physiological data held in a database by an external company. The company work with racehorse trainers who collect data from individual horses that are owned by different individuals. The need for informed consent was waived by the Ethics Committee (School of Veterinary Medicine and Science) due to the retrospective nature of the study, and no personal information was collected on any individual beyond what the data capture device ('Equimetre') records or was inputted as part of routine data collection when exercising racehorses.

3.3.1.1 Horses

The study population represented a convenience sample and comprised 530 Thoroughbred racehorses of between 2 - 7 years of age and included males (colts/stallions; n= 100), females (fillies/mares; n=262) or geldings (n=168). Horses were tracked longitudinally as they trained

on varying surfaces throughout the year. The racehorses were all regarded by the trainer as race fit; that is, actively in-training to sustain fitness levels and compete in races during the study period (March 2020 to September 2021).

3.3.1.2 Riders

There were 103 different work riders involved in this study. Participants were either regular work-riders who had never registered as a professional race jockey or were either current or past, professionally registered jockeys. Other information such as rider's age and weight was not available. The dataset comprised female work riders (n=37), of which n=8 were current or past registered professionals on <u>https://www.racing.com/jockeys</u>, n=29 female riders had never registered as a professional. The remainder were male work riders (n=66), of which n=35 were current or previous registered professionals. n=31 male riders had never registered as a professional.

3.3.1.3 Equipment

Horses wore their regular tack and were exercised by a randomly allocated work rider. Riderhorse allocations changed for each individual training session. The device was fitted prior to training by persons accustomed to the device. An electrode was fastened at the girth and the second secured under the saddle pad in the natural dip of the back, as previously described (ter Woort et al., 2021). The fitness tracker recorded physiological and locomotory parameters during designated periods of trot, canter and gallop. All trainers and local data analysts had previously integrated the Equimetre[™] into their work regimes.

3.3.2 Training

The trainer directed each rider to work their respective horse according to given target timings for set distances, determined by a sound and light system fixed to the riders' helmet signalling to them the time taken to cover each furlong (200m). Each training session was evaluated based on the trainer's observation on the track, riders' feedback following exercise and the fitness tracker recordings ('Equimetre'™, Arioneo Ltd, France). Following exercise, all horses were systematically placed on a horse walker or walked in hand to recuperate until heart and respiratory rate had returned to a natural 'baseline'. The training locations were on racetracks or training centres with a choice of surface including sand, turf or fibre. These latter aspects were also recorded for each training session. Using the Equimetre, data were available on speed (i.e., time taken to cover 200m in seconds) recorded for each 200m segment (at 200, 400, 600, 800, 1000, 1200 and 1400m using GNSS (GPS+Glonass+Galileo) satellite data).

From these data, the Equimetre also calculated the fastest 200, 400, 600, 800 or 1000m segment. Using the 'fastest 200m' recorded, a data-driven categorisation of speed during the session from slow/medium/hard-canter to slow/medium/hard-gallop was adopted. Descriptive information on each training session was checked, and any sessions with missing information on the jockey was discarded.

3.3.3 Data collection

All data collection occurred between March 2020 to September 2021. A total of 3,568 training sessions were available with the rider recorded, with each racehorse completing 5 (2-10), median (first-third interguartile range [IQR]) training sessions. All 530 racehorses completed at least one training session, 134 racehorses completed 10 races, 22 racehorses completed 20 training sessions. Few racehorses completed ≥25 training sessions, therefore these were grouped. Month of training session was recorded for both years. From the exact date of training, the number of training sessions, and the interval between them, could also be recorded for each horse. The Equimetre recorded aspects of each horse's cardiovascular responses to exercise (e.g., heart rate, HR) during trot, canter, gallop, peak heart rate (HRpeak) and HR during recovery (HR at 15 or 30 mins or at the end of the designated training session) and aspects of locomotion (stride length and stride frequency). From these live data that were instantly recorded by the device, further analyses were able to be conducted posthoc that pertained to each training session such as the deltaHR (or rate of early recovery) ([HRpeak – HR at 15min recovery]/15), HR area under the curve (or overall recovery) (HRauc; ([HRpeak +HR at 15min]/2)+([HR at 15min+HR at 30min]/2)+ ([HR at 30min+HR at end of session]/2)). All areas under the curve (AUC) were calculated according to the trapezoid rule in Graphpad Prism (Graphpad Prism 9, Graphpad Software, La Jolla, USA). Environmental temperature and precipitation were recorded as potential covariates in any analyses.

3.3.4 Racehorse race outcomes according to sex of the jockey

3.3.4.1 Race results

For Australia, data for the 2021 racing season in Victoria state, involving all race meetings, were extracted online from <u>https://www.racing.com/jockeys/</u>. Aspects of the dataset such as venue, distance, track and class were not taken into consideration. Comparative data in the United Kingdom during the 2021 racing season, exclusively for flat race meetings, were provided by The British Horseracing Authority <u>https://www.britishhorseracing.com/racing/participants/jockeys/</u>. Both datasets included: Australia, n=169 registered jockeys (male, n=114, female, n=55); UK, n=436 registered jockeys (male, n=129). Overall, the combined dataset included a total of 52,464

race starts with all jockeys registered completing at least n=1 professional race. Recorded data included wins and win percentage (number of wins per total number of starts expressed as a percentage) for individual jockeys and, for Australia only, achieving a podium place (1st, 2nd or 3rd).

3.3.5 Statistical analysis

3.3.5.1 Training data

Any descriptive data (e.g., continuous variables) that were normally distributed (e.g., speed, stride length, stride frequency) are presented as mean (± 1 standard deviation [SD]). Similar data that were not normally distributed or categorical are presented as median (1st - 3rd interguartile range) or as percentage (of total number) for categorical variables. Data distribution was checked either by standard tests (e.g., Shapiro-Wilk test) or checking of residuals post analysis. If necessary, data were log-transformed (log₁₀) to normalise the distribution of the data prior to analysis. For some analyses, where assumptions for analysis of variance could not be met due to missing data (e.g., occasional missed speed or HR recording), then linear mixed models (restricted maximum likelihood; REML) was used, so that any missing data were assumed to be randomly distributed amongst treatment groups. Individual racehorses were included as random effects in the model to account for the reduced within-animal variation. Any available factors that were not part of the design but may influence outcome were included as co-variates (e.g., interval between training session in days, training month, temperature, precipitation). Different training centre/location was also added as further random effects when they had tracks of differing surfaces at the same location. Since few training sessions were conducted on fibre (all-weather), for further analyses of horse-level variation in cardiovascular or locomotory parameters then only sand and turf were considered, and these were analysed separately.

3.3.5.2 Race data

The percentage of race wins (i.e number of races won divided by total number of races, expressed as a percentage) as a proportion of total races entered was analysed by logistic regression with a logarithm-link function, and sex of the rider as the only fixed effect. Data for both countries were combined to increase sample size, but country was included as a fixed effect for potential secondary outcomes. With the overall win percentage estimated at 10% of total races started, in order to observe a 1% difference between male and female jockeys, with 90% power and 5% significance level would require a total sample size of n= 9781. All data were analysed using Genstat v21 (VSNi Ltd, Rothamsted, Harpenden, UK). Statistical significance was accepted at P<0.05.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Descriptive data of the cohort; number, type and intensity of training session by sex of work-rider

Female riders completed a higher proportion of the total number of training sessions in this cohort (n=1868 of 3568, 52.4%). The number of training sessions ridden by female riders was 19 (4 - 76) versus 9 (3 - 23) for male riders. The average distance horses were exercised was not different according to sex of the rider, female, 1981 (1701 - 2155); male, 1861 (1564 -2160) metres, median (IQR). As the speed of the session increased from slow canter to hard gallop, the proportion of male riders increased (Figure 6a). Data for training sessions using an Equimetre were available from March 2020 to September 2021. Sessions were conducted on all three surfaces (fibre, turf and sand) throughout the year and gradually increased in frequency, reaching a maximum number of sessions (>400) in July-August 2021 (Figure 6b). Similarly, the number of training sessions stratified by training intensity (i.e., soft canter to hard gallop) followed the pattern of total training sessions over the course of both years with no marked variation in any particular month (Figure 6c). However, when considering the track surface chosen for specific training intensities then it was clear that the majority of canters and gallops were conducted on sand and turf, respectively (Figure 6d). For each track surface, variation in training intensity existed but, for example, only n=3 (of 1381, 0.2%) hard gallops were conducted on sand, and only n=28 (of 2165, 1.2%) soft canters were conducted on turf.



Figure. **a,b,c,d**: Data are numbers of training sessions stratified by training intensity, month of the year or track surface. A total of 3568 training sessions were included in this dataset from a single trainer in Australia. Data were available throughout the year. Training intensity (soft/med/hard canter; soft/med/hard gallop) was derived from calculating sextiles of the fastest furlong (200m interval) for the overall dataset. Statistics were generated by analysing proportions (percentage of group total) by chi-square (Genstat v20, VSNi, Rothampsted, UK).

3.4.2 Racehorse speed, stride length and effect of training on differing surfaces by sex of workrider

Racehorses increase speed by partially increasing stride frequency (by ~ 19% and 20% for horses ridden by female and male riders, respectively) but with a far greater increment in stride length, which increases by ~56% and 57%, respectively; Table 6). The increment in speed with training intensity is not linear; that is, near maximal speeds are achieved at 'soft gallop' with only small increases thereafter (Table 6). The mean time taken for any 200m segment (i.e., each furlong) gradually decreases, the further the training distance, with no effect of rider sex on either turf or sand (Figure 7a,b). Stride length also increased with training intensity in a curvilinear fashion on both training surfaces, with no effect of sex of the rider (Table 6, Figure 7c,d). When training sessions were grouped according to the first 10 conducted versus the next 11-20+, and age of horse was adjusted for, and all heart rates recorded for each horse were analysed in a repeat-measures analysis from trot through canter to peak HR then a small, but statistically significant signal for lower HR during canter and soft-medium gallop on turf (Figure 7e) and sand (Figure 7f) was observed.

Parameter	Rider	Soft	Med	Hard	Soft	Med	Hard	P-value
i di di li	Sex	Canter	Canter	Canter	Gallop	Gallop	Gallop	sex
Best 200m	Male	20.9 ± 2.2	15.9 ± 1.2	12.9 ± 0.5	11.8 ± 0.2	11.3 ±	10.8 ± 0.2	0.16
(secs)	Female	21.1 ± 2.2	16.3 ± 1.2	13.1 ± 0.6	11.8 ± 0.2	11.3 ±	10.8 ± 0.2	0.10
Best 600m	Male	65.8 ± 9.5	49.7 ± 3.9	41.0 ± 2.0	$\textbf{37.4} \pm \textbf{1.1}$	$35.6 \pm$	34.2 ± 0.9	0.07
(secs)	Female	66.5 ± 8.3	51.0 ± 4.4	41.4 ± 2.8	$\textbf{37.6} \pm \textbf{1.1}$	$35.9 \pm$	34.5 ± 1.0	0101
Max speed	Male	$\textbf{35.5} \pm \textbf{3.5}$	46.1 ± 3.4	56.1 ± 2.6	61.0 ± 1.0	$63.7~\pm$	66.5 ± 1.4	0.20
(kph)	Female	$\textbf{35.1} \pm \textbf{3.4}$	$\textbf{45.0} \pm \textbf{3.4}$	55.7 ± 2.6	61.0 ± 1.1	$\textbf{63.6} \pm$	$\textbf{66.5} \pm \textbf{1.4}$	0.20
Peak heart rate	Male	196 ± 24	216 ± 20	218 ± 15	218 ± 18	$218 \ \pm$	218 ± 17	0.29
(bpm)	Female	195 ± 24	210 ± 22	218 ± 16	217 ± 17	$216\ \pm$	215 ± 13	
Heart rate at 15min (bnm)	Male	61 ± 11	72 ± 15	83 ± 15	93 ± 18	95 ± 19	101 ± 18	0.89
near rate at 15mm (bpm)	Female	61 ± 11	67 ± 14	85 ± 17	94 ± 18	97 ± 16	102 ± 16	
HP recovery auc (unite)	Male	165 ± 23	188 ± 29	203 ± 33	217 ± 38	$216 \pm$	218 ± 47	0.02
HR recovery aud (units)	Female	168 ± 23	184 ± 28	212 ± 30	223 ± 38	$\textbf{226} \pm$	$\textbf{229} \pm \textbf{41}$	
Stride frequency (strides per sec)	Male	$2.05 \ \pm$	$\textbf{2.17} \pm \textbf{0.09}$	$\textbf{2.28} \pm \textbf{0.09}$	2.35 ± 0.08	$\textbf{2.39} \pm$	$\textbf{2.44} \pm \textbf{0.09}$	0.73
	Female	$2.04~\pm$	$\textbf{2.17} \pm \textbf{0.10}$	$\textbf{2.29} \pm \textbf{0.09}$	$\textbf{2.35} \pm \textbf{0.07}$	$\textbf{2.40} \pm$	$\textbf{2.45} \pm \textbf{0.08}$	
Stride length	Male	4.87 ±	5.92 ± 0.36	$\textbf{6.87} \pm$	$\textbf{7.27} \pm \textbf{0.25}$	$\textbf{7.47} \pm$	$\textbf{7.62} \pm \textbf{0.30}$	0.07
(meters)	Female	$4.83 \pm$	5.78 ± 0.38	6.77 ±	$\textbf{7.24} \pm \textbf{0.23}$	$7.43 \pm$	$\textbf{7.61} \pm \textbf{0.28}$	0.07

Values are Mean ± 1SD for continuous data recorded by 'Equimetre' (n=530 different racehorses, n=3568 different training sessions). Data were available throughout the year. Training intensity (soft/med/hard canter; soft/med/hard gallop) was derived from calculating sextiles of the fastest furlong (200m interval) for the overall dataset. Data were analysed by linear mixed models (REML) for the main effect of jockey sex, training type and their pre-specified interaction. Due to multiple training sessions for each racehorse and each rider, their individual IDs were included in the statistical model as nested, random effects. All data analyses were conducted using Genstat v20 (VSNi, UK).



Figure. **a,d**: Values are predicted mean \pm S.E.M. for continuous data recorded by 'Equimetre' in a cohort of racehorses in Australia (n=130 different racehorses, n=1,754 different training sessions). Data were available throughout the year. Training intensity (soft/med/hard canter; soft/med/hard gallop) was derived from calculating sextiles of the fastest furlong (200m interval) for the overall dataset. The statistical model generated predicted means (\pm S.E.M.) with the pre-specified interaction, training intensity × rider sex (or training session, **e**,**f**) fitted last after inclusion of rider registration status and track surface as fixed effects, HorseID and rider name as random effects, since both horses and riders completed multiple sessions. All data analyses were conducted using Genstat v20 (VSNi, UK) and graphs produced using Graphpad Prism v9.0 (La Jolla, USA).

3.4.3 Racehorse cardiovascular responses to incremental training intensity by sex of workrider

During warm-up, heart rate (HR) for the racehorses in first recorded trot, according to sex of the rider, was: male, 131 ± 1.1 vs. female, 127 ± 1.1 beats/min, P = 0.02. During first canter, HR of the horses increased as expected, eliminating any difference by sex of the rider: male, 168 \pm 1.4 vs. female, 166 \pm 1.4 beats/min, P = 0.38 (Figure 8a,b). Incorporating heart rate peak, which was not significantly different according to sex of the rider (Figure 8c), with recovery of racehorse heart rate (predominantly over the first 15min after the training session), through 30mins after then end of the session (i.e. the walk back to stables;) allows for the overall area-under-the-response-curve (AUC) to be calculated for the session or for overall recovery (Figure 8d). Over the period of greatest rate of recovery (i.e., to 15mins), the delta HR ([peakHR minus HR at 15mins]/15) showed differences based on the sex of the rider on turf, but not sand (Figure 8e,f). That is, for the relatively slower training sessions conducted on turf then horses appeared to recover faster with a male rider. Delta heart rate is primarily driven by the peak heart rate achieved, which itself is influenced by the training intensity. Therefore, this analysis, and the potential signal for an effect of sex of the rider was further drawn out in AUC analyses at 15min recovery (more influenced by peak HR) and from 15 to 30min recovery (less influenced by peak HR).



Figure. **a,b,c,e,f:** Values are predicted mean \pm S.E.M. for continuous data recorded by 'Equimetre' in a cohort of racehorses in Australia (n=130 different racehorses, n=1,754 different training sessions). Data were available throughout the year. Training intensity (soft/med/hard canter; soft/med/hard gallop) was derived from calculating sextiles of the fastest furlong (200m interval) for the overall dataset. The statistical model generated predicted means (\pm S.E.M.) with the pre-specified interaction, training intensity × rider sex fitted last after inclusion of rider registration status and track surface as fixed effects. HorseID and rider name were included as random effects, since both horses and riders completed multiple sessions. d) describes calculation of delta HR and HR area-under-the-response-curve. All data analyses were conducted using Genstat v20 (VSNi, UK) and graphs produced using Graphpad Prism v9.0 (La Jolla, USA).

3.4.4 Racehorse recovery of heart rate after incremental training intensity by sex of work-rider

Overall racehorse recovery of heart rate, with larger numbers indicating a greater area and thus more beats/min, was influenced by the sex of the rider but *only* at certain training intensities on specific track surfaces (Figure 9a-d). That is, on turf where the majority of fast gallops are conducted, then racehorses appeared to recover more slowly at 15 and 30min (larger AUC for HR) with a male rider, but this observation was only at soft-medium canters i.e. at the paces rarely, but not unusually (n=119 canters on turf) conducted on that surface (Figure 9a,c). In contrast, the opposite was observed on sand; racehorses recovered more quickly with male riders, but only after medium-hard gallops (n=68 gallops on sand; Figure 9b,d). Accumulation of training sessions had little effect on the rate of recovery of heart rate (Figure 9e,f). In summary, sex of the rider being male only influenced recovery of racehorse heart rate when horses were exercised at the training intensity rarely conducted on that particular surface e.g., during steady cantering on turf, where most gallops occur and during hard gallops on sand, where the majority of canters were conducted.



Figure. **a,b,c,d**: Values are predicted mean \pm S.E.M. for continuous data recorded by 'Equimetre' in a cohort of racehorses in Australia (n=130 different racehorses, n=1,754 different training sessions). Data were available throughout the year. Training intensity (soft/med/hard canter; soft/med/hard gallop) was derived from calculating sextiles of the fastest furlong (200m interval) for the overall dataset. The statistical model generated predicted means (\pm S.E.M.) with the pre-specified interaction, training intensity × rider sex fitted last after inclusion of rider registration status and track surface as fixed effects. HorseID and rider name were included as random effects, since both horses and riders completed multiple sessions. HR area-under-the-response-curve (AUC) calculated as described in methods. All data analyses were conducted using Genstat v20 (VSNi, UK) and graphs produced using Graphpad Prism v9.0 (La Jolla, USA).

3.4.5 Race results

There were far more registered male professional jockeys than female in both UK and Australia. Overall, male jockeys had a small, but significantly greater win percentage compared to female jockeys (female, $9.9 \pm 0.5\%$; male, $11.0 \pm 0.2\%$: F-prob, 0.03). However, the effect was influenced by country; in Australia the effect size was significant (female, 7.9 ± 0.8 vs. male, $10.4 \pm 0.4\%$) but in the UK it was not (female, 10.7 ± 0.7 vs. male, $11.3 \pm 0.2\%$). In Australia, there was no difference between male and female jockeys achieving a top three 'podium' position (female, 25 (10 - 35) %; males, 27 (18 - 35) %, Mann-Whitney U test, *P*=0.20).

3.5 Discussion

No study has directly, and objectively, compared whether female *versus* male jockeys influence any aspect of racehorse physiology (e.g., heart rate) or performance (e.g., speed, stride length). This study, the first of its kind to date, sought to ascertain whether sex of the rider has a measurable difference (positive or negative) on racehorse performance physiology such as speed (e.g., during race-pace training sessions), cardiovascular function (e.g., maximum heart rate, heart rate recovery) or locomotion (e.g., stride length) during training. In addition, we asked whether sex of the jockey has a significant effect on a successful race outcome i.e., either by winning or achieving a top-three placing. There was no overt effect of the sex of the rider on any aspect of racehorse speed or stride length, at race-speed training intensities. However, when the converse training intensity was conducted on the opposite, usual training surface (e.g., a slow canter on turf or a fast gallop on sand, both of which were unusual) then small, but significant physiological effects – reduced or greater rates of recovery of racehorse heart rate, respectively – were observed. Female jockeys had very similar racing success compared to male jockeys. Hence, we suggest that sex of the jockey has few direct effects on racehorse physiology or performance.

In this study, there was a clear difference in the proportion of training sessions completed by male or female work-riders. Despite a lower number of female (n=37) compared to male riders (n=64), female riders completed a higher number of training sessions (52.4%) than male riders (47.6%). This contrasts with a previous study, and our current data, where in actual races, there are fewer female riders getting proportionately fewer race rides (Ray and Grimes, 1993). Thus, despite female riders completing many more work-rides in training, fewer appear to progress to become professionals, securing race-rides. This observation questions equal racing opportunities between female and male jockeys. Indeed, in training rides, as the

90

intensity of the training session increases, far more male riders are used, with female workriders completing most slower, canter sessions. This variation may be explained by an unconscious bias made by trainers; the assumption that male riders with greater strength are more suited to higher work intensities. However, our data show that there is no evidence to support this contention; for all training intensities as directed by the trainer, there was no difference in the fastest 200m between racehorses ridden by a male or female work-rider (across 3,568 training sessions).

The faster training sessions may be preferentially ridden by registered professional jockeys of which many more are men. In our dataset, a far greater proportion of 'gallop' sessions were conducted by past or current race registered male professional jockeys (male, 31.8% vs. female, 4.5%). This could, separately to the study, reflect an effect of rider's experience on racehorse performance: trainers choosing to use riders with greater race experience to recapitulate a race environment in training. In Australia, the majority of high-intensity workouts (i.e., gallops) were conducted on turf, while canters were completed on sand. This is consistent with the findings of Morrice-West et al. (2018), who surveyed Australian trainers on the use of track surfaces for training. Sand or synthetic 'all-weather' surfaces were commonly used for slow workouts, while gallop work was conducted on turf. It is likely, therefore, that racehorses anticipate certain training intensities according to the track surface. Supporting this contention, in our study, heart rate at trot prior to galloping on grass was 124 ± 26 beats/min (mean \pm S.D.) versus 114 ± 26 beats/min prior to a gallop on sand, where most canters occur. Racehorses no doubt anticipate the type of training session they are about to conduct. Additionally, the greater number of training sessions in 2021, may be explained by a possible increase in the number of Equimetre trackers at hand.

To increase speed from canter to gallop, horses increase frequency of their stride, to an extent, but speed predominantly increases due to an extended stride length, as reported here and previously by others (Ratzlaff et al., 1985). Near maximal speeds (55-60kph) were attained at a training intensity of 'soft-gallop' and only minimally increased thereafter. We acknowledge that speed can be affected by the track condition (i.e. a harder turf or relatively softer sand (Maeda et al., 2012)), which was not measured in this study, but the size of our dataset would limit these relatively small effects. Here, the mean time taken for a horse to cover a furlong (200m), regardless of distance of the training session, did not differ according to the sex of the work rider. As expected, the longer the training session (for example, from 1500m to 3000m), then the average time taken to cover each furlong gradually increased (see Figure 6a,b), suggesting a gradual slowing. Interestingly, riding style can influence racehorse speed; a crouched posture reduces aerodynamic drag and can improve racing times by up to 5-7%

(Pfau et al., 2009). Whilst this was not measured in the current study, we assume that male and female work-riders, wearing body protectors, do not adopt significantly different riding postures in training.

Stride length increased with training intensity but was not affected by the work rider's sex. Information on the riders' weights was not obtained for the study. Nevertheless, we appreciate that an increment in the rider's weight has the potential to reduce the stride length of horses and alter performance (Gunnarsson et al., 2017). The rider's experience, registered race professional versus non-registered race professional was accounted for and no marked effect on speed or stride was highlighted. These findings run counter to those of (Kapaun et al., 1998), who found that horses ridden by professional riders had the highest trotting speed and the longest stride length compared to horses mounted by a hobby-rider. The effect of accumulated training sessions on heart rates of horses on both turf and sand, revealed greater fitness levels (i.e., lower heart rate for the same intensity) in horses having completed 11 - 20+ workouts. Age of the horse was included as a confounder, which couldn't have influenced our results for this observation. Indeed, heart rates during submaximal exercise provide a means of monitoring the adaptation of the cardiovascular system to chronic exercise, commonly referred as the 'fitness' status of an athlete. Foreman drew similar conclusions in Thoroughbreds undergoing exercise testing at different intensities; heart rate was lower following a conventional training program (Foreman, 1984).

Racehorse training and racing requires the cooperative effort of two distinctive individuals: horses and humans. Indeed, in any equestrian discipline including racing, positive interaction between horse and rider is paramount to cope with the emotional and physical challenges of the demands of training and the stress of competing. A few studies have described how equine cardiovascular responses interact with the rider; in one, fear or distress signals of the rider were not faithfully transmitted to the horse, as reflected in disparate heart rate responses (Merkies et al., 2014). However, optimally 'matched' horse-rider combinations translated into reduced HR responses of horses to novel stimuli (Munsters et al., 2012). Here, there was no effect of sex of the rider on racehorse heart rate, nor the peak of heart rate, during training at differing exercise intensities. That is, when male and female work-riders are instructed to exercise the racehorses at tempo (canters) or race-pace (gallops) then both do just that - there was no measurable difference, according to sex of the rider - on racehorse speed or on racehorse cardiovascular response. However, it has been shown that rider 'emotion/nerves' can be faithfully transmitted to the horse. For example, when exposed to a novel stimulus (Christensen et al., 2006) or mounted for the first time by a novel rider (Schmidt et al., 2010), horses respond with an increase in heart rate. When the rider, but not horse, knows in advance

92

that a novel stimulus/object that is known to cause the horse to startle is about to be encountered, the increment in rider heart rate, in anticipation, is matched by an increment in the horses heart rate (Keeling et al., 2009). Such acute fight-or-flight responses, most likely mediated by catecholamines and the stress hormone, cortisol, may facilitate improved training responses via energy mobilisation (Reynaert et al., 1976) and/or activated behavioural responses (Korte, 2001).

Whilst in this study we found few effects of sex of the rider on the racehorse, we did note a significant effect on recovery of heart rate (see Figure 5), but only at each extreme of exercise intensity when conducted on the track surface that was opposite to that usually used for that exercise intensity; that is, for example, only after medium-hard gallops on sand, heart rate was lower when ridden by a male jockey, whereas after slow canters on grass, heart rate was significantly higher when ridden by a male jockey. Most gallops are done on grass and slow canters on sand. We interpret this response as indicating that male work-riders, more so than female, may anticipate the 'expected' training-intensity on a given surface and their higher or lower heart rate may be being transmitted through to the horse. Without simultaneous measurement of work-rider heart rate, we cannot confirm this point but it is intriguing and has been noted in other circumstances (Saad and Vongas, 2009). Further prospective data collection is warranted to confirm this observation. The extent to which male work-riders 'push' the horses more (i.e., reaching the horses peak HR sooner) on turf, despite instructions to exercise horses at low speed is unknown, but there was no difference in average speed between rider sex at differing training intensities on each surface. It is also possible that for faster sessions on sand (it is unlikely to have happened for slow canters on turf) that changes in work rider for the main galloping session may have provoked changes in the horses' heart rate. Nevertheless, this is only likely to have occurred for faster gallop sessions on sand, where we observed relatively faster recovery of heart rate with male riders aboard. The observations on AUC may be limited by the lack of data on the resting heart rate of the horses. However, this observation was only observed during recovery, where the final recorded heart rate was close to, if not below, usual resting heart rate of racehorses.

In addition to the training data, the study also used publicly available race data to investigate whether male or female jockeys have greater competitive success. While small effects were observed in Australia for win percentage (~1% favouring male jockeys), but not for a placing in the top three of each race, no difference was observed in the UK. Hence, based on our analysis, we conclude that the sex of the rider does not significantly influence racehorse performance in competitive races. The ~1% difference is likely attributable to factors not recorded in our dataset, such as male riders getting more rides on better horses with a higher

rating and therefore more likely to win in the first place. We were not able to get the starting odds for all the races to adjust for the 'quality' of the races. A previous study suggested that women win 0.3% more races than the British and Irish racing markets predict (Brown and Yang, 2015), suggesting that, as far as betting behaviour goes, there may be a slight underestimation of the ability of female jockeys to win races.

The study has a few limitations which should be acknowledged. First, there is a risk of selection bias due to the method of convenience sampling. However, the large sample size should minimise such an effect. Secondly, the study design is retrospective and descriptive. As a result, there are missing data for some riders and horses, along with other variables that have not been considered such as riders anxiety levels, heart rate responses and weight. Active management of the latter, particularly for professional jockeys could have influenced rider performance, although this is unlikely during routine training sessions as recorded in our study. Significant effects of rapid weight loss (i.e. 2% dehydration), have been noted to reduce performance, for example a 5% reduction of leg strength and 14% reduction in chest strength, with no effect on cognition (Wilson et al., 2014b). Our datasets do not record whether or not any work-rider was to any extent, injured or was carrying any unreported injury, which could impact performance. We have no reason to suspect a substantial bias between males/females with or without injuries in our dataset, despite studies outlining that riders do not necessarily rest or fully recuperate when injured (Rueda et al., 2010). Nevertheless, using mixed-effect models to analyse the data with due incorporation of any possible hitherto unforeseen confounders should mean that any missing data or confounding factors are distributed at random, minimising any inherent bias in our data.

The number of training sessions available for each individual rider was not balanced; many riders had only participated in <5 training sessions, while some had participated in >100. However, we were not as interested in individual rider effects and incorporating jockeyID in REML models, allows for such unbalanced datasets. When grouped by our main outcome, sex of the jockey, then the proportions of sessions were approximately even overall. Future studies could also include the horse's body weight (if recorded routinely), plasma lactate and cortisol in the racehorses and aspects of the rider's physical status (e.g., heart rate) which could provide novel insight into the unique interactions between different riders and different horses. Further research could expand on performance profiling in both male and female riders across different racing nations and types of racing (e.g., National Hunt or jump-racing).

To conclude, by leveraging a relatively small, but well-controlled dataset, we were able to demonstrate for the first time no overt effect of the rider's sex on racehorse physiology in

training and performance in racing. Using measurements from objective fitness tracking systems, no marked sex differentials between work riders were observed on racehorse cardiovascular physiology, locomotory profiles and speed in race-speed training sessions. Furthermore, no marked effect of sex of the rider was noted on hard outcomes such as race performance; the chance of achieving a top three position during >52,000 competitive races. Therefore, this study provides objective evidence that female jockeys are as effective as male jockeys on racehorse physiology and performance. The data should encourage greater female participation in racing and improve access of female jockeys to higher quality racehorses competing in more prestigious races.

Chapter 4 Study 3: Locomotory profiles in Thoroughbreds: peak stride length and frequency in training and association with race outcomes

4.1 Abstract

Racehorses competing in short (i.e., 'sprinters'), middle- or longer-distance (i.e., 'stayers') flat races are assumed to have natural variation in locomotion; sprinters having an innately shorter stride than stayers. No study has objectively tested this theory. Here, racehorses (n= 421) were categorised as sprinters, milers or stayers based on known race distance (n= 3269 races). Stride parameters (peak length and frequency) of those racehorses were collected from prior race-pace training sessions on turf (n= 2689; 'jumpout', n= 1013), using a locomotion monitoring device. Pedigree information for all 421 racehorses was extracted to three-generations. In training, sprinters had a shorter stride of higher frequency and covered consecutive furlongs faster than stayers (P < 0.001). Relatively short or longer stride did not predict race success, but stayers had greater race success than sprinters (P < 0.001). Peak stride length and frequency were moderately heritable ($h^2 = 0.15$ and 0.20, respectively). In conclusion, differences in stride were apparent between sprinters and stayers (e.g., shorter stride in sprinters) during routine training, even after accounting for their pedigree. Objective data on stride characteristics could supplement other less objectively obtained parameters to benefit trainers in the appropriate selection of races for each individual racehorse.

4.2 Introduction

In flat racing, Thoroughbreds compete in various types of races usually categorised as short (<1500m), middle (1600–2500m) or long (>2500m) distance. Racehorses are usually considered to be naturally predisposed to one type of race distance, due to various physiological and morphological characteristics such as size, musculature (Tozaki et al., 2011), and stride (Hellander et al., 1983). Genetics is also important (Hill et al., 2010), although the precise contribution of genetics versus environmental variables which classify successful sprinters or stayers are relatively undefined. Nevertheless, subjective information is often used by many buyers and trainers of racehorses to assign them to become predominantly short or longer-distance performers. Even so, many racehorses initially race at shorter-distance, but subsequently perform better at longer-distances (i.e., 'sprinter-miler' or miler-stayer'). It is a common assumption and practice that racehorses are trained similarly, regardless of their

labelling as a 'sprinter' or 'stayer'. In human sport, the training regimes of 100 m sprinters will contrast markedly to marathoners; short anaerobic bursts of speed requiring high muscular energy versus high aerobic capacity, efficient fuel utilisation and fatigue resistance (Kusy and Zielinski, 2015, Thompson, 2017). If trainers could complement their own assessment of a racehorses' best distance (i.e., subjective experience or their 'eye') with objectively obtained training data that classified the racehorses on locomotory characteristics that distinguished a sprinter from a stayer, then more specific training sessions could be implemented to increase the chances of better performance earlier in the racehorses' careers: horses would race at their appropriate distances and wastage could be reduced. Monitoring speed and stride length over time allows trainers to identify or anticipate musculoskeletal injuries early on during racehorse training (Wong et al., 2022).

Early determination of any type of racehorse involves complex decisions and multiple parameters. For example, shorter distance races (i.e., those at a distance of < 7 furlongs or ~1400m) require explosive speed and rapid, short strides to quickly reach maximum speed. Such a racehorse is often of shorter stature and greater muscularity, much like human sprinters. In contrast, racehorses that excel over longer-distance (>12 furlongs or ~2500m) require stamina, often associated with leanness and longer strides. Because such disparity in phenotype can underpin sports performance, genetic testing has grown in popularity across the racing industry (Hill et al., 2010, Tozaki et al., 2011). Variation in single-nucleotide polymorphisms of the myostatin gene (MSTN), which controls muscle development, has shown that nearly all sprinters are homozygous ('C/C') at the MSTN locus, while heterozygous ('C/T') horses tend to favour middle-distance races (7–12 furlongs; 1400 m–2400 m). Racehorses homozygous ('T/T') appear better suited to longer distance races (>10 furlongs, 2000 m), according to previously obtained race performance (Hill et al., 2010, Binns et al., 2010, Tozaki et al., 2010, Tozaki et al., 2010, Binns et al., 2010, Tozaki et al., 2010).

It is axiomatic that in order to win any competition based on speed, the fastest individual will get to the finish line first. Racehorses increase speed firstly by increasing stride frequency (SF) up to a pace consistent with gallop (45+ kph) and then by increasing stride length (SL; 45–65+ kph) (Clayton, 2016, Schrurs et al., 2022b). Therefore, in sprint races of shorter distance, the racehorse that is able to rapidly increase, or maintain a higher stride frequency, is more likely to achieve a higher speed and good performance. Over longer distances, longer stride becomes more important, alongside endurance capacity (Deuel and Park, 1990). For decades, breeders and trainers have attempted to relate the physiological characteristics of racehorses during their training to their race-day performance (Saastamoinen and Barrey, 2000). Objective measurements of locomotory parameters have only recently become available for racehorse

trainers, allowing them to potentially ascertain whether a young racehorse has a greater aptitude for sprinting or longer-distance races (Schrurs et al., 2022b). However, to date, no study has related race performance over multiple seasons with information on locomotory profile in training–do racehorses that have only raced in sprint races demonstrate an innately shorter stride early on in training? With the advent of smart devices that record multiple parameters in the equine athlete, the possibility for such an early insight into locomotory differences between sprinters, milers or stayers is now possible. A better understanding of individual horse stride characteristics could help racehorse professionals select suitable race distances, while also taking into account their own experience at placing racehorses in suitable meetings alongside other historical aspects of how racehorse conformation and pedigree information can influence such decisions. No study has specifically evaluated stride patterns in different types of racehorses (stratified by performance in short, middle or longer distance races) and retrospectively assessed locomotory profile in training in the same racehorses, considering their pedigree information, to account for the influence of genetics on racing outcomes.

Hence, in the present study, an observational study was conducted, using a fitness tracking device to study peak stride (length and frequency) in racing Thoroughbreds categorised according to the type of turf race they have participated in (sprint, mile or staying' race; based on distance) and their subsequent racing result (win/podium/top5). Using this classification of racehorses according to their race distance, we have retrospectively classified the training data of the same horses galloping at race-speed on turf to observe whether any differences in locomotory parameters were apparent in training sessions prior to and during subsequent races. We were further able to determine whether any training parameters within each category of racehorse could predict race performance. The primary hypothesis of the study is that racehorses categorised according to race distance (sprinter/miler/stayers) may be distinguished in training by having relatively short, medium or long stride, respectively when analysed at race speed (soft-medium-hard gallop session or 'jumpout'). Secondary hypotheses are: 1) sprinters-milers-stayers with relatively short or long stride within each category are more successful in their respective races, and 2) that locomotory parameters have moderate-to-high heritability. Finally, since many racehorses compete in different types of races (e.g., sprint, mile and/or staying race) we analysed the extent to which locomotory profiles (e.g., peak stride frequency, length) in training evolved over time within individual horses throughout the race season.

4.3 Material and Methods

4.3.1 Databases

This retrospective, observational study used three large datasets, all including the same cohort of racehorses: (1) racehorse training sessions: collected by means of a fitness tracker (the 'Equimetre'[™]) from a single racing yard (Ciaron Maher Racing) in Victoria, Australia (2) racehorse pedigree information: publicly available and downloaded from https: //www.pedigreequery.com (accessed 4 August 2022) (3) race results: available upon subscription in Australia, with race data recorded and downloaded from http://www.racing.com (accessed 7 July 2022).

4.3.2 Designation of racehorses according to race distance

A total of n = 421 racehorses participating in a total of n = 3269 races were included in this study. Races were categorised according to class of race. In Australia, Group and Listed races are those established by the Australian Racing Board to reflect the highest standard of racing for races run in Australia. Group 1 are the highest-class races, followed by Group 2, Group 3 and Listed races. In this study, the highest-class races (n= 347, 10.6% of total) comprised; Group 1 (n= 65 of 3269 races; 1.9 %), Group 2 (n= 55 races, 1.6%), Group 3 (n= 97 races, 2.9%) and Listed (n= 130 races, 3.9%), whereas all other races were classed as Uncategorised (n= 2922 races; 89.7%). Race distance was known from http://www.racing.com (accessed on 28 October 2022) and was classified for this particular study as a 'sprint' race< 1600m, 'mile race' 1601-2500m or 'staying race' > 2501m. All races were conducted on turf between 20 March 2020 to 13 May 2022. Five types of racehorse were created: (1) pure sprinterexclusively racing over sprint distance only (n= 265 horses, 1563 races); (2) sprinter-miler, competing predominantly in sprint but also some mile races (n= 81 horses, 775 races); (3) miler, pure mile races only (n= 22 horses, 167 races); (4) sprinter-miler-stayer, competing in all types of race (n= 37 horses, 327 races) and (5) stayer-miler, purely or predominantly racing at stayer distance with some mile races (n= 16 horses, 131 races). Racehorses were aged between 2-10 years of age at the time of racing and included males (colts/stallions; n= 33 average age, 2.93 ± 0.42 years), females (fillies/mares; n= 197, 3.88 ± 0.90 years), geldings (n= 174, 4.67 \pm 1.42 years) or of unknown/unrecorded sex (n= 17, 3.76 \pm 0.69 years). All race data were extracted online from http://www.racing.com, accessed on 28 October 2022. Other aspects of the dataset such as venue, track condition, carried weight, handicap, rating and prize money were recorded.

4.3.3 Training data

Horses wore their regular tack and were exercised by a randomly allocated work rider, who varied according to individual training sessions. A tracking device ('Equimetre™', Arioneo, Ltd. Paris, France) was fitted to the girth prior to training by persons accustomed to using the device, as previously described (ter Woort et al., 2021). The device recorded locomotory parameters (peak stride length and frequency) alongside speed (by GNSS) and cardiovascular parameters (peak HR), as previously described in detail (Schrurs et al., 2022b). The trainer determined the nature of each individual training session, directing the work-rider as appropriate. The Equimetre was not systematically placed on each horse for every individual training session, rather for specific sessions. From the GNSS (GPS + Glonass + Galileo) satellite data, speed (i.e., time taken to cover 200m in seconds) recorded for each 200 m segment (at 200, 400, 600, 800, 1000, 1200 and 1400m) was recorded. The fastest 200 m was then used to designate the session as soft, medium or hard gallop. All training sessions at gallop were conducted on turf. In addition, a separate dataset of 'jumpout' training sessions were available for analysis with similar logged data. These sessions aim to replicate race-day barrier trials and conditions. Horses of similar ability are grouped to 'race' simultaneously from starting gates for the duration of the training session. All jumpout sessions were also conducted on turf. All training data were collected between 7 April 2020 to 19 April 2022 and comprised a total of 2689 training sessions, with 12 (8–19) median (first-third interguartile range [IQR] per racehorse. From the exact date of training, together with the exact race date, the number of days prior to each race plus the interval in days between races could also be recorded for each horse. Final datasets were checked for artifacts and corrected accordingly in MS Excel. Environmental temperature and precipitation were recorded as potential covariates in any analyses. Using the hard outcome of race performance in races of known distance to classify five categories of racehorse from sprinter to stayer, then the same categorisation was applied retrospectively to all 421 racehorses during their gallop training sessions that occurred prior to, and during the two race seasons as recorded here (2020 to 2022).

4.3.4 Pedigree data

For each individual racehorse, an online search was first conducted on the Thoroughbred. Pedigree Database http://www.pedigreequery.com, accessed on 28 October 2022 to obtain a three-generation pedigree for all 421 individual racehorses The resulting pedigree dataset consisted of n= 2690 horses from 629 sires (259 of which were founders), and 1628 dams (693 founders). Where racehorses were either not present or multiple racehorses with the same name existed, then data were cross-checked using a further database (Equineline.com). The data for each individual racehorse was then manually reverified on

100

http://www.racing.com/horses/, accessed on 28 October 2022 for trainer, horse age, sex and racing profile. As a further check, using a random number generator in MS Excel (between 001–421), ten further racehorses were cross-checked for accuracy. The final three generation pedigree was used to estimate heritability.

4.3.5 Statistical analysis

Any normally distributed descriptive data (e.g., peak stride length, stride frequency) are presented as mean (±1 standard deviation [SD]). Similar data that were not normally distributed or categorical are presented as median (1st-3rd interguartile range) or as percentage (of total number) for categorical variables. Data distribution was checked either by standard tests (e.g., Shapiro-Wilk test) or checking of residuals post analysis. If necessary, data was logtransformed (log10) to normalise the distribution of the data prior to analysis. For some analyses, where assumptions for analysis of variance (ANOVA) could not be met due to occasional missing data (e.g., artefacts removed or no data present), linear mixed models (restricted maximum likelihood; REML) were used with the main effect of interest fitted as a fixed effect and HorseID or racecourse fitted as random effects. This statistical model assumes that occasional missing data are distributed at random amongst fixed effects. Other potentially confounding factors that were not part of the design but may influence outcome, as assessed by univariate analysis (P < 0.10) were included as co-variates (e.g., interval between race days, temperature, precipitation). Estimates of heritability were generated using a sparse inverse relationship matrix ('ainv') generated for all 421 racehorses and their three-generation pedigree. Combining the pedigree file with phenotypic outcomes such as stride length in an animal model (i.e., using REML) allowed us to obtain variance parameters and narrow sense heritability estimates (additive genetic variance; Genstat v21, VSNi, Rothamsted, Harpenden, UK). Approximate standardised error (SE) for h² was obtained using the delta method, which uses a Taylor's expansion to get the variance of a function of a parameter (Var(f(x)) = Var(x))(f'(x))2). Estimates were obtained after adjusting for age and including the type of racehorse (e.g., sprinter versus stayer) as fixed effects. Significant variation in the proportion of wins/placing according to the type of racehorse ('sprinter versus stayer') was analysed by logistic regression fitting win, top3 or top5 as individual binomial outcomes (yes/no) and type of horse as a fixed effect adjusted for any significant confounding variables (age of horse, track condition, race class). All data were analysed using Genstat v22 (VSNi Ltd., Rothamsted, Harpenden, UK). Statistical significance was accepted at P < 0.05.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Racing data and performance

Within each category, racehorses participated in a similar number of races: (pure sprinter, 4 [1-8] races); sprinter-miler, 7 [1-14] races; miler, 6 [1-11] races; sprinter-miler-stayer, 8 [1-12] races; stayer, 7 [2-12] races, median [1st-3rd IQR]. Sprinters were significantly younger than milers, who were younger than stayers at the time of racing: (pure sprinter, 3.6 ± 0.9 years; sprinter-miler, 4.6 ± 1.2 years; miler, 4.8 ± 1.3 years; sprinter-miler-stayer, 4.9 ± 1.0 years; stayer, 6.6 ± 1.3 years mean ± 1 SD). Average prize money won according to the class of the race was significantly different between race classes, (Group 1, \$93,898 ± 85,880; Group 2, \$38,955 ± 42,618; Group 3, \$28,573 ± 29,159; Listed, \$27,012 ± 33,646; Uncategorised, $9847 \pm 12,938$). For n = 35 of 3268 races the final position was unknown. Overall, 508 races were won by 255 different racehorses, 331 different racehorses achieved a top three placing in a total of 2175 races and 375 of 421 racehorses were placed top five in a total of 1668 races. The remainder were unplaced. Racehorses therefore either won or were placed top three or top five in 15.5, 36.4 or 51.0% of races, which varied significantly according to the type of horse (Table 7). 'Stayers' were less common, competed in fewer races but were more successful than sprinters (Table 7). Race distance (meters) was not different (P > 0.05) between different class of race (Group 1, 1712 ± 664; Group 2, 1624 ± 427; Group 3, 1564 ± 501; Listed, 1762 \pm 653; Uncategorised, 1566 \pm 571m).

Table 7 Race performance stratified by type of horse									
	All races (n = 3269)	Sprinter races (n = 1671)	Sprinter-Miler races (n = 874)	Miler races (n = 167)	Sprint-Mile-Stay races (n = 408)	Stayer races (n = 149)	*P-value		
Wins (%)	508 (15.5)	234 (14.0)	134 (15.3)	27 (16.2)	74 (18.1)	39 (26.2)	<.001		
Top3 (%)	1190 (36.4)	593 (35.5)	299 (34.2)	60 (35.9)	166 (40.7)	72 (48.3)	<.001		
Top5 (%)	1668 (51.0)	823 (49.3)	422 (48.3)	89 (53.3)	239 (58.6)	95 (63.8)	<.001		

Values are number meeting criteria for each row (proportion [%] of total races in each column). Data as per Racing.com racing records in Victoria, Australia (n=421 different racehorses, n=3269 different races). *Significant variation in the proportion of wins/placing according to the type of racehorse was analysed by logistic regression fitting win, top3 (i.e ranking among the top three finishers) or top5 (i.e ranking among the top five finishers) as a binomial outcome (yes/no) and type of horse as a fixed effect adjusted for any significant confounding variables (age of horse, track condition, race class).

4.4.2 Training data and locomotory performance

All sessions were effectively 'race-pace', as illustrated in Table 8, with horses covering a furlong (200 m) in 10–12 s, achieving speeds of up to 67 kph, with peak stride frequencies and length increasing with speed and indicative of race-pace efforts, as previously described. However, when categorised according to the type of racehorse, then significant differences were apparent; sprinters per se had significantly shorter peak stride length and higher frequency than stayers, with a gradual change between intermediary categories (Table 9). The expected increments in peak stride length and frequency with harder training sessions were observed across all categories of racehorse (Table 9).

Table 8 Descriptive characteristics of the training dataset							
Training type	Soft Gallop	Medium Gallop	Hard Gallop	P voluo			
	(n= 635)	(n= 579)	(n= 585)	F-value			
Best 0-200m (secs)	11.6 ± 0.1	11.3 ± 0.1	10.8 ± 0.4	<.001			
Max speed (kph)	62.5 ± 0.9	64.2 ± 0.8	$\textbf{66.8} \pm \textbf{1.4}$	<.001			
Peak stride frequency (stride/sec)	2.37 ± 0.08	$\textbf{2.40} \pm \textbf{0.00}$	$\textbf{2.45} \pm \textbf{0.08}$	<.001			
Peak stride length (meters)	7.35 ± 0.24	7.48 ± 0.24	7.63 ± 0.27	<.001			

Values are Mean \pm 1SD for continuous data recorded by 'Equimetre' in Australia (n=421 different racehorses, n=1799 different training sessions). Data were available throughout the year. Training intensity (soft/med/hard gallop) was calculated from the cohort based upon the fastest furlong (200m interval) for each session and slower intensities (slow/med/hard canter) were excluded. Such data was restricted to training sessions conducted on turf track surfaces. Data were analysed by one-way ANOVA, blocking for the individual horse to account for multiple training sessions conducted by the same horse.

Table 9	Table 9 Peak stride frequency and length in race-speed training efforts categorised by type of racehorse								
type horse	Sprinter	Sprinter-Miler	Miler	Sprint-Mile-Stay	Stayer	*P-value			
Training distance	$4924 \pm 1146^{\text{a}}$	4987 ± 1232^{ab}	$4993 \pm 1192^{\text{ab}}$	$5167 \pm 1240^{\text{b}}$	$5333 \pm 1148^{\text{ab}}$	0.018			
'Work' distance	1802 ± 380^{a}	$1912\pm479^{\text{b}}$	1968 ± 479 ^b	2124 ± 565°	$2292\pm650^{\rm c}$	<.001			
	Peak stride frequency (strides per sec)								
Soft Gallop	$\textbf{2.39}\pm0.07^{a}$	$2.36\pm0.07^{\text{b}}$	$2.38\pm0.08^{\text{bc}}$	$2.35\pm0.08^{\text{ bc}}$	$2.28\pm0.06^{\text{c}}$	Type horse, <.001			
Medium Gallop	$\textbf{2.41} \pm \textbf{0.07}$	$\textbf{2.39} \pm \textbf{0.07}$	2.38 ± 0.08	2.37 ± 0.06	$\textbf{2.29}\pm\textbf{0.08}$	Train intensity, <.001			
Hard Gallop	$2.46\pm0.08^{\ast}$	$\textbf{2.43} \pm \textbf{0.08}^{\star}$	$2.46\pm0.05^{\ast}$	2.41 ± 0.06*	$2.34\pm0.05^{\star}$	Interaction, 0.03			
·	Peak stride length (meters)								
Soft Gallop	$7.31\pm0.23^{\text{a}}$	$7.41\pm0.23^{\text{ab}}$	$7.37\pm0.21^{\text{b}}$	$7.41\pm0.24^{\text{bc}}$	$7.60\pm0.20^{\circ}$	Type horse, <.001			
Medium Gallop	$\textbf{7.44} \pm \textbf{0.24}$	7.50 ± 0.22	7.52 ± 0.30	7.56 ± 0.22	7.77 ± 0.24	Train intensity, <.001			
Hard Gallop	$\textbf{7.61} \pm \textbf{0.28}^{\textbf{*}}$	$\textbf{7.67} \pm \textbf{0.27}^{\star}$	7.54 ± 0.20*	$\textbf{7.67} \pm \textbf{0.24}^{\star}$	7.88 ± 0.08*	Interaction, 0.07			

Values are Mean ± 1SD for continuous data recorded by 'Equimetre' in Australia (n=421 different racehorses, n=1799 different training sessions). Horse profile (sprinter, miler, stayer) was determined based on race distance and subcategories (pure sprinter/miler, sprinter-miler, sprinter-miler-stayer) were formed according to the nature/proportion of the races for every individual horse (see Methods). Data were available throughout the period before (not more than three months) and during racing. Data were analysed by restricted maximal likelihood (REML) for the main effect of type of racehorse, the individual racehorse as a random effect and after adjusting for significant covariates (age and weight of the horse). ^{abc}Values within a row with differing superscripts are significantly different at P<0.05, with Bonferroni correction for multiple testing. *Significant effect of training intensity (hard versus soft gallop)

In further data, for 378 of the 421 horses where speed and locomotory information were available for pre-race 'jumpout' training sessions (n= 1013); that is, starting from a standing start in stalls, then the best time to cover any 200m (furlong) from the first to the fifth furlong at 1000 m, then speed gradually became slower for all categories of horse, as expected, but was always significantly faster for retrospectively designated sprinters versus stayers (Figure 10a). In addition, peak stride frequency was higher (Figure 10b), stride length was shorter (Figure 10c) and peak recorded speed was higher (Figure 10d) in sprinters versus stayers. During the course of two racing seasons, we described whether locomotory parameters changed within individual racehorses of each category (sprinters to stayers; Figure 11). Whilst significant variability with individual training sessions) existed for peak stride length (Figure 11a) and peak speed (a slight increment; Figure 11c), the effect sizes were relatively small and not consistent, suggesting little evolution of locomotory parameters (i.e., no effect for peak stride frequency, Figure 11b,d).



Figure. **a**: data are estimated marginal means \pm SEM for consecutive 200m segments **b**: data are for all horses' peak stride frequency or **c**: peak stride length during jumpout training sessions, **d**: mean \pm 1SD speed, according to category of racehorse. All data obtained from an 'Equimetre' used at a single racing yard in Victoria, Australia (n=378 different racehorses, n=1013 different 'jumpout' training sessions). Category of racehorse applied retrospectively to training data after competing in races of known distance. Data analysed for the main effect of type of racehorse by Restricted Maximal Likelihood (REML), with individual racehorse included as a random effect, and after adjusting for significant covariates (age and weight of the horse). Differing superscripts are significantly different at P<0.05.


over the course of two racing seasons. Means were adjusted for age of racehorse and interval between training sessions. Individual racehorse, year/training month were included as random effects. Data were obtained using an appropriately fitted 'Equimetre' device from a single racing yard in Victoria, Australia. Change in locomotory parameter with number of training sessions ('session') for each category of racehorse ('type horse') and their pre-specified interaction were fitted as the main effects.

4.4.3 Training data, type of racehorse and predicting race outcome

Combining locomotory data during training for each individual racehorse with their race outcomes (win or top three 'podium') suggested that colts were more likely to win than geldings, with the chance of winning a group race declining as the class of race increased (Figure 12a). There was a small effect for racehorses with longer peak stride length (i.e., stayers) to have an increased chance of winning and finishing in the top 3, regardless of race class and racehorse type (Figure 12b).



Figure. Data are odds ratios \pm 95% CI for **a**: winning a race or **b**: achieving a top three placing. Odds ratios were obtained by integrating known race outcome data from Racing.com (Victoria, Australia; n=421 different racehorses, n=3269 different races) with training data (only gallop on turf) for the same horses before and during two race seasons (n=1799 different training sessions). Data were analysed with race outcome (e.g., win or top three) as the variable of interest, fitting sex of horse (female as referent category), race quality (unclassed as referent category), stride length (short as referent category) and age as a continuous variable. Since the same horse completed multiple training sessions and multiple races then HorseID was fitted as a random effect using Generalised Linear Mixed Models (GLMM). Statistics for main effects are indicated on the right on the graph with associated Wald statistic. Statistical significance was accepted at P<0.05.

4.4.4 Heritability of stride parameters and peak heart rate

After accounting for pedigree, which incorporates all traits with high genetic potential that were not recorded in our dataset (e.g., height, musculature etc...) then the difference in stride parameters recorded during training, according to the type of racehorse, was maintained (e.g., sprinters having shorter stride with higher frequency than stayers; Table 10). The estimates of narrow-sense heritability were significant (as determined by change in the log2 deviance ratio when pedigree information was included or not) and the values of h² were low to moderate (Table 10). The heritability of peak heart rate was however not significantly different across racehorse categories (Table 10).

Table 10 Heritability (h ²) of locomotory and peak heart rate during race-speed training efforts categorised by type of								
parameter	Sprinter	Sprinter-Miler	Miler	Sprint-Mile-Stay	Stayer	Heritability	*P-value	
Peak stride frequency (s/sec)	$2.43\pm0.01^{\text{a}}$	$2.39\pm0.01^{\text{b}}$	$2.38\pm0.01^{\text{b}}$	$2.37\pm0.01~^{\text{b}}$	$2.31\pm0.02^{\text{c}}$	0.20 ± 0.15	<.001	
Peak stride length (meters)	$7.45\pm0.02^{\text{a}}$	$7.54\pm0.03^{\text{ab}}$	7.49± 0.05 ^{ab}	$7.53\pm0.04^{\text{ b}}$	$7.62\pm0.06^{\text{ ab}}$	$\textbf{0.15} \pm \textbf{0.14}$	0.003	
Peak heart rate (beats/min)	$217\pm0.6^{\text{a}}$	$216\pm0.8^{\text{a}}$	$214\pm1.6^{\text{a}}$	215 ± 1.2^{a}	215 ± 1.8^{a}	0.19 ± 0.15	0.08	

Values are Mean \pm 1SE for continuous data recorded by 'Equimetre' in Australia (n=421 different racehorses with three-generation pedigree). Horse profile (sprinter, miler, stayer) was determined based on race distance and subcategories (pure sprinter/miler, sprinter-miler, sprinter-miler-stayer) were formed according to the nature/proportion of the races for every individual horse (see Methods). Data are averaged values for each horse from all available gallop sessions (n= 1699). Data were analysed and heritability estimated by REML analysis of an Animal Model. SE for Heritability (h²) was calculated using the delta method which uses a Taylor's expansion to get the variance of a function of a parameter (Var(f(x)) = Var(x)*(f'(x))^2). Type of racehorse was fitted as the fixed effect. Values within a row with differing superscripts are significantly different at P<0.05, with Bonferroni correction for multiple testing. *Overall P-value for comparison between groups of main effect.

4.5 Discussion

This study has directly, and objectively, outlined how differences in locomotory profile (short, medium, or long peak stride length/frequency) are already apparent in sprinter versus stayer racehorses, during race-speed training sessions. Indeed, during mock-races from a standing start, i.e., 'jumpout' sessions, sprinters also achieved higher speeds than stayers. Nevertheless, racehorses with relatively short or long stride within sprint or stayer categories, respectively did not predict race performance (i.e., winning or podium position). However, we are able to report for the first time that locomotory parameters of racehorses have moderate heritability. Therefore, the study provides evidence to support our primary hypothesis, that racehorses can be distinguished in training by having relatively short, medium, or long stride. Whilst locomotory parameters have moderate heritability, locomotory parameters in individual racehorses do not evolve significantly during the course of a race season. Hence, we suggest that differences in locomotory profiles are tangible for each type of racehorse (e.g., sprinter, miler, stayer), necessitating unique stride and speed aptitudes for the required distance. Race-day performance remains complex and may be influenced by a multitude of factors including sex of the horse, stride and to some extent pedigree as described in this study.

4.5.1 Racing data and performance

In Australia, horses race all year long with the season running from August to July, including a period of 'spell or detraining'. A spell or period of detraining refers to an extended period, usually 6 to 8 weeks, during which a racehorse is given a rest in the paddock. This break is dependent on the number of race starts completed during that year (Velie et al., 2013b). Thoroughbreds begin racing at the age of two and often progress from relatively shorter to longer distances (~ above 1600m) as their stamina and musculature develops, usually when they reach the age of three (Huggins, 2014). Previous research has shown that 2-year-old racehorses are more suited to shorter races than any other age group (Farries et al., 2018, Hill et al., 2010, Hill et al., 2012). Older racehorses, between 4 to 5 years of age, are therefore more likely to race over longer distances (i.e., 1600–3200 m) (Butler et al., 2017). These findings were consistent with the ages observed across the three racehorse profiles (sprinter, miler or stayer) in this study; younger horses tend to be sprinters, whilst milers and stayers were significantly older.

Racehorses being trained in Australia are predominantly sprinters. 39% of Group races in Australia are run over less than 1400m compared with 23% in both the UK and Ireland (Racing Australia, 2016, Horse Racing Ireland, 2017, British Horseracing Authority, 2017). This may

be partially explained by the fact that, in some racing nations, a premium is allocated to horses participating in shorter distance races, as the prizemoney/ class of the races tends to be higher than other race distances. Sprinters largely characterised our dataset; we observed a much higher proportion of sprinters with both race and training data than stayers (according to a race distance classification established by (Rooney et al., 2018)). This is not surprising considering the strong selection for early speed which characterises the Australian racing industry. However, there has been a surge of global initiatives to boost and encourage the breeding of stayers to counteract this phenomenon (Webb-Carter, 2015). Evoking greater prestige and higher prize money, some examples of long-standing stayers' race include The Epsom Derby (UK; 2420m), Prix de L'Arc de Triomphe (France; 2400m), Breeders' Cup Classic (USA; 2000m) and the Melbourne Cup (Australia; 3200m).

The limited number of pure stayers in our dataset nevertheless presented the highest proportion of race wins, compared to other categories of racehorse. Stayers were significantly older, were possibly more mature and of better 'quality' and thus retained to race or were better placed in suitable races given greater knowledge about their optimal characteristics. Younger, less talented and successful horses may also have dropped out of the yard and thus dataset. To an extent, therefore, perhaps such longer distance races are comprised of more appropriately placed and better racehorses. Additionally, in longer distance races, there is more opportunity for jockeys or trainers to utilise racing tactics (Sobczynska, 2006). Interestingly, a racehorse's peak racing age was previously suggested to be 4.45 years (Gramm and Marksteiner, 2010), a two-year difference with the stayers in this study.

4.5.2 Training data and locomotory performance

Racehorse athletic careers generally only span a few years, during which racing opportunities can be limited (Velie et al., 2013b). Opting for a race distance that matches the individual horse's characteristics and racing ability could markedly contribute to increasing its chance of winning. Therefore, trainers subjectively determine individual racehorse locomotory profile (sprinter, miler or stayer) early on in their training in order to ideally target the most appropriate exercise program and maximise their racing performance. Yet, a racehorse's ability to gallop over five furlongs for a sprint race, as opposed to twenty for a stayer's race, will differ significantly in terms of locomotion strategy. As they approach peak speeds, individual horses will either naturally increase their peak stride length or frequency. Over shorter distances, the requirements for acceleration and speed are pivotal, but as the distance increases, then efficiency of stride and stamina become more important. Stride length, rather than frequency is the main determining parameter to achieve higher maximal speeds (Schrurs et al., 2022b).

During standard gallop training sessions, our results revealed clear locomotory differences: sprinters had shorter stride length of a higher frequency than stayers. It is conceivable that the effect of warm up, if different between sprinters and stayers (not to our knowledge) may have exerted some effect on these stride characteristics, as previously evidenced in showjumpers (Tranquille et al., 2017). Fatigue can also cause racehorses to lose a stable stride frequency (Johnston et al., 1999), triggering a decrease in stride length (Wickler et al., 2006). We were unable to account for such aspects in our study, but in-field biomarking of fatigue through spotsampling of blood could reveal important differences that could be trained in.

In preparation for racing, racehorses are often exposed to 'jump-out' training sessions, which consist of grouping horses of similar age/level, to start from barrier stalls and to race against each other under timed conditions. This race-day simulation exercise is different to official race-day barrier trials (Racing Victoria, 2011), but, from the horses' perspective, is akin to a race. Unsurprisingly, speeds recorded during such sessions were among the highest recorded in our dataset yet were still significantly higher for sprinters compared to milers/stayers. Thus, in both regular training sessions and race-speed simulation sessions, sprinters and stayers could be clearly differentiated on stride characteristics. Nevertheless, we did not note any significant evolution of stride characteristics through incremental training sessions over the course of two race seasons (~10 training sessions per horse). Such differences are likely small for any individual horse, and it is likely that a very large dataset would be required to observe significant differences to validate the evolution of stride over a racehorse's career. Previous research has suggested that a typical racehorse improves its race time by approximately 10 (horse) lengths in sprints of <1 mile and up to 15 lengths for middle-longer distance races (\geq 1 mile) from the age of 2 to 4.5 years (Gramm and Marksteiner, 2010). Hypothetically speaking, a proportion of this improvement could be attributed to alterations in the speed or efficiency of locomotion, although this was not measured in that study.

4.5.3 Training data, type of racehorse and predicting race outcome.

Racehorse success on the track results from a complex combination of genetics (Gaffney and Cunningham, 1988), nutrition (Hintz, 1994) and training (Morrice-West et al., 2021). Such factors determine the expression of physical traits specific to the athletic demands of the sport. In Thoroughbreds, muscle strength, speed and endurance have been identified as traits that favour superior performance at various race distances (Kay and Vamplew, 2012). In this study, colts (i.e., younger male horses not gelded) had higher odds of winning than geldings. This aligns with previous research which identified some of the non-genetic factors that affect racehorse performance: sex, age, class of race, track condition, handicap weight and distance

(Hintz, 1980), and suggests that younger 'entire' male horses have the greatest chance of winning a race. Such an observation is also at odds with the fact that, in our dataset, the few stayers, who were older, had more race success. Perhaps the greater competition between horses in sprint races, the predominant race category in our dataset, is primarily won by colts as opposed to geldings. In stayer races, primarily competed in by older mares and geldings, and for obvious reasons very few entire males, then such differences are not apparent.

Thoroughbreds present unique musculoskeletal characteristics compared to other breeds. Notably, they have a large mass of skeletal muscle, low body-fat proportion and a greater percentage of fast twitch muscle fibres (Kearns et al., 2002). The composition of muscle fibre type, namely in the propulsive gluteal muscles, evolves with age and training, progressively improving stamina (Rivero, 2007). Previous work on racehorse wither height, has also revealed interesting insights. In mature horses, wither height was positively correlated with racing performance (Dolvik and Klemetsdal, 1999) and stride length (Galisteo et al., 1998). The relationship between conformation and stride variables in foals aged 6-8 months has also been studied: increased speed was attained by longer stride length in heavier foals and higher stride frequency in taller foals (Leach and Cymbaluk, 1986). The effect of training on performance has also been examined. (Rivero, 2007) outlined that training strategies targeting both strength and endurance concurrently impinge on performance when compared to training programmes aimed at optimising either one or the other (Rivero, 2007). This is explained by the fact that strength for acceleration is required for a sprint race. Strength is associated with an increased muscle mass, a shift from slow twitch to fast twitch muscle fibres and an increase in ATP utilisation. As a result, adaptations for sprinters would be disadvantageous for stayers as they rely on slow twitch muscle fibres and aerobic metabolism.

In Standardbreds and Thoroughbreds, after three years of training, changes in the trotting strides were observed: stride length, stride duration and swing phase increased (Drevemo et al., 1980). Training plays an important role in the development of the above parameters (Miró et al., 2009). Our findings highlighted a tendency of increased odds of winning and/or finishing in the top 3 in horses displaying a longer stride length. Similarly, in harness trotters, a test performed on the track showed that performing horses presented the highest maximal stride frequency and a long stride length (Barrey et al., 1995).

4.5.4 Heritability of stride parameters and peak heart rate

For the last three centuries, Thoroughbreds have been intensely bred for their elite athleticism, stamina and aptitude for speed. Racehorse pedigree information is registered in The General Studbook, 1791 (Weatherby, 1791) and can be traced back to their original ancestry. The Thoroughbred genetic pool is narrow and emerges from three foundation stallions (Arab, Barb and Turk) and approximately 30 foundation mares (United Kingdom) (Cunningham et al., 2001, Bower et al., 2011, Wallner et al., 2017). Since then, the continuity of the breed has become ever more controlled and refined. For example, English and Irish breeding industries focused on producing distinctive types of horses from precocious, fast, 2-year-old sprinters, 'classic' middle-distance runners or horses with enhanced stamina suitable for less popular 'classics' races such as the St Leger. Heritability of any given trait refers to the percentage of the parental trait that could effectively be transmitted to its offspring. Calculations on narrow-sense heritability estimates (h²) for specific traits such as stride length aim to estimate the strength of genetic determinants for the particular characteristic (human height being highly heritable at 0.85), with the remainder being non-genetic, additive, environmental effects such as trainer, rider (Schrurs et al., 2022c), track, etc. In flat racing, heritability of performance has been estimated as relatively low with wide confidence intervals, e.g., h² between 0.15 to 0.55 (Langlois, 1980, Hintz, 1980). The heritability of locomotory characteristics (speed, stride length and frequency) has been estimated previously in French saddle horses and was considered to increase with pace (e.g., from walk $[h^2 = 0.23]$, trot, canter through to gallop $[h^2$ = 0.52]) (Barrey et al., 2002). In this study of racing thoroughbreds, heritability of peak stride length and frequency was moderate ($h^2 = 0.15-0.20$), suggesting that 15–20% of the variation in locomotion in Thoroughbreds is due to the particular genes each racehorse inherited, with the remaining 80-85% of the variation due to environmental (non-genetic) factors. Since peak heart rate was consistently measured in our training data, we thought it interesting to also assess its heritability, despite previous papers indicating that between-individual variability is likely high (Couroucé et al., 2002, Betros et al., 2002, Schrurs et al., 2022b). Nevertheless, similar to locomotory characteristics heritability of peak HR was moderate ($h^2 = 0.19$).

Finally, it should be recognised that the study is a convenience sample of racehorses having used an 'Equimetre' intermittently, but in a repeatable fashion in training. The study is retrospective and observational. One test of our data would be to prospectively assign racehorses based on stride characteristics in training to being a sprinter or stayer and observe whether greater success in that category was achieved. Other factors that could influence stride but were not recorded consistently such as different warm-up protocols or accumulated fatigue were not taken into account. Since many racehorses compete in different types of races

115

(e.g., sprinter or mile, mile or staying race) it would be interesting to analyse the extent to which locomotion (e.g., peak stride frequency, length) evolves over the course of a racehorse's career for different profiles (sprinter, miler, stayer).

In conclusion, this study demonstrates that locomotory differences exist (peak stride length, frequency) between various types of racehorses (sprinters, milers and stayers). Stride characteristics measured at the onset of training can predict aptitude to racing in a given category, regardless of the potential progress obtained with training. Peak stride length is a moderately heritable trait that can be bred for. Considering heritability of stride along with objective locomotory data and other aspects (i.e., preferred ground, going), may also help trainers choose early on what type of training (short, middle- or long-distance work outs) or which race to enter (distance, profile, going etc...). Such a hybrid approach using data alongside experience may contribute to improved welfare on the track and prolong racing careers.

Chapter 5 Study 4: Cardiovascular fitness and stride acceleration in race-pace workouts for the prediction of performance in Thoroughbreds

5.1 Abstract

In-training racehorse physiological data can be leveraged to further explore prediction of raceday performance. To date, no large retrospective, observational study has analysed whether in-training speed and heart rate recovery are reliable predictors of racehorse success. Speed (i.e. categorised as 'slow' to 'fast' according to the last 600m away from a virtual finish line) and heart rate recovery (from average during gallop to 1min after exercise) of flat racehorses (n= 485) of varying age, sex and locomotory profile (e.g. sprinter, miler, stayer) were collected from a single racing yard in Australia from prior race-pace training sessions conducted on turf ('fast gallop', n= 3418; 'jumpout', n= 1419), using a fitness tracking device. A posteriori racing information (n= 3810 races) for all 485 racehorses was extracted and combined to the timedtrial training sessions, with race performance analysed as a binomial outcome for 'win' (ves/no). Of all aspects tested, colts (P < 0.001), stayers (P < 0.001) and fast finish speed (P< 0.008) were predictive of race performance, as opposed to heart rate recovery (P = 0.21) and speed at the 600m mark (P = 0.94). In-training physiological data does not clearly predict when a racehorse may win a race but does distinguish those racehorses considered worthy of participating in black-type races. Any race-day performance is likely affected by a multitude of other factors not recorded in our dataset. In-training physiological data may help trainers identify and build a legacy of promising horses. Such data alongside experience may contribute to improved decision-making and a safer sport for all those involved in horseracing.

5.2 Introduction

The value of any racehorse depends upon its ability to win. Racing performance is complex as it involves multiple variables; horses compete over different distances (i.e 1,000 to 3,200m), at different ages (often starting at two years of age), on different surfaces (dirt, turf or synthetic) and track layouts (circular versus open) and in varying weather conditions (dry fast tracks versus wet, heavy tracks). To measure individual racehorse performance over a season, trainers closely keep a record of the number of wins, places and earnings to ultimately guide both their short and long term decision-making (Wylie and Newton, 2018).

Worldwide, generations of trainers continue to share a common objective: to strive towards superior performance and increase the career longevity of their horses. However, a trainer's approach towards race-day preparation remains a subjective and singular practice. It may be founded on experience, data-driven technology, research or a combination of several factors. To date, a great disparity in training regimens is observed across the horseracing industry. In Australia, training patterns typically include a high proportion of gallop work at consistent timings (e.g. medium gallops at 15s/200m or 13.3–14.3 m/s), with a short sprint at peak speed towards the end of the exercise session (Morrice-West et al., 2020). Such workouts aim to ultimately engage horses in 'barrier trials' or 'jumpouts', practice races often supervised by racing stewards at an official racetrack.

The volume and type of workload that optimise performance in racehorses has recently been investigated. The study surveyed 66 racehorse trainers in Victoria and outlined that pre-trial total galloping (\leq 13.m/s) distances of between 7500m and 15,000m correlated with a higher win-rate, previous season wins and places per start (Morrice-West et al., 2021). Slower-speed (13.3–14.3 m/s) gallops between 5000m to 12,500m also correlated with a higher rate of career placings per start. Similar results were observed by Berkman et al. (2015). Interestingly, the timeframe (i.e. number of days prior to a race) during which combined training and race gallops occur can also predict a greater chance of winning or earning more prizemoney (Verheyen et al., 2009). Frequent periods of rest or 'spells' between racing seasons are often implemented by trainers. Such breaks in racehorse training directly associated with greater prizemoney per start acquired in the previous race season, as highlighted in the paper by (Morrice-West et al., 2021).

Horses that begin racing early in their career (i.e. at two years of age) are often better performers and have longer careers than those that begin at a later age (Tanner et al., 2011, Physick-Sheard, 1986, Saastamoinen and Nylander, 1996). Horses imported from overseas, may be accustomed to cooler and/or drier environments. Therefore, a period of environmental acclimation is essential to ensure sufficient physiological adaptation and exercise tolerance prior to the start of racing, especially in differing climates (Marlin et al., 1999). Early exercise induces the onset of cardiorespiratory and musculoskeletal changes to acquire the necessary fitness and cardio-respiratory maturity to maximise the chance of race success. Previous studies have attempted to correlate physiological parameters with race performance. For example, in racehorses, it has long been assumed that their large athletic hearts could be associated with success. This was subsequently shown by a study that demonstrated a positive correlation between British Horseracing Board Official rating or Timeform rating and heart size measured by echocardiography in 200 National Hunt horses (Young and Wood,

2001). Similarly, blood lactate concentration sampled after strenuous submaximal treadmill exercise also correlated with Timeform rating and/or subsequent race performance (Evans et al., 1993).

Wearable technologies have now facilitated the measurement of such parameters on the field to maximise athletic performance (Schrurs et al., 2022b). Systems combining telemetric heart rate (HR) and global positioning satellite (GPS) were leveraged in a small-size study (n=20 horses) that concluded that heart rate recovery (i.e. at one minute after work) following interval exercise could be used as a predictor of fitness or readiness to race and subsequent race position (i.e. finishing in top three i.e. on the 'podium') (Wilson and McGowan, 2019).

Values of stride length or frequency may also be used to predict performance. Top racehorses can maintain or peak at maximum speed over a specific distance, by increasing their stride frequency up to ~2.40 strides per second. The last 200 meters represent the most competitive section of any race. Strategy, agile peloton positioning, and bursts of speed are equally needed to reach the finish line and will distinguish a winner from its competitors. From a locomotory perspective, it is assumed that stride length would be longer in better performing horses. However, a study showed that in the latter part of a race, greater stride counts or shorter stride lengths were associated with better finishing positions (Morrice-West et al., 2021). Equally in human athletes, a positive correlation between stride length and performance was also found (Landers et al., 2011). Similar observations were drawn from a locomotory field-test conducted on Trotters, using an accelerometer device, maximum speed and stride length were positively correlated with the performance index (Barrey et al., 1995).

Large populations of highly trained running athletes, such as racehorses, could provide unique insights into the relationship between physiological variables and performance. However, to date, no study has related race performance over multiple seasons with combined information on stride acceleration and cardiovascular fitness in race-pace training sessions. A better understanding of speed and recovery benchmarks could help the decision-making of racehorse professionals for race-day readiness and the selection of appropriate races according to speed and recovery profile. No study has specifically evaluated the utility of measuring heart rate recovery over different types of speed training (i.e., stratified by 'slow-medium-fast' horses) and retrospectively assessed whether any index predicts performance (i.e., categorised by winning or being placed in a race versus not winning or finishing outside the first three) in the same racehorses, accounting for other potentially influential factors such as age or sex of the horse.

Hence, in the present study, a retrospective, observational study was conducted, using a fitness tracking device to study peak stride (length and frequency), speed (last 200 and 600m) and heart rate (peak and recovery) in racing Thoroughbreds categorised according to their subsequent racing result (win, podium or lose). Using speed to classify racehorses (slow-medium-fast), to observe whether any differences in recovery parameters were apparent in training sessions prior to races, we were further able to determine whether any training parameters within each category of racehorse could predict race performance.

The primary hypothesis of this study is that cardiovascular fitness (e.g., rate of recovery of heart rate) or stride acceleration (e.g., the average time in seconds over consecutive 200 meters from a standing start) during race-pace workouts (i.e., hard gallop or jumpout sessions only) predict performance (win or lose) race-day performance, taking into account other potential confounding factors such as age or sex. Secondary hypotheses are that relatively high daily temperature and/or humidity significantly blunt racehorse recovery of heart rate and confound prediction of race performance.

5.3 Material and Methods

5.3.1 Databases

This retrospective, observational study used two large datasets, pertaining to the same cohort of racehorses:

(1) **training** sessions: collected by means of a fitness tracker (the 'Equimetre'[™]) from a single racing yard (Ciaron Maher Racing) in Victoria, Australia.

(2) **race results** from the same cohort: available upon subscription in Australia, with race data recorded and downloaded from http://www.racing.com (accessed 16 January 2023).

5.3.2 Horses

Ethical approval for this study was obtained from the University of Nottingham (School of Veterinary Medicine and Science) Research Ethics Committee (REC code: 3270 201029).

The study population represented a convenience sample and included 485 Thoroughbred racehorses that were recruited from the same racing yard in Australia. The horses were aged between 2-10 years at the start of training. For n=10 horses, age was not recorded. The sex of the horse was coded as male (colts/stallions; n=108), female (fillies/mares; n=229), gelding (n=148). Sex of the horse was randomly checked online at <u>http://www.racing.com</u> (accessed

on 3 April 2023). The trainers regarded all horses as race fit; that is, horses that were actively in training to sustain their fitness levels and competing in races during the study period.

5.3.3 Equipment

Horses wore their regular tack and were exercised by a randomly allocated work rider, to the discretion of the trainer, who varied according to individual training sessions. A tracking device (the 'Equimetre™', Arioneo, Ltd. Paris, France) was fitted to the girth prior to training by persons accustomed to using the device, as previously described (ter Woort et al., 2021). The device recorded locomotory parameters (peak stride length and frequency) alongside speed (by GNSS) and cardiovascular parameters (peak HR, HR at 15 minutes after exercise), as previously described in detail (Schrurs et al., 2022b, Schrurs et al., 2022a). Prior to the study, trainers had previously integrated such systems into their training regimes.

5.3.4 Training data

The trainer determined the nature of each individual training session, directing the work-rider as appropriate. The Equimetre was not systematically placed on each horse for every individual training session, rather for specific sessions. Each individual training session was evaluated based on the trainer's observation on the track, riders' feedback following exercise and the fitness tracker recordings ('Equimetre'[™], Arioneo Ltd, France). For this study, only race-pace sessions (i.e., hard gallop and jumpouts) were included.

From the GNSS (GPS + Glonass + Galileo) satellite data, speed (i.e., time taken to cover 200m in seconds) measured for each 200m segment (at 200, 400, 600, 800, 1000, 1200 and 1400m) was recorded. Speed during the third 200m section (i.e., at 600m into any effort) was then used to form quintiles of the fastest and relatively slowest sessions for any horse, deemed 'Fast – top quintile' or 'Slow – bottom quintile'. Training sessions labelled as 'jumpout' sessions by trainers were also included for analysis. These sessions simulate race-day barrier trials and conditions and are held at various locations on specific days in Victoria, Australia. Jumpout sessions aim to simulate race-day conditions (i.e., racehorses departing from gates and running side by side), tracks and speeds and horses of similar ability (i.e., stage of physical preparation or 'fitness') and age are grouped to 'race' side by side from starting gates for the duration of the exercise bout. Horses may participate in these sessions to clear a vet check by an official steward or to prepare and gain experience. Jumpouts are usually considered by trainers as 'benchmark sessions' to evaluate and decide whether a racehorse is physically ready to enter a specific race or not. Both hard gallop and jumpout sessions were conducted on turf.

All training data were collected between 18 January 2021 to 14 January 2023 and comprised a total of 4837 training sessions (hard gallop n= 3418 sessions; jumpout n= 1419 sessions). Horses would train all year-round throughout the racing season, before entering a period of 'spell', usually one month but up to the trainer's discretion, during which horses are turned out in the paddock to rest and recover. The spell period for each individual horse represents an important reference point for the trainers, as it enables them to keep a record of the number of days in full training. Such information is used by trainers to establish whether an individual horse is ready to enter a jumpout session or race. Overall, an average of 6 (1 - 38) training sessions median (first-third interguartile range [IQR]) were recorded per racehorse. Race pace efforts were categorised sequentially from 1 to 25, with only n=14 horses completing 25+ training sessions. Therefore, these sessions were grouped into a 25+ category. The mean interval between training sessions using an Equimetre was 29 ± 49 days (mean \pm S.D.). Any horses completing only a single training session were removed from the dataset. From the exact date of training, together with the exact race date, the number of days prior to each race plus the interval in days between races was calculated and included in the dataset for each individual horse.

During trot, canter, and gallop, the Equimetre recorded aspects of each horse's cardiovascular responses to exercise (e.g., heart rate, HR), peak heart rate (HRpeak) and HR during recovery (HR at 1-5 and 15mins after exercise), aspects of locomotion (speed, stride length and stride frequency) and distance. From these live data that were instantly recorded by the device, further analyses were able to be conducted *post-hoc* that pertained to each training session such as the deltaHR (rate of recovery; HR gallop – HR at 1-5 min recovery). Based on GPS coordinates of the device, then a virtual finish line at 1000 metres was generated for each race-pace session. Consequently, with timings recorded at each 200m segment (i.e., one furlong), then quintiles of first and third 200m speed (slow; slow-medium; medium; medium-fast; fast) were manually formed, to categorise horses accordingly. Environmental temperature and humidity were recorded by the device prior to the start of each individual training session, with data obtained from the nearest weather station. Final datasets were checked for artifacts and corrected accordingly in MS Excel.

5.3.5 Racing data

The same cohort of racehorses (n=485) participated in a total of 3810 races. In this study, when race class was recorded, then it was described as either a Group or Listed race. Group 1 (n= 93 of 3810 races; 2.44 %), Group 2 (n= 73 races, 1.92 %), Group 3 (n= 143 races, 3.75 %) and Listed (n= 182 races, 4.77 %), whereas all other races were manually labelled as

Uncategorised (n= 3289 races; 86.3%). Race distance was known from http://www.racing.com (accessed on 16 January 2023) and was classified as a 'Sprint' race < 1600m (n= 2246 races, 77%), 'Miler race' 1601-2500m (n= 521 races, 18%) or 'Stayer's race' > 2501m (n= 138 races, 5%), as previously classified (Schrurs et al., 2022a). From the finish position, where available (n=54 had no finish position recorded) the proportion win (n=608 occurrences) or lose (n= 3148 occurrences) could be calculated plus whether the horse finished in the top three, 'podium' (n= 1369) versus 'non-podium' (n= 2387). Races conducted on a synthetic track were excluded from the study. Races occurred between 19 January 2021 and 17 January 2023. Other aspects of the dataset such as venue, track condition, carried weight, handicap, rating and prize money were recorded.

5.3.6 Statistical analysis

Analysis of training data: Any normally distributed descriptive data (e.g., peak stride length, stride frequency) are presented as mean (\pm 1 standard deviation [SD]). Data distribution was checked either by standard tests (e.g., Shapiro–Wilk test) or checking of residuals post analysis. If necessary, data was log-transformed (log10) to normalise the distribution of the data prior to analysis. For some analyses, where assumptions for analysis of variance (ANOVA) could not be met due to occasional missing data (e.g., artefacts removed or no data present), linear mixed models (restricted maximum likelihood; REML) were used with the main effect of interest fitted as a fixed effect and HorseID fitted as a random effect. For analyses of sequential speed or stride in the same horse over repeated 200m segments, then repeated-measures ANOVA or REML with time fitted as a fixed effect was used. To account for multiple training sessions in the same horse then training session was coded (1 – 25) by date and analyses were blocked by HorseID.

Analysis of racing data: For any aspect of performance in training (e.g., speed or heart rate recovery) then the two datasets were combined according to individual horse including all instances of gallop training with each race result. To account for multiple training sessions in the same horse then training session was coded (1 - 25) by date and analyses were blocked by HorseID. Any training data were excluded if the date was ≥ 60 days (i.e., two months) before any race. To determine if training data predicted race outcomes, then race performance was categorised as a binomial outcome with win (yes/no) or podium (yes/no) fitted as the outcome. Model fit and significant variables included as fixed effects were assessed using backwards stepwise regression, that is, they were included if on univariable analysis each was significant at ≤ 0.10 as analysed by logistic regression. Using this method, age, sex of horse, track condition, race-class were all included in any outcome. The training variable of interest (e.g.,

HRR or speed at 600m) was always fitted last in any model. All data were analysed using Genstat v23 (VSNi Ltd., Rothamsted, Harpenden, UK). Statistical significance was accepted at P < 0.05.

5.4 Results

5.4.1 Descriptive characteristics of the racehorse training dataset

Prior to any specific training session, horses would warm up at trot and canter pace over a distance of $1308 \pm 617m$ and $583 \pm 410m$, respectively. Hard gallop and jumpout sessions were 'race-pace' and corresponded to previously reported benchmark data (e.g. 'hard' gallop reference points in previous publications; (Schrurs et al., 2022b, Schrurs et al., 2022a). Horses were galloping on turf tracks at an average of ~60km/h, covering 200m (i.e. one furlong) in ~11 seconds (e.g. time last metres), at maximum heart rate ~200-210 bpm, and with stride lengths and frequency as observed during previously reported race efforts (Schrurs et al., 2022b). The main work distance was less in jumpout versus gallop sessions (Table 11). Regardless of the distance covered, racehorse heart rate recovery following exercise was similar in both exercise groups ~120 bpm without accounting for varying track condition and inclination (Table 11).

Table 11 Descriptive characteristics of the racehorse training dataset							
Training type	Hard gallop	Jumpout					
Main work distance (meters)	2027 ± 390	1500 ± 254					
Max speed (kph)	62.7 ± 3.0	64.3 ± 2.3					
Best 200m (secs)	11.6 ± 0.6	11.3 ± 0.4					
Best 600m (secs)	36.6 ± 1.9	34.9 ± 1.6					
Time last 600-400m (secs)	13.1 ± 0.8	12.0 ±1.1					
Time last 400-200m (secs)	12.1 ± 0.8	11.9 ± 1.4					
Time last 200-0m (secs)	11.8 ± 0.9	12.2 ± 1.8					
Peak stride frequency (strides/sec)	2.39 ± 0.09	$\textbf{2.42}\pm\textbf{0.09}$					
Peak stride length (meters)	7.35 ± 0.32	$\textbf{7.46} \pm \textbf{0.29}$					
Peak heart rate exercise (bpm)	212 ± 19	211 ± 17					
Heart rate after effort (bpm)	120 ± 16	121 ± 15					

Values are mean ± standard deviation for continuous data recorded by 'Equimetre' (n=485 different racehorses). A total of n=4837 different training sessions were recorded and analysed to only include n=3418 gallop and n=1419 jumpout sessions for standardisation purposes. All exercise sessions occurred on turf tracks with varying ground conditions. Data were available throughout the year. Training intensity was dictated by the trainer and included only race-pace gallops and jumpout sessions (i.e., race simulation workout starting from gates). Time last meters was calculated from a virtual finish line based on GPS coordinates and refers to the average time in seconds over consecutive 200 meters (i.e., one furlong). All data are described and not statistically analysed.

5.4.2 Racehorse heart rate and recovery during training

Heart rate measures analysed across the entire racehorse population increased with pace from trot to hard gallop as expected and peaked at ~210bpm. The greatest heart rate recovery (i.e. slope of HR once peakHR is attained) occurred within the first minute after exercise (Figure 13) with no systematic and repeated difference occurring with age category (from 2-10 years of age; Figure 13, unlabeled to aid clarity). Thereafter, HR linearly decreased to 5 minutes before declining further at a consistent rate to ~100bpm at 15 minutes post exercise.



Some differences in HR were observed between exercise groups (gallop *versus* jumpout) as the pace increased from trot to canter, before similar values were obtained at both gallop (~180bpm) and jumpout (~210bpm; Figure 14). As a proof of principle that HRR is greater after a harder effort then, recovery over the first 3 minutes after exercise was slower after jumpout than after gallop (recovery to ~160 versus ~140bpm, respectively; Figure 14). Thereafter, from 4,5 to -15 minutes after exercise, then any difference in HRR were less marked. At 30 minutes post exercise values remained above baseline but had stabilised.



Examining heart rate recovery in more detail, and excluding HRpeak as values were higher per se, but not different between training intensities than as recorded at gallop, then HRR was non-linear. From the average value recorded during gallop to recovery at 1 minute, the greatest decline in HR was observed, together with the largest mean difference between training intensities (Figure 15). This was categorised as the 'early phase' of recovery (HRgallop – HR1min), during which most of the recovery in HR occurred (e.g., ~23bpm between gallop and jumpout sessions). Subsequently, the 'mid-phase' of recovery occurred to 3 minutes (HRgallop – HR3min) when differences between training intensities were no longer evident (e.g., ~21bpm difference at 2 minutes). The 'late phase' of recovery was designated as 3-15 minutes post exercise, when recovery was gradual and slow. At this stage no differences overall were noted between training intensities.



data recorded for each horse at every minute following exercise, with training type (i.e hard gallop versus workout) as the fixed effect in a repeated measures design. HorseID and track condition were included as random effects in the model. Early, mid, and late phase HRR were as designated to allow for categorical assignment and potential for such categories to be able to 'predict' race success in a logistic regression model.

In Australia, the horses are trained year-round except for their monthly rest period and environmental temperature and humidity can vary considerably. Here, we note that average temperature but not humidity varied throughout the year from a few sessions at minus 1-3°C up to ≥ 28 °C (noting that all training efforts are conducted early in the morning; Figure 16). Therefore, with such a large dataset we were able to interrogate whether recovery indices were affected by environmental conditions. Temperature was divided into quantiles to form 5 groups from relatively 'Hot' (\geq °18C; 934 sessions at this temperature) to relatively 'Cold' (\leq 5°C; 954 sessions). In addition, we restricted the dataset to only gallop – having the greater number of training sessions evenly spread through the year. In addition, such a categorisation would allow easier clarification of the effect of temperature and/or humidity on HRR after intense training efforts in racehorses. When accounting for racehorse age, sex , days-in-training and number of training sessions completed, then horses recovered better during hotter temperatures: from 2 – 5 minutes after exercise HRR was greater by ~4 ± 2 bpm hot compared to cold conditions (e.g. at 2 minutes, 124 in hot versus 128bpm in cold) (Figure 17a).

A similar approach was taken to explore the effect of humidity on racehorse recovery during race-pace efforts. Humidity was divided into quantiles to form 5 groups to compare the first

(high-humidity, ≥95%; 'wet') versus the last quantile (low-humidity, ≤67%; 'dry'). No significant difference in HRR was found regardless of training intensity (Figure 17b).



Figure. Temperature and Humidity. Data are mean \pm standard deviation as transmitted from the nearest weather station in Victoria, Australia and recorded by the 'Equimetre' according to training month for the years 2021-2022. In Melbourne, Australia designated 'Winter' months with less racing are June, July, August while 'Summer' months are December, January, and February.



Figure. **A**: Temperature, **B**: Humidity. Data are predicted mean ± standard error of the mean as recorded by 'Equimetre' in Australia for the entire population of racehorses at every minute following exercise. Extremes of temperature (i.e., first versus fifth quintile of temperature, 'cold versus hot') or humidity (i.e., first versus fifth quintile of humidity, 'dry versus wet') are plotted against heart rate recovery. Each horse had multiple training sessions and thus was included as a random effect in the model. Age, sex, number of training sessions and days in training were included as potential confounding factors and means plotted after adjusting for these effects.

5.4.3 Racehorse speed during training

Racehorse speed categories were established to compare locomotory parameters amongst groups. Five groups were created according to quintiles of speed (i.e., time taken to complete 200m between 400-600m into a 'timed-trial'). At this point, stride length, but not frequency, was significantly different between racehorse speed categories (from relatively slow to relatively fast) during the 1000m distance trial, with 0m being the virtual finish line (Table 12). Overall, for stride length, a 0.17m difference existed between slow and fast horses. Stride frequency was similar across speed profiles at ~2.37 stride/sec. At this point in the timed-trial, significant differences in gallop speed were observed between slow (i.e., ~38.2 km/h) and fast horses (~41.6km/h).

Table 12 Stride length and frequency at 600m stratified by quintiles of speed											
	Slow Speed category	Med-Slow Speed category	Medium Speed category	Med-Fast Speed category	Fast Speed category	*P- value					
Stride length (m)	7.25 ± 0.02^{a}	7.30 ± 0.02 ^b	7.38 ± 0.02 °	7.34 ± 0.02^{bc}	7.42 ± 0.02^{d}	<.001					
Stride frequency (stride/sec)	2.37 ± 0.01	2.37 ± 0.01	2.38 ± 0.01	2.37 ± 0.01	2.37 ± 0.01	0.16					
Gallop speed (km/h)	38.2 ± 4.87 ^a	39.2 ± 4.41 ^b	39.5 ± 4.41 ^b	40.5 ± 4.12°	41.6 ± 4.07 ^d	<.001					

Values are Mean ± 1 SD for continuous data recorded by the Equimetre in Australia (n=485 different racehorses, n=1419 different gallop sessions). The speed category (slow, medium-slow, fast, medium-fast, fast) was determined based on quintiles of the time taken to cover a furlong at 400 – 600m for every individual horse, with a virtual finish line at 1000metres distance. Data were available throughout the year. Data were analysed by restricted maximal likelihood (REML) for the main effect of speed category, the individual racehorse as a random effect and after adjusting for significant covariates (track condition and training session). ^{abcd}Values within a row with differing superscripts are significantly different at P<0.05, with Bonferroni correction for multiple testing.

The time taken to cover successive furlongs from 1000 meters away from and to a virtual finish line at 0m (i.e. five successive 200m segments) was then compared according to a speed classification of racehorses (slow to fast) taken at the first 200m (Figure 18a) or third 200m (i.e. 600m; Figure 18b). The differences between fast and slow sessions (and thus racehorses) were significantly more marked at the first 200m (i.e 1000 meters away from the virtual finish line), with 'slow' horses taking longer to cover a furlong (i.e ~18.5 seconds) than faster horses (i.e ~12.8 seconds). Thus, for speed-in-training to potentially predict whether a given racehorse was more likely to win or come top-three in a race, then the classification of speed at 600m

was used as being more reflective of that training effort. After 600meters, the time taken to cover a furlong was comparable between groups up to reaching the virtual finish line.



for the entire population of racehorses over successive 200m distance marks up to a 1000m virtual finish line. Predicted means were calculated from time taken to cover 200m recorded for each horse at every furlong (i.e 200m), with quintiles of speed (slow-fast) as the fixed effect in a repeated measures design. Number of training sessions and track condition were included as random effects.

5.4.4 Racehorse recovery and speed for the prediction of race-day performance

Race participation categories were established to retrospectively compare heart rate recovery parameters amongst groups during a hard gallop workout. Two groups were manually created according to racehorse previous participation/or not in a Group race ('yes' or 'no'; EVER group raced or not). Overall, a consistent but small effect was observed over the 5 first minutes following exercise: horses that had previously participated in a Group race recovered faster than those that hadn't. The greatest differences between groups were observed in the first 1-2 minutes, where a difference of 5.5 and 6.7bpm were recorded respectively (Figure 19). Both groups showed similar measures of heart rate up to the 15-minute recovery mark.



The same categorisation was used to retrospectively compare racehorse speed amongst groups during a hard gallop workout over 1000m. Overall, some slight differences were observed between groups. Racehorses that had previously participated in Group races appeared to be faster, on average, than those racehorses that had never participated in a Group race. The greatest differences were observed at the start of the exercise, at 1000m away from the virtual finish line, with those that had Group raced completing the first 200m in ~14.8 seconds compared to ~15.5 seconds for racehorses that were to have never participated in a group race (Figure 20). Towards the end of the exercise, at the 200m mark, both groups reached similar values of speed ~12 seconds to cover the last furlong.



Locomotory and cardiovascular data recorded during training (i.e speed, stride, heart rate and recovery) for each individual racehorse were then combined with their race outcomes (i.e win or lose) to explore whether any aspect significantly predicted the chance of horses winning, regardless of the race class (i.e Group, Listed or Unrecorded). Much like the previous published paper (Schrurs et al., 2022a), results outlined that colts were more likely to win compared to mares and geldings, with 'filly' as reference point. Stayers presented an increased chance of winning as opposed to the other horse profiles (i.e milers), with sprinters as the referent category.

Racehorse timed-trial training sessions were restricted to a maximum of two months (i.e \leq 60 days) before racing, to analyse whether any aspect of it could predict their likelihood of winning. Interestingly, the finish speed (i.e., the average speed over the last 600m), from the point of horses covering the third furlong to the fifth furlong (800-1000m) showed a small signal. Indeed, relatively fast horses during this training timed trial appeared to have a greater chance of winning. If horses showed a fast heart rate recovery in the early phase (i.e their average HR during gallop compared to their HRR at 1min, suggesting they are fitter) then it suggested that the horse had a greater chance of winning. In contrast, speed at 600m was not predictive (Figure 21).



Figure. Data are odds ratios \pm 95% CI for predicting winning a race from training data. Odds ratios were obtained by integrating known race outcome data from Racing.com (Victoria, Australia; n=485 different racehorses, n= 3810 different races) with training data (only fast gallop and jumpout on turf) for the same horses before and during two race seasons (n=3418 different training sessions). Data were analysed with race outcome (e.g., win) as the variable of interest, fitting sex of horse (filly as referent category), racehorse profile (sprinter as referent category), finish speed (slow as referent category) and speed at 600m mark (slow as referent category) as other factors of interest. Statistics for main effects are indicated on the right on the graph with associated Wald statistic. Statistical significance was accepted at P<0.05.

Some horses presented multiple instances of racing with tendencies of winning or losing more races compared to other horses. When accounting for such variability in individual horse racing success, then colts and stayers were still more likely to win races, but aspects of training data, with the exception of finishing speed, was much less significant. The change in HRR showed no predictive effect for winning races (Figure 22).



5.5 Discussion

This study has directly, and objectively, analysed in-training racehorse speed and heart rate recovery for the prediction of race-day performance (categorised as winning versus not winning). The speed of heart rate recovery to one minute after a high-speed training session did predict race performance, but the effect was markedly reduced when the variation between different horses was accounted for. In addition, horses recovered better in relatively hot, but not relatively dry, weather conditions. Similarly, racehorses that were categorised as being relatively 'fast' from 600 to 1000m, that is consistently fast over the last 600m of the timed trial in training also appeared to have a greater chance of winning a race. Such an effect diminished, but nevertheless remained, when variability by horse was accounted for. This study provides evidence to support our primary hypothesis; training data can be used to predict which racehorses will a) go on to participate in a group race and b) be relatively more successful. Nevertheless, the absolute difference in practice is small (~4-6 beats/min; ~1-1.5sec/furlong) such that monitoring may not be of practicable use. Hence, we suggest that aptitude for superior performance is variable for each individual racehorse, relying on unique physiological factors. Furthermore, race-day performance prediction can equally be influenced by intrinsic aspects such as the sex and age of the horse and possibly other extrinsic factors (e.g., running strategy).

5.5.1 Descriptive characteristics of the racehorse training dataset

As racehorses initiate their training, milestones are commonly established by trainers to plan their progression towards racing (Tanner et al., 2011). The first milestone typically involves the registration of a horse with a specific trainer. A trainer is required to officially inform his relevant racing authority or governing body (such as Racing Victoria) that a horse has initiated training in his stable. The second milestone consists of entering a horse in an official trial or 'jumpout'. In Australia, it is mandatory for any horse to run in a qualifying trial before being entered in a race. The number of completed jumpouts of any individual horse prior to a race varies from one trainer to another. Some trainers only opt for one jumpout and consequently consider the first race as a 'fitness test'. In the present study, jumpouts occurred approximately 10 days before a race. Racing is perceived as the ultimate training milestone.

With the advancement of field technologies such as portable fitness trackers, the ability to evaluate racehorse speed, stride and heart rate in an environment similar to official race meetings has become increasingly feasible and reproducible (ter Woort et al., 2021, Schrurs et al., 2022b, Schrurs et al., 2022a). When routinely observing horses exercise live on the

track, it is still common practice for trainers to manually time the fastest workouts by means of a stopwatch. Usually, they will measure the time taken in seconds for a given horse to cover a furlong (sec/f). In Australia, speeds of fast gallop were surveyed among 66 trainers established in Victoria. Results outlined timings of 11-14 sec/f and speeds of 47.9–65.5 km/h during high intensity workouts (Morrice-West et al., 2020). These values were consistent with those reported in the present study and are comparable to what has been recorded during race-day performance (Takahashi, 2015). Although the race distance was greater (i.e. long distance or 'staying' races), stride lengths and frequency were similar to those identified by Takahashi et al. (2021), that is, 7.42m and 2.34 strides/sec respectively. Maximum heart rate did not further increase with training intensity, as previously observed by us and others (Ferrari et al., 2009) and was similar in both types of race-pace efforts (jumpout versus hard gallop).

5.5.2 Racehorse heart rate and recovery during training

As horses progress in their training program, so does their cardiovascular fitness. Cardiovascular fitness refers to the ability of an individual to rapidly recover or drop its HR from peak to baseline after an intense effort. Heart rate measures are known to vary from one horse to another as they rely on unique aerobic capacity influenced by breed, age or training (Couroucé-Malblanc and Hodgson, 2014). At sub- and maximal exercise intensities, HR is a reliable indicator of fitness and performance in Thoroughbreds (Gramkow and Evans, 2006, Evans, 2007a). In flat racehorses running at top speeds, heart rates peak at ~200bpm (Krzywanek et al., 1970). Such observations were reaffirmed in the present and past work, as presented in this thesis.

To date, there is still little research that addressed the use of HRR to measure equine fitness (Evans et al., 1993), as opposed to what has been published in the human literature (Daanen et al., 2012, Rabbani et al., 2020). Racehorse HRR is directly proportionate to the intensity of work (Schrurs et al., 2022b) and was reflected in our findings: horses that conducted jumpouts took longer to recover compared to those that had completed hard gallop sessions. The nature of jumpout sessions undeniably places more stress on the cardiovascular system of the horses and as a result a prolonged recovery is to be expected. It is also conceivable that factors such as excitement, pulling excessively or not putting in a hard run could have contributed to a longer HRR during jumpouts, considering the nature of the exercise. However we acknowledge that older horses were possibly more familiar to the jumpout routine and environment, thus less affected by the excitement of interval exercise than the younger horses (Hodgson, 2014). Overall, the greatest heart rate recovery occurred during the first minute after exercise. Interestingly, the post 1 min HRR measure is a common indicator used in human performance

137

and is applied in many athletic sports (Daanen et al., 2012, Blomqvist and Saltin, 1983, Hagberg et al., 1980). The post 1 min HRR parameter was integrated in recent work that analysed HRR for the prediction of performance in a cohort of 20 National Hunt racehorses (Wilson and McGowan, 2019).

It is widely assumed that aspects of environmental heat and humidity may influence cardiorespiratory responses to exercise and recovery in horses. Since the World Equestrian Games in Stockholm (1990) and the Olympic Games in Barcelona (1992), heat stress in horses has received significant media attention along with a surge in studies investigating how to preserve equestrian competitions in challenging environmental conditions (Jeffcott and Kohn, 1999, Marlin et al., 1996, Marlin et al., 1995, Kohn et al., 1995, McCutcheon et al., 1995, Lindinger et al., 1995). One example of study evaluated a small cohort of 5 Thoroughbreds exercised on a treadmill exposed to varying environmental conditions (Geor et al., 1995). Geor et al. (1995) found that heart rate during and after exercise was significantly higher in a hot and humid controlled setting compared to other conditions. Although the study was performed in a laboratory environment, this contradicts our findings as we noted the opposite: improved recovery in hotter conditions with an absence of humidity effect. The explanation may lie in the fact that the majority of the cohort participating in our study were Australian-bred horses, not imported from overseas and therefore more 'acclimated' to the vagaries of the environment in Melbourne. Work by Munsters et al. (2024) evidenced that training for 14 days in a heated indoor arena contributed to the reduction of thermal strain on elite sport horses, facilitating competing in hot weather. The study also highlighted that high-level horses can acclimate to heat while remaining in training, a crucial factor for their participation in events such as the Olympics. Another explanation may lie in the trainer's subconscious or active decision to not gallop horses as hard during hotter months. In colder winter months, horses may not be as fit as they are coming into the Spring racing time of the year. This associates with the assumption that more horses could've been in work in the warmer months of the year, because of the increased race opportunities at that time of the year. Lastly, this observation could be explained by a vast majority of lower class of horses racing in winter, as opposed to better horses that would be racing in spring and thus warmer weather.

5.5.3 Racehorse speed during training

Whether a human sprinter, a marathoner, or a racehorse, speed is the driving force behind athletic performance. Speed, acceleration rate and the ability to hold maximum speed over a certain distance are highly sought after performance characteristics. All play a part in building efficient racehorse locomotion acquired through the implementation of suitable training

programs (Bloomfield et al., 2007, Witte et al., 2006). Speed is the combination of stride frequency and length (Schrurs et al., 2022b, Clayton, 2016). Horses are known to reach peak speeds, first by increasing their stride frequency up to the pace of gallop then by increased stride length (Schrurs et al., 2022a). Our results converged to this principle, as stride length was significantly different between racehorse speed categories. The unrealised heterogeneity of racehorse profiles (e.g. sprinters versus stayers) in this study should however be acknowledged, as horses are expected to each present unique locomotion (Schrurs et al., 2022a). The differences observed at the first 200m between fast and slow racehorses may indeed highlight the diversity in racehorse locomotory profiles or, to a further extent, equally represent diverging types of workouts. The variability in the first 200m could also be explained by the fact that trainers instruct the riders differently towards building up speed of their horses. For example, a horse doing a middle- or long-distance workout will not be going as fast into the first 200 or last 400m compared to a 'sprinter'. Depending on the workout, they may only start to increase speeds ≥200m into the workout (i.e., 800m away from the finish line). It is therefore assumed that the classification of speed at 600m was more pertinent to compare groups up to the virtual finish line.

The effect of track condition on speed recordings was accounted for, as firmer ground are known to contribute towards faster racing speeds on turf surfaces (Maeda et al., 2012). We were not able to account for several aspects which may have influenced to some extent racehorse response to training and speeds. The first example is training strategy. Equally, the amount of weight carried (variation between jockeys) and influence of the jockey (skill, intentionally or unintentionally holding the horse back) were data that was not available to us but that have previously altered running times and thus race performance (Oki et al., 1995).

5.5.4 Racehorse heart rate recovery and speed for the prediction of race-day performance

The Australian racing industry is relatively homogeneous, facilitating the extraction of annual racing data for the purpose of large observational studies such as the present study. Few previously published studies have involved hundreds of racehorses and thousands of races to explore any association between physiology in-training (speed and HRR) with racing outcomes.

To explore the correlation of physiological and horse-related measures with performance outcomes, two measures were employed in the statistical tests: percentage chance and odds ratio. Percentage chance, also known as probability, represents the likelihood of an event occurring as a percentage, calculated by dividing the number of favourable outcomes by the

total number of possible outcomes. On the other hand, odds ratio compares the likelihood of an event occurring to the likelihood of it not occurring, expressed as a ratio of two odds. The odds of an event occurring are determined by dividing the probability of the event by the probability of it not occurring. While percentage chance provides a direct measure of likelihood as a percentage, odds ratio offers a comparison between the chances of the event happening versus not happening.

A first approach consisted of comparing HRR and speed between groups of horses categorised according to previous participation in a group race or not. Results showed that the horses that had participated in a Group race recovered better and ran faster than the horses with no subsequent Group race exposure. This suggests that these physiological data could potentially 'predict' race performance. However, to an extent, the observation could be partially influenced by the age of the horse, despite us statistically controlling for this factor. The nature of the Australian racing programme is such that substantial incentives are given to race young horses (2- and 3-year-olds). The large offer of races makes it easier for young Thoroughbreds to qualify in Group races. This so-called 'black type racing' (Group races for 2–3-year-olds) is of a volatile nature and results from the high breeding turnover. Such races remain very attractive and accessible, as the inclusion criteria may at times only include winning one race to qualify for such 2-year-old Group races.

Thus, a second approach was to integrate all racehorse characteristics including physiological data alluded to above (speed, heart rate recovery) and inherent data on the horse itself (age, sex, days in training) to identify which aspects predicted the chance of winning. Overall, stayers had a greater chance of winning relative to other categories of racehorse (sprinters and milers), as previously published (Schrurs et al., 2022a). This is not surprising considering that stayers were older, thus possibly more mature, of better 'quality' and experienced at races or were better placed in more suitable races by the trainer. Colts were also more likely to win, as opposed to fillies, mares, or geldings. More (1999) drew similar conclusions: performing horses were more likely to be male, have started as a 2-year-old and acquired more starts in the preceding 12 months (More, 1999).

Clearly, having greater ability to go faster, 'speed', is known to favour superior racehorse performance (Kay and Vamplew, 2012). In this study, after accounting for individual racehorse variability, then finish speed more so than HRR, showed a small effect towards the prediction of race wins percentage. This aligns with a treadmill study that conducted exercise testing in flat racehorses, where results evidenced lactate as opposed to post exercise HR associated more positively correlated with Timeform ratings (Evans et al., 1993). Other, more recent, literature contrasts with this finding, showing that HRR at 1min following interval exercise in

National Hunt racehorses on the field was a tangible predictor of subsequent race position, such as finishing in the top three (i.e. podium) (Wilson and McGowan, 2019).

Aspects of genetics (Gaffney and Cunningham, 1988) and nutrition (Hintz, 1994) also contribute to racehorse success on the track, but were not addressed in this study. Furthermore, the influence of the trainer has also been reported to significantly associate with racing performance (Ely et al., 2010). We could not account for the trainer's entry strategy for each individual horse. For example, placing a less performant or injured horse in a lower class of race to increase its chances of winning and as a result, prolong its racing career. Relying on official racing databases may not fully adjust for health or injury status of the horses. Additionally, the racing dataset did not provide information on the number of horses participating in the race which could have skewed the data. Another limitation could have related to the success criteria established for race performance, which could equally influence the results – for example, certain aspects of training were predictive of race performance when classified as 'win' or not, but not when classified as 'podium' or not. Finally, it should be noted that the study is a convenience sample of racehorses having used an 'Equimetre' intermittently, but in a repeatable fashion in training. The study is retrospective and observational. One test of our data would be to conduct the same study using a larger database to confirm or contradict the minimal effect sizes across the different speed and winning races. Alternatively, another one could involve establishing benchmarks of speed and heart rate data according to racehorse age in previously identified winning horses.

In conclusion, this study demonstrates that in-training racehorse physiological data can be used to identify which horses are more likely to win or not. Of all aspects tested, there was a slight indication for the finish speed to be predictive of race performance. It can therefore be deducted that winning a race is about a multitude of aspects. Considering speed and recovery data along with other aspects (i.e., genetics, preferred ground and distance, psychological state of the horse, training programs, the jockey-horse partnership), may help trainers identify and build a legacy of promising horses. Such a hybrid approach using data alongside experience may contribute to better selection of horses in suitable races and improve overall health and welfare on the track.

Chapter 6 Overall Discussion

6.1 Project overview

The aim of this thesis was to explore the application of data science to further understand racehorse physiology and performance, in the context of both training and racing across large populations of racing Thoroughbreds. Objectively monitoring racehorses' response to exercise 'live' on the track along with the assessment of race-day readiness requires validated technologies (ter Woort et al., 2021). Such tools are purposely designed to instantly record and collect multiple parameters relating to fitness (e.g., heart rate and heart rate recovery), locomotion (speed, stride length/frequency), location (GPS, distance) and other external measures (temperature/humidity, ground condition etc). However, while such fitness trackers are gradually being commercialised, and a number of isolated studies have investigated their use in various contexts (Fraipont et al., 2012, Hodgson, 2014, Kingston et al., 2006, Williams et al., 2019), no study had involved hundreds of individuals to describe racehorse physiology in training, factors that may affect their performance and correlations between training and racing. This thesis was therefore developed to take a comprehensive approach to racehorse physiology and performance.

The primary research questions for each separate study of this project were:

(1) what physiological patterns (i.e., cardiovascular and locomotory parameters) are observed in large racehorse cohorts during training and are these similar between racehorses in different countries (Australia and France). The study also described what other aspects (e.g., track surface, horse age and sex) may influence cardiovascular and locomotory patterns.

(2) having objective physiological data being recorded for every training session alongside knowledge of which jockey was used for each training session allowed us to ask what effect the sex of the jockey may have on racehorse physiology (cardiovascular and biomechanical parameters) and/or performance (win percentage and chance of a top-three placing in both UK and Australia).

(3) whether stride length (short, medium, or long) recorded during training sessions conducted at race speed (soft-medium-hard gallop or 'jumpout') characterises racehorses prior to them performing in categorised registered races as a sprinter, miler, or stayer. Also, to what extent is stride length heritable?

Overall Discussion

(4) what aspects of cardiovascular fitness (e.g., rate of recovery of heart rate) or stride acceleration (e.g., average time over consecutive 200m from a standing start) recorded during 'jumpout' and standard gallop sessions can predict the likelihood of race success defined as winning or losing a race.

This project primarily focused on training and racing in Australia, despite lots of data being initially available in other countries such as the United Kingdom, France, and the United Arab Emirates. The data in Australia was systematically collected and better collated, enabling more controlled sampling and analysis with greater interpretive value, as it utilised data from a convenience sample (i.e., a single racing yard located in Victoria state). However, in some instances throughout the thesis then additional data was also used, so as to integrate training and racing databases from other racing nations such as France and the United Kingdom, for comparative purposes.

In the equine exercise physiology literature, no studies exist that describe racehorse heart rate, stride, and speed measures in large datasets (i.e., hundreds of individuals). Hence the first study was developed to report physiological patterns (i.e., cardiovascular and locomotory parameters) in large racehorse populations during training and compare them between countries (i.e., Australia and France). The study also outlined what other aspects (e.g., track surface, horse age and sex) may influence such patterns. The effect of increased training speed from slow canter to hard gallop were analysed for racehorse heart rate, heart rate recovery and stride length/frequency, while considering aspects of varying track surface, horse age and sex. Racehorses increased speed predominantly by an increment in stride length, then frequency, as also demonstrated in a study by Ratzlaff et al (1985). In both countries, speed was lower on sand, stride values (stride length and frequency) were reduced as previously reported (Rogers and Firth, 2004), but horses appeared to recover better when compared to turf. This observation could be justified by the intended use of each track surface for a particular training intensity. Indeed, in Australia, sand or synthetic surfaces are commonly integrated for slow workouts (such as slow canters) while turf tracks are leveraged for fast workouts (Morrice-West et al., 2018). In both France and Australia, considering the geographical proximity between some training yards and the sea, then sand beaches may also serve as suitable and softer training surfaces for both trotter and flat racehorses. Such training sessions may build cardiovascular fitness on the softer surface, like sand, or mimic race-day demands on soft turf. Nevertheless, surface undoubtedly influences speed, stride length and frequency as shown here and previously by others (Burn and Usmar, 2005, Crevier-Denoix et al., 2010, Symons et al., 2014, Maeda et al., 2012). For these reasons, appropriate grounds are carefully selected by trainers for each individual horse to also minimise the risk of track-
related injuries (MacKinnon et al., 2015, Crevier-Denoix et al., 2010, Peterson et al., 2021, Symons et al., 2014). Peak heart rate and recovery increased with training intensity, with some differences observed between countries. We assumed this may be due to differences in training strategies between countries, as outlined in previous work conducted in Australasia, USA and the UK (Firth and Rogers, 2005, Morrice-West et al., 2020, Pagan et al., 2017, Verheyen et al., 2006b, Hodgson, 2014). Older horses recording lower heart rate at 15mins after training, which may be explained by the effect of age and/or improved fitness (Ohmura and Jones, 2017, Poole and Erickson, 2014, Yamanobe et al., 1993). No effect of sex of the horse was reported on speed. This is surprising considering significant heart rate differences have previously been highlighted between male and female horses (Mukai et al., 2003). With large datasets such as the one in the present study, accurate technologies have the potential to comprehensively measure physiological data on racehorses in training, revealing clear differences in training strategies between countries. The higher heart rate measures (e.g., a consistent ~20bpm difference between peak HR compared to France) over shorter intervals of work distance (1200m versus 1700m in France) suggest that in Australia trainers implement interval training as opposed to more 'conventional' training in France. Altogether, it can be affirmed that all original hypotheses, aims, and objectives were addressed.

As described in Chapter 2, track surface, horse age and a given country's approach to training all provided factors that appeared to significantly influence racehorse cardiovascular and locomotory measures in training. With this in mind and given the recent success of female jockeys around the world together with the high proportion of professional (female) jockeys racing in Australia, it was therefore of interest to objectively study whether male or female jockeys had any influence over racehorse physiology and performance in training and, using other datasets, in performance on the racecourse. Therefore, in Chapter 3 the effect of the sex of the jockey was investigated on the same physiological data as previously used, but with the addition of known sex of the jockey used for each and every training session in Australia. This second study characterised racehorse cardiovascular (heart rate, heart rate recovery) and biomechanical (stride length and frequency) parameters at various exercise intensities (slow canter to hard gallop) to address the question whether any parameter altered according to sex of the rider and experience (professional versus non-professional) and/or race-day performance (win percentage and chance of a top-three placing in both UK and Australia). Sex of the rider did not influence any aspect of racehorse speed, stride length, heart rate and peak heart rate at any training intensity. This is interesting considering other aspects have shown to influence speed or stride such as riding style (Pfau et al., 2009), weight (Gunnarsson et al., 2017) and rider's experience (Kapaun et al., 1998). However, racehorse heart rate

144

recovery was influenced by sex of the rider when looking at the extremes of the reversed usual

training intensity, that is: heart rate after galloping on sand was significantly lower with male riders. This observation draws attention to the nature of the horse-rider partnership dimension. Studies have explored the interactions between the cardiovascular responses of rider and horse in the context of fear/distress (Merkies et al., 2014), novel stimuli (Munsters et al., 2012) or rider (Schmidt et al., 2010). Keeling et al (2009), in their investigation on human and horse interactions, concluded that rider anticipation to a novel stimulation or object caused an increase in heart rate which equally matched an increment in horse's heart rate. Concomitant with our findings, this introduces the idea that male riders in our study may have anticipated, more than their female counterparts, the expected training intensity on a set surface which translated in a high/low heart rate that was transmitted through to the horse, probably subconsciously. Simultaneous heart rate measurement of horse and rider in such a context could address this question, as has been conducted in humans (Saad and Vongas, 2009). Another supposition, although unable to be answered here due to the data available to us, could lie in any possible change of work rider for riding on certain surfaces (i.e., changing from female to male when faster sessions on turf are to be conducted). However, to our knowledge this was not a common practice in the yard from which we drew our data. Finally, analysis of race results in Australia and the UK indicated a similar chance of a top-three placing and win percentage for male and female jockeys. However, we could not account for quality of the mounts and races. To date, no similar research has been produced on the topic. For this study, it can be concluded that all original hypotheses, aims, and objectives were met.

As all available factors that could possibly influence racehorse locomotion were explored in Study 1 and 2, we were then interested in further uncovering any differences in locomotory profiles. Similar to human athletes, Thoroughbreds compete at various race distances (e.g., short 'sprinter', <1600m; middle 'miler' and longer distance 'stayer', >2500m) and are assumed to be naturally pre-disposed to a specific distance according to either their locomotion (sprinters having an innately shorter stride compared to stayers) or their pedigree (sprinters versus stayers). However, no study had specifically explored this. Therefore, our research question asked whether stride length (short, medium, or long) recorded during training sessions conducted at race speed (soft-medium-hard gallop or 'jumpout') characterised racehorses prior to them performing in categorised registered races as a sprinter, miler, or stayer. We also investigated the heritability of stride length and assessed whether differences in stride length persisted between racehorses destined to race as sprinters or stayers when considering their three-generation pedigree.

Our study found that, in training, sprinters had a shorter stride of higher frequency and covered consecutive furlongs faster than stayers. However, we were unable to account for the effect of warm up (Tranquille et al., 2017) and fatigue (Johnston et al., 1999), aspects that have

145

previously been reported to influence stride characteristics. Relatively short or longer stride did not predict race success in sprint versus staying races, respectively. This is surprising as muscle strength, speed and endurance are previously identified traits that contribute to superior performance in Thoroughbreds at various race distances (Kay and Vamplew, 2012). Racehorse performance prediction remains complex as it results from a combination of genetics (Gaffney and Cunningham, 1988), nutrition (Hintz, 1994) and training (Morrice-West et al., 2021). Overall, in our results, stayers had greater race success than sprinters, to an extent perhaps because older, more experienced, and better-quality horses were naturally retained by the trainer. Research has demonstrated that longer races allowed jockeys and trainers to better leverage racing tactics (Sobczynska, 2006). Taking pedigree information into account, then peak stride length and frequency were only moderately heritable, as others have shown recently (Barrey et al., 1995).

After deepening our understanding of locomotory profiles and the heritability of stride, it was of interest to comprehensively explore the prediction of race-day performance leveraging race-pace training data. To this purpose, the question posed aimed to discern what aspects of cardiovascular fitness (e.g., rate of recovery of heart rate) or stride acceleration (e.g., average time over consecutive 200m from a standing start) recorded during 'jumpout' and standard gallop sessions could predict the likelihood of race success defined as winning or coming in the top three of a race, versus losing or being outside the top-three.

Thus, race-pace in-training speed (categorised as 'slow' to 'fast' according to the last 600m away from a virtual finish line) and heart rate recovery (from average during gallop to 1min after exercise) conducted on turf were analysed in racehorses of varying age, sex and locomotory profile (e.g., sprinter, miler, stayer) to identify whether such physiological data were reliable predictors of racehorse success. A posteriori racing information was extracted and combined to the timed-trial training sessions, with race performance analysed based on success outcome as 'win' (yes/no). Of all aspects tested, colts, stayers and fast finish speed were predictive of race performance and aligned with previously published work (More, 1999, Schrurs et al., 2022a, Kay and Vamplew, 2012). Opposingly, heart rate recovery and speed at the 600m mark did not show signals of performance prediction. The available literature on post exercise HR for performance prediction is somewhat contradictory as it includes either positive or negative corelations (Wilson and McGowan, 2019, Evans et al., 1993). It would have been interesting to account for the influence of the trainer, as it has been evoked to significantly associate with racing performance (Ely et al., 2010). In the context of this study, it is believed that all original hypotheses, goals, and objectives were individually addressed and realised.

146

6.2 Limitations of using data analytics to assess racehorse physiology and performance

All four studies constituting this thesis shared common limitations, primarily attributable to their retrospective study design. The data were systematically and consistently, with some minor exceptions, the same recurrent convenience sample provided by the fitness tracker company (Arioneo Ltd, France), albeit independent datasets, with different horses and dates of training and/or racing. The primary dataset was made available thanks to the buy-in of a major Australian horseracing yard, identified and acknowledged as Ciaron Maher Racing (<u>https://www.ciaronmaher.com.au</u>). It is therefore assumed that there may have been a risk for selection bias when manually cleaning the database prior to analyses. Extending the analyses to multiple training yards, possibly with different training methods would increase the likelihood of the results being more generally applicable.

Because each individual study, thus chapter, presented a retrospective and observational study design, several aspects and parameters could not be accounted for. For example, in the first piece of research focusing on descriptive characteristics of racehorse physiology in training, then further information on track surface (incline, composition, penetrometer information) would have allowed for more thorough analyses. However, as the technicalities of the fitness tracker device continued to be refined, then new information was automatically integrated by the company in the extracts of data to complement the existing parameters. Moreover, the nature of in-field sampling, as opposed to a more laboratory environment such as a treadmill, did not allow for any level of experimental control, as what would be with prospective sampling.

Although the sample size was significant (hundreds of individual racehorses, thousands of training sessions) compared to what is currently found in the literature, larger sample sizes may have allowed for more subtle effects to be identified. This is especially important when the primary outcome is binomial, such as race wins (see Chapter 4), where the effects revealed were relatively small. However, at the time of writing, we could only make use of what was available. Equally, it is acknowledged that the Equimetre device was not repeatedly used for every training session on each horse, but rather only as and when asked to do so by the trainer (e.g., as a baseline or testing session to assess 'fitness'). Only a limited number of devices (up to 20 systems) were at disposition of the trainer and were randomly allocated to individual horses for routine checks or to address concerns. Without funding and a prospective design, for this study, we were not able to dictate when and on whom the Equimetre device should be

used in order to test hypotheses. Thus, retrospective studies can also suffer from a degree of inherent bias.

To some extent, we could not account for horses being already 'fit' when evaluating various aspects of physiological responses to exercise. Additionally, speed categorisation, regardless of taking a data-driven approach, was to some extent dependent on the trainers chosen instructions.

6.3 Future work

This project highlighted the benefit of integrating objective and comprehensive tools in largescale studies to further understand racehorse physiology and performance, in-field. In comparison to treadmills, wearable technologies now allow for real-time monitoring of racehorse performance in their natural environment, with little to no interference with their usual work routine. However, certain challenges persist for with field sampling, such as blood or lactate measurement, due to their vivid demeanour of racehorses. Therefore, such measurements may still be better suited for treadmill conditions. As such, numerous future studies could build on the findings from the current project.

For example, similar descriptive studies could compare other leading racing nations amongst each other (e.g., Japan, USA, Ireland, South Africa). Such work could explore and identify unique racehorse physiological adaptations and training approaches, to which the findings from Chapter 2 of this project are applicable and highlight any notable regional or environmental differences. It could also investigate the extent to which horses are adapted to extreme environmental fluctuations. Chapter 2 outlined the potential of longitudinal monitoring over time to investigate the evolution of fitness of an equine athlete. This could be performed by involving fewer horses in standardised conditions, perhaps on a treadmill for every training session undertaken, focusing on parameters of peak HR and HR recovery at a given speed. The implications could assist trainers in evaluating an individual racehorse's improvement of fitness. Additionally, individualised data could also contribute to establishing training zones using % of peak HR to understand racehorse response to workload/intensity. It could help detect those overly tired or over-trained by analysis of baseline heart rate. Furthermore, the data could also be leveraged to identify altered patterns of behaviour in sub-clinically injured horses by deviations/changes in their usual stride metrics (length or frequency).

Investigating the effect of the sex of the rider on racehorse physiology and performance shed a light on other future work that could be conducted. For example, it would be interesting to

draw on the analysis of Chapter 3 to delve into comprehensive performance profile analyses of racehorses. This could be done by examining horse body weight, plasma lactate, and cortisol levels along with other physiological parameters like muscle mass, oxygen consumption, and metabolic rates. The ultimate aim of such work would be to analyse how these factors collectively impact racehorse performance. Alternatively, the horse-rider interactions were only superficially discussed and explored in Chapter 3. Therefore, future work could also investigate the dynamic relationship between riders and their horses during races. For example, by collecting data on rider characteristics (e.g heart rate and body composition) to understand how these factors influence the horse's performance. Implications could translate to whether certain rider-horse pairings result in better racing outcomes and if rider physical condition/fitness plays a role. Lastly, performance profiling research could be addressed in future studies to include male and female riders. By comparing any relevant physiological responses, riding techniques, and performance outcomes to evaluate potential sex-related differences in racing performance and rider-horse interactions.

The findings of the third study relating to locomotory profiles in racehorses could lead to directions such as prospective racehorse performance assignment. Racehorses could prospectively be assigned to either sprinter or stayer categories based on their stride characteristics during training. The aim would then be to monitor and analyse their subsequent race performances to determine whether greater success can be achieved in their assigned distance category. Another avenue to explore lies in the impact of unrecorded factors such as warm-up protocols and accumulated fatigue, on racehorse stride characteristics and overall performance. Such findings could help trainers develop standardised protocols for warm-up routines and fatigue management to see how they affect racehorse stride and race results.

Lastly, the final study of this thesis highlighted another interesting future direction. Researchers could conduct the same study using a larger database to confirm or contradict the minimal effect sizes across the different speed and winning races. Another one could involve establishing benchmarks of speed and heart rate data according to racehorse age in previously identified winners.

In essence, the integration of objective fitness trackers shapes a promising new era for improved racehorse health and welfare on the track. With 'live' data on the track, such innovative devices offer real-time monitoring capabilities allowing trainers and veterinarians to gather precise data on various aspects of equine physiology and performance. By tracking parameters such as heart rate, ECG and stride, fitness trackers provide invaluable feedback

149

that can inform more targeted training regimens and identify early signs of stress, injury or fatigue.

6.4 Conclusions

The findings of this project outline how tracking technologies facilitate a comprehensive approach to monitoring racehorse physiology and performance. Fitness trackers represent an additional, yet very valuable resource available to racehorse trainers. Recorded measurements may be evaluated at a fine scale, focusing on a particular horse in its routine work environment, or at a larger scale as conducted in this work, across major racing yards and countries. While horseracing remains a sport of tradition (Ely et al., 2010), objective tools have gradually paved their way into a new racing era, to positively impact the health, welfare and safety of its participants (i.e. horses and jockeys) on the track.

Our work highlighted that track surface influenced racehorse speed, stride and heart rate recovery (i.e lower values on sand compared to turf). Older horses presented lower heart rate values. Overall, there were marked differences in training strategies between countries, with Australia conducting shorter intervals of distance at faster speeds, compared to France, where a more conventional training approach was adopted.

The sex of jockey did not appear to influence speed, stride length nor heart rate. Both male and female jockeys presented a similar chance for top 3 ranking and win percentage.

When comparing locomotory racehorse profiles, then sprinters presented a shorter stride but of increased frequency, being on average faster than stayers. Short and long stride did not predict racing success. With all aspects considered, then stayers had greater chances of success, with peak stride length/frequency being moderately heritable.

Lastly, analysis of cardiovascular fitness and stride acceleration in race-pace workouts for the prediction of performance outlined that aspects such as colts, stayers and fast finish speed were predictive as opposed to heart rate recovery and speed at the 600m distance mark.

The integration of such fitness trackers is presumed to stay on the rise amongst racehorse trainers, as global efforts led by researchers and racing jurisdictions continue to strive towards reduced racehorse wastage and injury (Verheyen and Wood, 2004, Parkin, 2008, Maeda et al., 2016, Hitchens et al., 2019).

Studies leveraging fitness trackers to further understand the effects of the environment (e.g., track surface and condition, temperature/humidity, rider), genetics (e.g., heritability of certain traits), exercise (e.g., speed and fitness, locomotory profile, winning prediction) on racehorse

physiology and performance can serve as foundations to explore future directions and applications. Some examples of future work could include data-driven betting and new regulatory implications. In summary, the insights gained from this research on racehorse physiology and performance could have far-reaching effects on the horse racing industry, encompassing performance improvement, injury prevention, ethical considerations, and technological advancements. These findings could equally have broader applications in sports science and animal welfare.

Chapter 7 Bibliography

AINSWORTH, D., SMITH, C., EICKER, S., DUCHARME, N., HENDERSON, K., SNEDDEN, K. & DEMPSEY, J. 1997. Pulmonary-locomotory interactions in exercising dogs and horses. *Respiration physiology*, 110, 287-294.

ALLEN, K., YOUNG, L. & FRANKLIN, S. 2016a. Evaluation of heart rate and rhythm during exercise. *Equine Veterinary Education*, 28, 99-112.

ALLEN, K. J., VAN ERCK-WESTERGREN, E. & FRANKLIN, S. H. 2016b. Exercise testing in the equine athlete. *Equine Veterinary Education*, 28, 89-98.

ART, T., DUVIVIER, D., VAN ERCK, E., DE MOFFARTS, B., VOTION, D., BEDORET, D., LEJEUNE, J., LEKEUX, P. & SERTEYN, D. 2006. Validation of a portable equine metabolic measurement system. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 38, 557-561.

ARTHUR, R. M. 2010. Comparison of racing fatality rates on dirt, synthetic, and turf at four California racetracks. *Am Assoc Equine Practitioners Proceedings, Baltimore, MD*, 405-408.

ARTHUR, R. M. 2011. Welfare issues in horse racing. Equine welfare, 229-224.

BAILEY, C., REID, S., HODGSON, D., SUANN, C. & ROSE, R. 1997. Risk factors associated with musculoskeletal injuries in Australian Thoroughbred racehorses. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 32, 47-55.

BAILEY, C. J. 1998. *Wastage in the Australian Thoroughbred racing industry*, Rural Industries Research and Development Corporation.

BARCLAY, W. R. 1978. Equestrian sports. *Jama*, 240, 1892-1893.

BARKER, A. R. & ARMSTRONG, N. 2011. Exercise testing elite young athletes. *The Elite Young Athlete*, 56, 106-125.

BARONE, G. W. & RODGERS, B. M. 1989. Pediatric equestrian injuries: a 14-year review. *Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery*, 29, 245-247.

BARREY, E., AUVINET, B. & COUROUCE, A. 1995. Gait evaluation of race trotters using an accelerometric device. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 27, 156-160.

BARREY, E., DESLIENS, F., BLOUIN, C. & LANGLOIS, B. Heritabilities of gait characteristics: application for breeding in dressage. Conference on Equine Sports Medicine and Science 2002, The Elite Dressage and Three-Day-Event Horse, 2002.

BARREY, E., EVANS, S., EVANS, D., CURTIS, R., QUINTON, R. & ROSE, R. 2001. Locomotion evaluation for racing in thoroughbreds. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 33, 99-103.

BASSAREO, P. P. & CRISAFULLI, A. 2020. Gender differences in hemodynamic regulation and cardiovascular adaptations to dynamic exercise. *Current cardiology reviews,* 16, 65-72.

BAYLY, W. M. 1985. Training programs. *Veterinary Clinics of North America: Equine Practice*, 1, 597-610.

BAYLY, W. M., SCHULTZ, D., HODGSON, D. R. & GOLLNICK, P. D. 1987. Ventilatory responses of the horse to exercise: effect of gas collection systems. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 63, 1210-1217.

BERKMAN, C., TEIXEIRA, L. G., PEREIRA, M. C., SAMPAIO, R. D. C. D. L., BERNARDI, N. S., LACERDA, J. C. D., QUEIROZ, A. D. & FERRAZ, G. D. C. 2015. Distance exercised during submaximal training on race winnings for Thoroughbred racehorses. *Ciência Rural*, 45, 1268-1273.

BERMANN, F. 2010. *Les bases de la physiologie de l'effort* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.fbermann.com/Les-bases-de-la-physiologie-de-l-effort a27.html</u> [Accessed 25/06/2022].

BETROS, C., MCKEEVER, K., KEARNS, C. & MALINOWSKI, K. 2002. Effects of ageing and training on maximal heart rate and VO2max. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 34, 100-105.

BINDER, A. D. & GRIMES, P. W. 2021. Defying the odds: horseplayers and female jockeys. *Applied Economics Letters*, 1-8.

BINDER, A. D., GRIMES, P. W. & WINTERBOTHAM, R. G. 2021. In the Money: Gender and Jockey Success on the Thoroughbred Racetrack. *Journal of Sports Economics*, 22, 295-328.

BINNS, M., BOEHLER, D. & LAMBERT, D. 2010. Identification of the myostatin locus (MSTN) as having a major effect on optimum racing distance in the Thoroughbred horse in the USA. *Animal genetics*, 41, 154-158.

BITSCHNAU, C., WIESTNER, T., TRACHSEL, D., AUER, J. & WEISHAUPT, M. 2010. Performance parameters and post exercise heart rate recovery in Warmblood sports horses of different performance levels. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 42, 17-22.

BLOMQVIST, C. G. & SALTIN, B. 1983. Cardiovascular adaptations to physical training. *Annual Review of Physiology*, 45, 169-189.

BLOOMFIELD, J., POLMAN, R., O'DONOGHUE, P. & MCNAUGHTON, L. 2007. Effective speed and agility conditioning methodology for random intermittent dynamic type sports. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 21, 1093-1100.

BODEN, L., ANDERSON, G., CHARLES, J., MORGAN, K., MORTON, J., PARKIN, T., SLOCOMBE, R. & CLARKE, A. 2006. Risk of fatality and causes of death of Thoroughbred horses associated with racing in Victoria, Australia: 1989–2004. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 38, 312-318.

BOHÁK, Z., HARNOS, A., JOÓ, K., SZENCI, O. & KOVÁCS, L. 2018. Anticipatory response before competition in Standardbred racehorses. *PLoS One,* 13, e0201691.

BOKOR, Á., STEFLER, J. & NAGY, I. 2006. Genetic parameters of racing performance on Thoroughbred horses in Hungary. *Acta Agraria Kaposváriensis,* 10, 153-157.

BOLWELL, C., ROGERS, C., FRENCH, N. & FIRTH, E. 2013. The effect of interruptions during training on the time to the first trial and race start in Thoroughbred racehorses. *Preventive veterinary medicine*, 108, 188-198.

BOLWELL, C. F., ROGERS, C. W., FRENCH, N. P. & FIRTH, E. C. 2012. Associations between yearling exercise and interruptions during race training in Thoroughbred racehorses. *American journal of veterinary research*, 73, 1610-1616.

BOURKE, J. Wastage in thoroughbreds. Proceedings of the Annual Seminar of the Equine Branch of the New Zealand Veterinary Association, 1995. FCE Publication no. 167, NZVA Wellington, 107-119.

BOWER, M. A., CAMPANA, M., WHITTEN, M., EDWARDS, C. J., JONES, H., BARRETT, E., CASSIDY, R., NISBET, R., HILL, E. & HOWE, C. 2011. The cosmopolitan maternal heritage of the Thoroughbred racehorse breed shows a significant contribution from British and Irish native mares. *Biology letters*, 7, 316-320.

BRANDON, L. & BOILEAU, R. 1992. Influence of metabolic, mechanical and physique variables on middle distance running. *The Journal of sports medicine and physical fitness*, 32, 1-9.

BRITISH HORSERACING AUTHORITY. 2017. UK Flat Pattern 2017 [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.britishhorseracing.com</u> [Accessed 1/09/2022].

BRONSART, L. L., SIDES, R. H. & BAYLY, W. M. 2009. A comparative study of interval and continuous incremental training in Thoroughbreds. *Comparative Exercise Physiology*, 6, 49-57.

BROWN, A. & YANG, F. 2015. Does society underestimate women? Evidence from the performance of female jockeys in horse racing. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 111, 106-118.

BURN, J. F. & USMAR, S. J. 2005. Hoof landing velocity is related to track surface properties in trotting horses. *Comparative Exercise Physiology*, 2, 37.

BUTLER, J. A., COLLES, C. M., DYSON, S. J., KOLD, S. E. & POULOS, P. W. 2017. *Clinical radiology of the horse*, John Wiley & Sons.

BUTTRAM, S., WILLHAM, R., WILSON, D. & HEIRD, J. 1988. Genetics of racing performance in the American Quarter Horse: I. Description of the data. *Journal of Animal Science*, 66, 2791-2799.

BYSTRÖM, A., STALFELT, A., EGENVALL, A., VON PEINEN, K., MORGAN, K. & ROEPSTORFF, L. 2010. Influence of girth strap placement and panel flocking material on the saddle pressure pattern during riding of horses. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 42, 502-509.

CAMPBELL, E. H. 2011. Lactate-driven equine conditioning programmes. *The Veterinary Journal*, 190, 199-207.

CARRIER, T. K., ESTBERG, L., STOVER, S. M., GARDNER, I., JOHNSON, B. J., READ, D. H. & ARDANS, A. 1998. Association between long periods without high-speed workouts and risk of complete humeral or pelvic fracture in thoroughbred racehorses: 54 cases (1991-1994). *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 212, 1582-1587.

CHATEAU, H., ROBIN, D., FALALA, S., POURCELOT, P., VALETTE, J. P., RAVARY, B., DENOIX, J. M. & CREVIER-DENOIX, N. 2009. Effects of a synthetic all-weather waxed track versus a crushed sand track on 3D acceleration of the front hoof in three horses trotting at high speed. *Equine veterinary journal*, 41, 247-251.

CHRISTENSEN, J., RUNDGREN, M. & OLSSON, K. 2006. Training methods for horses: habituation to a frightening stimulus. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 38, 439-443.

CLARKE, A. F. Review of safety of turf versus non-turf (synthetic and dirt) racing surfaces. Proc. Am. Ass. Equine Practnrs, 2009. 183-186.

CLAUS, L. 2020. Why gender equal pay is so hard to achieve in sport [Online]. [Accessed].

CLAYTON, H. 1991. Conditioning sport horses Sport Horse Publications. Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, Canada.

CLAYTON, H. M. 2016. Horse species symposium: Biomechanics of the exercising horse. *Journal of animal science*, 94, 4076-4086.

CLEGG, P. 2011. Musculoskeletal disease and injury, now and in the future. Part 1: fractures and fatalities. *Equine veterinary journal*, 43, 643-649.

COGGER, N., PERKINS, N., HODGSON, D., REID, S. & EVANS, D. 2006. Risk factors for musculoskeletal injuries in 2-year-old Thoroughbred racehorses. *Preventive veterinary medicine*, 74, 36-43.

COHEN, N., PELOSO, J., MUNDY, G., FISHER, M., HOLLAND, R., LITTLE, T., MISHEFF, M., WATKINS, J., HONNAS, C. & MOYER, W. 1997. Racing-related factors and results of prerace physical inspection and their association with musculoskeletal injuries incurred in thoroughbreds during races. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 211, 454-463.

COUROUCÉ-MALBLANC, A. & HODGSON, D. R. 2014. Clinical exercise testing. *The Athletic Horse.* Elsevier.

COUROUCÉ, A. 1999. Field exercise testing for assessing fitness in French Standardbred trotters. *The veterinary journal,* 157, 112-122.

COUROUCÉ, A., CHRÉTIEN, M. & VALETTE, J. 2002. Physiological variables measured under field conditions according to age and state of training in French Trotters. *Equine veterinary journal*, 34, 91-97.

COUTTS, A. J. & DUFFIELD, R. 2010. Validity and reliability of GPS devices for measuring movement demands of team sports. *Journal of science and Medicine in Sport,* 13, 133-135.

CREVIER-DENOIX, N., ROBIN, D., POURCELOT, P., FALALA, S., HOLDEN, L., ESTOUP, P., DESQUILBET, L., DENOIX, J.-M. & CHATEAU, H. 2010. Ground reaction force and kinematic analysis of limb loading on two different beach sand tracks in harness trotters. *Equine veterinary journal*, 42, 544-551.

CREWTHER, B. T., HEKE, T. & KEOGH, J. W. 2011. The effects of training volume and competition on the salivary cortisol concentrations of Olympic weightlifters. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 25, 10-15.

CUNNINGHAM, E., DOOLEY, J., SPLAN, R. & BRADLEY, D. 2001. Microsatellite diversity, pedigree relatedness and the contributions of founder lineages to thoroughbred horses. *Animal genetics*, 32, 360-364.

CURTIS, R., KUSANO, K., EVANS, D., LOVELL, N. & HODGSON, D. 2005. Reliability of cardiorespiratory measurements with a new ergospirometer during intense treadmill exercise in Thoroughbred horses. *The Veterinary Journal*, 169, 223-231.

DAANEN, H. A., LAMBERTS, R. P., KALLEN, V. L., JIN, A. & VAN MEETEREN, N. L. 2012. A systematic review on heart-rate recovery to monitor changes in training status in athletes. *International journal of sports physiology and performance*, **7**, 251-260.

DAVIE, A. & EVANS, D. 2000. Blood lactate responses to submaximal field exercise tests in Thoroughbred horses. *The veterinary journal*, 159, 252-258.

DE MARÉ, L., BOSHUIZEN, B., PLANCKE, L., DE MEE, C., DE BRUIJN, M. & DELESALLE, C. 2017. Standardized exercise tests in horses: current situation and future perspectives. *Vlaams Diergeneeskundig Tijdschrift*, 86, 63-72.

DERMAN, K. D. & NOAKES, T. D. 1994. The Athletic Horse.

DEUEL, N. R. & PARK, J.-J. 1990. The gait patterns of Olympic dressage horses. *Journal of Applied Biomechanics*, 6, 198-226.

DIMOCK, A. N., PUCHALSKI, S. M., HOFFMAN, K. D., KLAWITTER, K. & STOVER, S. M. Humerus stress remodeling locations differ in thoroughbreds racing on synthetic versus dirt racetrack surfaces. Proc. Am. Ass. Equine Practnrs, 2010. 412.

DOLVIK, N. & KLEMETSDAL, G. 1999. Conformational traits of Norwegian cold-blooded trotters: heritability and the relationship with performance. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section A-Animal Science*, 49, 156-162.

DOUGLAS, L. 2018. The rise of women's sports [Online]. [Accessed].

DREVEMO, S., DALIN, G., FREDRICSON, I. & BJÖRNE, K. 1980. Equine locomotion: 3. The reproducibility of gait in Standardbred trotters. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 12, 71-73.

DUFFIELD, R., REID, M., BAKER, J. & SPRATFORD, W. 2010. Accuracy and reliability of GPS devices for measurement of movement patterns in confined spaces for court-based sports. *Journal of science and medicine in sport,* 13, 523-525.

DUMBELL, L., JOHNSON, J. & DE HAAN, D. 2010. Demographic Profiling of elite dressage riders. *International Journal of Sport and Society*, 1, 15-24.

DURNIN, J. V. & WOMERSLEY, J. 1974. Body fat assessed from total body density and its estimation from skinfold thickness: measurements on 481 men and women aged from 16 to 72 years. *British journal of nutrition*, 32, 77-97.

ELY, E. R., PRICE, J. S., SMITH, R. K., WOOD, J. L. & VERHEYEN, K. L. 2010. The effect of exercise regimens on racing performance in National Hunt racehorses. *Equine Vet J Suppl*, 624-9.

ESTBERG, L., GARDNER, I. A., STOVER, S. M., JOHNSON, B. J., CASE, J. T. & ARDANS, A. 1995. Cumulative racing-speed exercise distance cluster as a risk factor for fatal musculoskeletal injury in Thoroughbred racehorses in California. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 24, 253-263.

ETO, D., HADA, T., KUSANO, K., KAI, M. & KUSUNOSE, R. 2004a. Effect of three kinds of severe repeated exercises on blood lactate concentrations in thoroughbred horses on a treadmill. *Journal of equine science*, 15, 61-65.

ETO, D., YAMANO, S., MUKAI, K., SUGIURA, T., NASU, T., TOKURIKI, M. & MIYATA, H. 2004b. Effect of high intensity training on anaerobic capacity of middle gluteal muscle in Thoroughbred horses. *Research in veterinary science*, *7*6, 139-144.

EVANS, D. 1987. Maximum oxygen uptake in racehorses: changes with training state and prediction from submaximal cardiorespiratory measurements. *Equine exercise physiology*, 2, 52-67.

EVANS, D. 2007a. Physiology of equine performance and associated tests of function. *Equine veterinary journal,* 39, 373-383.

EVANS, D. 2007b. Welfare of the racehorse during exercise training and racing. *The welfare of horses.* Springer.

EVANS, D., HARRIS, R. & SNOW, D. 1993. Correlation of racing performance with blood lactate and heart rate after exercise in Thoroughbred horses. *Equine veterinary journal*, 25, 441-445.

FARRIES, G., MCGETTIGAN, P., GOUGH, K., MCGIVNEY, B., MACHUGH, D., KATZ, L. & HILL, E. 2018. Genetic contributions to precocity traits in racing Thoroughbreds. *Animal genetics*, 49, 193-204.

FELTON, P., LISTER, S., WORTHINGTON, P. J. & KING, M. 2019. Comparison of biomechanical characteristics between male and female elite fast bowlers. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 37, 665-670.

FERRARI, M., PFAU, T., WILSON, A. & WELLER, R. 2009. The effect of training on stride parameters in a cohort of National Hunt racing Thoroughbreds: A preliminary study. *Equine veterinary journal*, 41, 493-497.

FIRTH, E. & ROGERS, C. 2005. Musculoskeletal responses of 2-year-old Thoroughbred horses to early training. Conclusions. *New Zealand Veterinary Journal*, 53, 377-383.

FLEMING, P. R. I., CROMPTON, J. L. & SIMPSON, D. A. 2001. Neuro-ophthalmological sequelae of horse-related accidents. *Clinical & experimental ophthalmology*, 29, 208-212.

FONSECA, R., KENNY, D., HILL, E. & KATZ, L. 2010. The association of various speed indices to training responses in Thoroughbred flat racehorses measured with a global positioning and heart rate monitoring system. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 42, 51-57.

FOREMAN, J. H. 1984. *Physiological responses of Thoroughbred horses to conventional race training.* Washington State University.

FOSTER, C., RODRIGUEZ-MARROYO, J. A. & DE KONING, J. J. 2017. Monitoring training loads: the past, the present, and the future. *International journal of sports physiology and performance*, 12, S2-2-S2-8.

FOX, S. E., RIDGWAY, E. B., SLAVIN, S. A., UPTON III, J. & LEE, B. T. 2008. Equestrianrelated injuries: implications for treatment in plastic surgery. *Plastic and reconstructive surgery*, 122, 826-832.

FRAIPONT, A., VAN ERCK, E., RAMERY, E., FORTIER, G., LEKEUX, P. & ART, T. 2012. Assessing fitness in endurance horses. *The Canadian Veterinary Journal*, 53, 311.

FRANCE GALOP. 2017. *Review of the weight allowance for female jockeys* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.france-galop.com/en/content/review-weight-allowance-female-jockeys</u> [Accessed 11/11/2021].

FRIEDRICH, C., KOENIG, S., ROGERS, C. & BORSTEL, U. K. V. 2011. Examination of longevity in dressage horses-a comparison between sport horses in New Zealand and Hanoverians in Germany. *Züchtungskunde*, 83, 68-77.

GAFFNEY, B. & CUNNINGHAM, E. 1988. Estimation of genetic trend in racing performance of thoroughbred horses. *Nature*, 332, 722-724.

GALISTEO, A., CANO, M., MORALES, J., VIVO, J. & MIRÓ, F. 1998. The influence of speed and height at the withers on the kinematics of sound horses at the hand-led trot. *Veterinary research communications*, 22, 415-424.

GEOR, R., MCCUTCHEON, L., ECKER, G. L. & LINDINGER, M. 1995. Thermal and cardiorespiratory responses of horses to submaximal exercise under hot and humid conditions. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 27, 125-132.

GEORGOPOULOS, S. P. & PARKIN, T. D. 2017. Risk factors for equine fractures in Thoroughbred flat racing in North America. *Preventive veterinary medicine*, 139, 99-104.

GILL, D. L. 1986. Competitiveness among females and males in physical activity classes. *Sex Roles*, 15, 233-247.

GRAHAM, R. & MCMANUS, P. 2016. Changing human-animal relationships in sport: An analysis of the UK and Australian horse racing whips debates. *Animals*, 6, 32.

GRAMKOW, H. & EVANS, D. 2006. Correlation of race earnings with velocity at maximal heart rate during a field exercise test in thoroughbred racehorses. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 38, 118-122.

GRAMM, M. & MARKSTEINER, R. 2010. The effect of age on thoroughbred racing performance. *Journal of equine science*, 21, 73-78.

GUNNARSSON, V., STEFÁNSDÓTTIR, G., JANSSON, A. & ROEPSTORFF, L. 2017. The effect of rider weight and additional weight in Icelandic horses in tölt: part II. Stride parameters responses. *animal*, 11, 1567-1572.

HAGBERG, J., HICKSON, R., EHSANI, A. & HOLLOSZY, J. 1980. Faster adjustment to and recovery from submaximal exercise in the trained state. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 48, 218-224.

HANTON, S., THOMAS, O. & MAYNARD, I. 2004. Competitive anxiety responses in the week leading up to competition: the role of intensity, direction and frequency dimensions. *Psychology of sport and exercise*, *5*, 169-181.

HARGREAVES, B. J., KRONFELD, D. & NAYLOR, J. 1999. Ambient temperature and relative humidity influenced packed cell volume, total plasma protein and other variables in horses during an incremental submaximal field exercise test. *Equine veterinary journal*, 31, 314-318.

HARKINS, J., BEADLE, R. & KAMERLING, S. 1993. The correlation of running ability and physiological variables in Thoroughbred racehorses. *Equine veterinary journal*, 25, 53-60.

HARKINS, J. & KAMERLING, S. 1991. Assessment of treadmill interval training on fitness. *Journal of Equine Veterinary Science*, 11, 237-242.

HARRIS, R., MARLIN, D. & SNOW, D. 1987. Metabolic response to maximal exercise of 800 and 2,000 m in the thoroughbred horse. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 63, 12-19.

HELLANDER, J., FREDRICSON, I., HERTÉN, G., DREVEMO, S. & DALIN, G. 1983. Galloppaktion I—Basala gangartsvariabler i relation till hästens hastighet. *Svensk Veterinärtidning*, 35, 75-82.

HERNANDEZ, J. & HAWKINS, D. L. 2001. Training failure among yearling horses. *American journal of veterinary research*, 62, 1418-1422.

HERNANDEZ, J., HAWKINS, D. L. & SCOLLAY, M. C. 2001. Race-start characteristics and risk of catastrophic musculoskeletal injury in Thoroughbred racehorses. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 218, 83-86.

HILL, E., RYAN, D. & MACHUGH, D. 2012. Horses for courses: a DNA-based test for race distance aptitude in thoroughbred racehorses. *Recent Patents on DNA & Gene Sequences (Discontinued)*, 6, 203-208.

HILL, E. W., GU, J., EIVERS, S. S., FONSECA, R. G., MCGIVNEY, B. A., GOVINDARAJAN, P., ORR, N., KATZ, L. M. & MACHUGH, D. 2010. A sequence polymorphism in MSTN predicts sprinting ability and racing stamina in thoroughbred horses. *PloS one,* 5, e8645.

HINCHCLIFF, K. W., KANEPS, A. J. & GEOR, R. J. 2008. *Equine exercise physiology: the science of exercise in the athletic horse*, Elsevier Health Sciences.

HINCHCLIFF, K. W., KANEPS, A. J. & GEOR, R. J. 2013. *Equine Sports Medicine and Surgery E-Book*, Elsevier Health Sciences.

HINTZ, H. F. 1994. Nutrition and equine performance. *The Journal of nutrition*, 124, 2723S-2729S.

HINTZ, R. L. 1980. Genetics of performance in the horse. *Journal of Animal Science*, 51, 582-594.

HITCHENS, P., HILL, A. E. & STOVER, S. M. 2016. The role of catastrophic injury or sudden death of the horse in race-day jockey falls and injuries in C alifornia, 2007–2012. *Equine veterinary journal*, 48, 50-56.

HITCHENS, P., MORRICE-WEST, A., STEVENSON, M. & WHITTON, R. 2019. Meta-analysis of risk factors for racehorse catastrophic musculoskeletal injury in flat racing. *The Veterinary Journal*, 245, 29-40.

HITCHENS, P. L., BLIZZARD, C. L., JONES, G., DAY, L. M. & FELL, J. 2009. The incidence of race-day jockey falls in Australia, 2002–2006. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 190, 83-86.

HITCHENS, P. L., HILL, A. E. & STOVER, S. M. 2018. Relationship between historical lameness, medication usage, surgery, and exercise with catastrophic musculoskeletal injury in racehorses. *Frontiers in veterinary science*, *5*, 217.

HODGSON, D. 2014. Training the thoroughbred racehorse. The Athletic Horse. Elsevier.

HODGSON, D. R. & ROSE, R. J. 1994. An Overview of Performance and Sports Medicine'. *The Athletic Horse.*

HORSE RACING IRELAND. 2017. *Irish Pattern Races, Listed Races and Premier Handicaps 2017.* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.goracing.ie/</u> [Accessed 3/08/2022].

HORSE RACING NEWS. 2020. CHRB Approves Continuing Education Program for Trainers; Poised to Further Tighten Corticosteroid, Thyroxin Use [Online]. Available: https://www.paulickreport.com/news/the-biz/chrb-approves-continuing-education-programfor-trainers-poised-to-further-tighten-corticosteroid-use/ [Accessed 11/11/ 2023].

HOUGHTON, E. J., PIEPER, L. & SMITH, M. 2017. Women in the 2016 Olympic and Paralympic Games: an analysis of participation, leadership, and media coverage.

HUGGINS, M. 2014. Flat racing and British society 1790–1914: a social and economic history, Routledge.

IFHA. 2019. Annual Report [Online]. Available: https://www.ifhaonline.org/resources/Annual_Report_2019.pdf [Accessed 12/10/2022].

IFHA. 2022. *Classifications* [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.horseracingintfed.com</u> [Accessed 1/08/2022].

ILLE, N., ERBER, R., AURICH, C. & AURICH, J. 2014. Comparison of heart rate and heart rate variability obtained by heart rate monitors and simultaneously recorded electrocardiogram signals in nonexercising horses. *Journal of Veterinary Behavior*, 9, 341-346.

INTERNATIONAL OLYMPIC COMMITTEE. 2021. Available: <u>https://olympics.com/en/</u> [Accessed 23/06/2022].

JEFFCOTT, L. & KOHN, C. W. 1999. Contributions of equine exercise physiology research to the success of the 1996 Equestrian Olympic Games: a review. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 31, 347-355.

JEFFCOTT, L., ROSSDALE, P., FREESTONE, J., FRANK, C. & TOWERS-CLARK, P. 1982. An assessment of wastage in Thoroughbred racing from conception to 4 years of age. *Equine veterinary journal,* 14, 185-198.

JIN, D., ADAMS, H., COCCO, A. M., MARTIN, W. G. & PALMER, S. 2020. Smartphones and wearable technology: benefits and concerns in cardiology. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 212, 54-56. e1.

JOHNSON, B., STOVER, S. M., DAFT, B. M., KINDE, H., READ, D., BARR, B., ANDERSON, M., MOORE, J., WOODS, L. & STOLTZ, J. 1994. Causes of death in racehorses over a 2 year period. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 26, 327-330.

JOHNSTON, C., GOTTLIEB-VEDI, M., DREVEMO, S. & ROEPSTORFF, L. 1999. The kinematics of loading and fatigue in the Standardbred trotter. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 31, 249-253.

KAPAUN, M., PEHAM, C., LICKA, T. & SCHEIDL, M. The influence of the rider on the trotting motion of a horse. ISBS-Conference Proceedings Archive, 1998.

KAY, J. & VAMPLEW, W. 2012. Encyclopedia of British horse racing, Routledge.

KEARNS, C., MCKEEVER, K. H. & ABE, T. 2002. Overview of horse body composition and muscle architecture: implications for performance. *The Veterinary Journal*, 164, 224-234.

KEE, P., ANDERSON, N., GARGIULO, G. D. & VELIE, B. D. 2023. A synopsis of wearable commercially available biometric-monitoring devices and their potential applications during gallop racing. *Equine Veterinary Education*, 35, 551-560.

KEELING, L. J., JONARE, L. & LANNEBORN, L. 2009. Investigating horse-human interactions: The effect of a nervous human. *The Veterinary Journal*, 181, 70-71.

KIM, H. K., MIRJALILI, S. A., ZHANG, Y., XIANG, L., GU, Y. & FERNANDEZ, J. 2021. Effect of gender and running experience on lower limb biomechanics following 5 km barefoot running. *Sports Biomechanics*, 1-14.

KINGSTON, J., SOPPET, G., ROGERS, C. & FIRTH, E. 2006. Use of a global positioning and heart rate monitoring system to assess training load in a group of thoroughbred racehorses. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 38, 106-109.

KNIGHT, P. K., SINHA, A. & ROSE, R. 1991. Effects of training intensity on maximum oxygen uptake. *Equine exercise physiology*, **3**, 77-82.

KOBLUK, C., ROBINSON, R., CLANTON, C., TRENT, A., AMES, T. & GORDON, B. Comparison of the exercise level and problem rate of 95 Thoroughbred horses: a cohort study. Proceedings of the annual convention of the American Association of Equine Practitioners (USA), 1990.

KOBLUK, C. N., GEOR, R. J., KING, V. L., CRONIN, T. & ROBINSON, R. A. 1996. A case control study of racing throughbreds conditioned on a high speed treadmill. *Journal of Equine Veterinary Science*, 16, 511-513.

KOHN, C. W., HINCHCLIFF, K., MCCUTCHEON, L., GEOR, R., FOREMAN, J., ALLEN, A., WHITE, S. L., MAYKUTH, P. L. & WILLIAMSON, L. H. 1995. Physiological responses of horses competing at a modified 1 Star 3-day-event. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 27, 97-104.

KORTE, S. 2001. Corticosteroids in relation to fear, anxiety and psychopathology. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 25, 117-142.

KRONFELD, D., FERRANTE, P. L., TAYLOR, L. E. & CUSTALOW, S. E. 1995. Blood hydrogen ion and lactate concentrations during strenuous exercise in the horse. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 27, 266-269.

KRZYWANEK, H., WITTKE, G., BAYER, A. & BORMAN, P. 1970. The heart rates of Thoroughbred horses during a race. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 2, 115-117.

KUSY, K. & ZIELINSKI, J. 2015. Sprinters versus long-distance runners: how to grow old healthy. *Exercise and sport sciences reviews*, 43, 57-64.

LANDERS, G. J., BLANKSBY, B. A. & RACKLAND, T. 2011. Cadence, stride rate and stride length during triathlon competition. *International Journal of exercise science*, 4, 40.

LANGLOIS, B. 1980. Heritability of racing ability in Thoroughbreds—a review. *Livestock Production Science*, 7, 591-605.

LARSSON, P. 2003. Global positioning system and sport-specific testing. *Sports medicine,* 33, 1093-1101.

LEACH, D. & CYMBALUK, N. F. 1986. Relationships between stride length, stride frequency, velocity, and morphometrics of foals. *American journal of veterinary research*, 47, 2090-2097.

LEHNHARD, R. A., BARTLETT, M., ROCHE, B. M., HINCHCLIFF, K. W. & MCKEEVER, K. H. 2010. Variations in lactate during a graded exercise test due to sampling location and method. *Comparative Exercise Physiology*, **7**, 81-87.

LIGHTFOOT, G., JOSE-CUNILLERAS, E., ROGERS, K., NEWTON, J. & YOUNG, L. 2006. An echocardiographic and auscultation study of right heart responses to training in young national hunt thoroughbred horses. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 38, 153-158.

LINDINGER, M., GEOR, R., ECKER, G. L. & MCCUTCHEON, L. 1995. Plasma volume and ions during exercise in cool, dry; hot, dry; and hot, humid conditions. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 27, 133-139.

LINDNER, A. News on equine sports science (2005-06). Applied equine nutrition and training: Equine NUtrition COnference (ENUCO) 2007, 2007. Wageningen Academic Publishers, 173.

LINDNER, A. & DINGERKUS, A. 1993. Incidence of training failure among Thoroughbred horses at Cologne, Germany. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 16, 85-94.

LYLE, C., UZAL, F. A., MCGORUM, B., AIDA, H., BLISSITT, K., CASE, J., CHARLES, J., GARDNER, I., HORADAGODA, N. & KUSANO, K. 2011. Sudden death in racing Thoroughbred horses: an international multicentre study of post mortem findings. *Equine veterinary journal*, 43, 324-331.

LYLE, C. H., BLISSITT, K., KENNEDY, R., MC GORUM, B., NEWTON, J., PARKIN, T., STIRK, A. & BODEN, L. 2012. Risk factors for race-associated sudden death in Thoroughbred racehorses in the UK (2000–2007). *Equine veterinary journal*, 44, 459-465.

MACKINNON, M., BONDER, D., BOSTON, R. & ROSS, M. 2015. Analysis of stress fractures associated with lameness in T horoughbred flat racehorses training on different track surfaces undergoing nuclear scintigraphic examination. *Equine veterinary journal*, 47, 296-301.

MADDOX, D. 1976. For jockeys, small is beautiful—but difficult. *Physician Sports Med*, 4, 89-94.

MAEDA, Y., HANADA, M. & OIKAWA, M.-A. 2016. Epidemiology of racing injuries in Thoroughbred racehorses with special reference to bone fractures: Japanese experience from the 1980s to 2000s. *Journal of equine science*, 27, 81-97.

MAEDA, Y., TOMIOKA, M., HANADA, M. & OIKAWA, M.-A. 2012. Influence of track surface condition on racing times of Thoroughbred racehorses in flat races. *Journal of Equine Veterinary Science*, 32, 689-695.

MARKWELL, K., FIRTH, T. & HING, N. 2017. Blood on the race track: An analysis of ethical concerns regarding animal-based gambling. *Annals of Leisure Research*, 20, 594-609.

MARLIN, D. 1991. Rates of blood lactate disappearance following exercise of different intensities. *Equine exercise physiology*, 3, 188-195.

MARLIN, D., HARRIS, P. A., SCHROTER, R., HARRIS, R., ROBERTS, C., SCOTT, C., ORME, C., DUNNETT, M., DYSON, S. J. & BARRELET, F. 1995. Physiological, metabolic and biochemical responses of horses competing in the speed and endurance phase of a CCI**** 3-day-event. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 27, 37-46.

MARLIN, D. & NANKERVIS, K. J. 2013. Equine exercise physiology, John Wiley & Sons.

MARLIN, D., SCOTT, C., SCHROTER, R., MILLS, P., HARRIS, R., HARRIS, P. A., ORME, C., ROBERTS, C., MARR, C. M. & DYSON, S. J. 1996. Physiological responses in nonheat acclimated horses performing treadmill exercise in cool (20 C/40% RH), hot dry (30 C/40% RH) and hot humid (30 C/80% RH) conditions. *Equine Veterinary Journal,* 28, 70-84.

MARLIN, D., SCOTT, C. M., SCHROTER, R., HARRIS, R., HARRIS, P. A., ROBERTS, C. & MILLS, P. 1999. Physiological responses of horses to a treadmill simulated speed and endurance test in high heat and humidity before and after humid heat acclimation. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 31, 31-42.

MARON, B. J., DOERER, J. J., HAAS, T. S., TIERNEY, D. M. & MUELLER, F. O. 2009. Sudden deaths in young competitive athletes: analysis of 1866 deaths in the United States, 1980–2006. *Circulation*, 119, 1085-1092.

MASON, T. & BOURKE, J. M. 1973. Closure of the distal radial epiphysis and its relationship to unsoundness in two year old thoroughbreds. *Australian Veterinary Journal*.

MCCARTHY, R. & JEFFCOTT, L. 1992. Effects of treadmill exercise on cortical bone in the third metacarpus of young horses. *Research in veterinary science*, 52, 28-37.

MCCOMBS, M. E. & SOMMERS, P. M. 1983. Are women the weaker sex in grand prix jumping? The answer is nay. *Journal of Recreational Mathematics*, 15, 161-167.

MCCRORY, P., TURNER, M., LEMASSON, B., BODERE, C. & ALLEMANDOU, A. 2006. An analysis of injuries resulting from professional horse racing in France during 1991–2001: a comparison with injuries resulting from professional horse racing in Great Britain during 1992–2001. *British journal of sports medicine,* 40, 614-618.

MCCUTCHEON, L., GEOR, R., HARE, M. J., ECKER, G. L. & LINDINGER, M. 1995. Sweating rate and sweat composition during exercise and recovery in ambient heat and humidity. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 27, 153-157.

MCMIKEN, D. 1983. An energetic basis of equine performance. *Equine veterinary journal,* 15, 123-133.

MERCIER, Q. & AFTALION, A. 2020. Pacing strategy in horse racing. *bioRxiv*.

MERKIES, K., SIEVERS, A., ZAKRAJSEK, E., MACGREGOR, H., BERGERON, R. & VON BORSTEL, U. K. 2014. Preliminary results suggest an influence of psychological and physiological stress in humans on horse heart rate and behavior. *Journal of Veterinary Behavior*, 9, 242-247.

MIRÓ, F., SANTOS, R., GARRIDO-CASTRO, J., GALISTEO, A. & MEDINA-CARNICER, R. 2009. 2D versus 3D in the kinematic analysis of the horse at the trot. *Veterinary research communications*, 33, 507-513.

MISUMI, K., SAKAMOTO, H. & SHIMIZU, R. 1994. The validity of swimming training for twoyear-old thoroughbreds. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science*, 56, 217-222.

MISUMI, K., SAKAMOTO, H. & SHIMIZU, R. 1995. Changes in skeletal muscle composition in response to swimming training for young horses. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science*, 57, 959-961.

MOHAMMED, H., HILL, T. & LOWE, J. 1991. Risk factors associated with injuries in Thoroughbred horses. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 23, 445-448.

MORE, S. 1999. A longitudinal study of racing Thoroughbreds: performance during the first years of racing. *Australian veterinary journal*, 77, 105-112.

MORLEY, P. S., BROMBEREK, J., SAULEZ, M. N., HINCHCLIFF, K. W. & GUTHRIE, A. J. 2015. Exercise-induced pulmonary haemorrhage impairs racing performance in T horoughbred racehorses. *Equine veterinary journal*, 47, 358-365.

MORRICE-WEST, A. V., HITCHENS, P. L., WALMSLEY, E. A. & WHITTON, R. C. 2018. Track Surfaces Used for Ridden Workouts and Alternatives to Ridden Exercise for Thoroughbred Horses in Race Training. *Animals (Basel)*, 8.

MORRICE-WEST, A. V., HITCHENS, P. L., WALMSLEY, E. A., WONG, A. S. & WHITTON, R. C. 2021. Association of Thoroughbred Racehorse Workloads and Rest Practices with Trainer Success. *Animals*, 11, 3130.

MORRICE-WEST, A., HITCHENS, P., WALMSLEY, E., STEVENSON, M. & WHITTON, R. 2020. Training practices, speed and distances undertaken by Thoroughbred racehorses in Victoria, Australia. *Equine veterinary journal*, 52, 273-280.

MORRICE-WEST, A. V., HITCHENS, P. L., WALMSLEY, E. A., STEVENSON, M. A., WONG, A. S. & WHITTON, R. C. 2021. Variation in GPS and accelerometer recorded velocity and stride parameters of galloping Thoroughbred horses. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 53, 1063-1074.

MUKAI, K., TAKAHASHI, T., HADA, T., ETO, D., KUSANO, K., YOKOTA, S., HIRAGA, A. & ISHIDA, N. 2003. Influence of gender and racing performance on heart rates during submaximal exercise in Thoroughbred racehorses. *Journal of equine science*, 14, 93-96.

MUNSTERS, C., SIEGERS, E. & SLOET VAN OLDRUITENBORGH-OOSTERBAAN, M. 2024. Effect of a 14-Day Period of Heat Acclimation on Horses Using Heated Indoor Arenas in Preparation for Tokyo Olympic Games. *Animals*, 14, 546.

MUNSTERS, C. C., VISSER, K. E., VAN DEN BROEK, J. & VAN OLDRUITENBORGH-OOSTERBAAN, M. M. S. 2012. The influence of challenging objects and horse-rider matching on heart rate, heart rate variability and behavioural score in riding horses. *The Veterinary Journal*, 192, 75-80.

MURAKAMI, M., IMAHARA, T., INUI, T., AMADA, A., SENTA, T., TAKAGI, S., KUBO, K., SUGIMOTO, O., WATANABE, H. & IKEDA, S. 1976. Swimming exercises in horses. *Experimental Reports of Equine Health Laboratory*, 1976, 27-49.

MURRAY, R. C., WHITTON, R., VEDI, S., GOODSHIP, A. & LEKEUX, P. 1999. The effect of training on the calcified zone of equine middle carpal articular cartilage. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 31, 274-278.

NANKERVIS, K. J., LAUNDER, E. J. & MURRAY, R. C. 2017. The Use of Treadmills Within the Rehabilitation of Horses. *Journal of Equine Veterinary Science*, 53, 108-115.

NAVAS DE SOLIS, C. 2019. Cardiovascular Response to Exercise and Training, Exercise Testing in Horses. *Vet Clin North Am Equine Pract*, 35, 159-173.

NEWTON, R. U., LAURSEN, P. B. & YOUNG, W. 2008. Clinical exercise testing and assessment of athletes. *Olympic Textbook of Medicine in Sport*, 160.

O'BRIEN, E., STEVENS, K., PFEIFFER, D., HALL, J. & MARR, C. 2005. Factors associated with the wastage and achievements in competition of event horses registered in the United Kingdom. *Veterinary record*, 157, 9-13.

OHMURA, H. & JONES, J. H. 2017. Changes in heart rate and heart rate variability as a function of age in Thoroughbred horses. *Journal of equine science*, 28, 99-103.

OIKAWA, M. & KUSUNOSE, R. 2005. Fractures sustained by racehorses in Japan during flat racing with special reference to track condition and racing time. *The Veterinary Journal*, 170, 369-374.

OKI, H., SASAKI, Y., LIN, C. & WILLHAM, R. 1995. Influence of jockeys on racing time in Thoroughbred horses. *Journal of Animal Breeding and Genetics*, 112, 171-175.

OKI, H., SASAKI, Y. & WILLHAM, R. 1994. Genetics of racing performance in the Japanese Thoroughbred horse: II. Environmental variation of racing time on turf and dirt tracks and the

influence of sex, age, and weight carried on racing time. *Journal of Animal Breeding and Genetics*, 111, 128-137.

ORSINI, J. A., HACKETT, E. S. & GRENAGER, N. 2009. The effect of exercise on equine gastric ulcer syndrome in the Thoroughbred and Standardbred athlete. *Journal of Equine Veterinary Science*, 29, 167-171.

OXLEY, S. 2021. *Prize money in sport: What can football learn from cricket*? [Online]. [Accessed].

PAGAN, J., MULVEY, E., O'NEILL, K., IRELAND, N. & DAVIES, M. 2017. Intensity and distance of exercise during training in advanced three-day event horses and thoroughbred racehorses assessed using KER ClockIt smartphone application. *Journal of Equine Veterinary Science*, 100, 67-68.

PARKIN, T., CLEGG, P., FRENCH, N., PROUDMAN, C., RIGGS, C., SINGER, E., WEBBON, P. & MORGAN, K. 2004a. Horse-level risk factors for fatal distal limb fracture in racing Thoroughbreds in the UK. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 36, 513-519.

PARKIN, T., CLEGG, P., FRENCH, N., PROUDMAN, C., RIGGS, C., SINGER, E., WEBBON, P. & MORGAN, K. 2004b. Race-and course-level risk factors for fatal distal limb fracture in racing Thoroughbreds. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 36, 521-526.

PARKIN, T., CLEGG, P., FRENCH, N., PROUDMAN, C., RIGGS, C., SINGER, E., WEBBON, P. & MORGAN, K. 2005. Risk factors for fatal lateral condylar fracture of the third metacarpus/metatarsus in UK racing. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 37, 192-199.

PARKIN, T. D. 2008. Epidemiology of racetrack injuries in racehorses. *Veterinary Clinics of North America: Equine Practice*, 24, 1-19.

PARKIN, T. D. 2011. Track surfaces and lameness.

PATE, R. R., BARNES, C. & MILLER, W. 1985. A physiological comparison of performancematched female and male distance runners. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport,* 56, 245-250.

PEETERS, M., CLOSSON, C., BECKERS, J.-F. & VANDENHEEDE, M. 2013. Rider and Horse Salivary Cortisol Levels During Competition and Impact on Performance. *Journal of Equine Veterinary Science*, 33, 155-160.

PERKINS, N., REID, S. & MORRIS, R. 2005. Profiling the New Zealand Thoroughbred racing industry. 2. Conditions interfering with training and racing. *New Zealand Veterinary Journal*, 53, 69-76.

PERRY, J. D. & WILLIAMS, J. M. 1998. Relationship of intensity and direction of competitive trait anxiety to skill level and gender in tennis. *The Sport Psychologist*, 12, 169-179.

PETERSON, M. & MCILWRAITH, C. 2008. Effect of track maintenance on mechanical properties of a dirt racetrack: a preliminary study. *Equine veterinary journal,* 40, 602-605.

PETERSON, M., REISER II, R., KUO, P. H., RADFORD, D. W. & MC ILWRAITH, C. W. 2010. Effect of temperature on race times on a synthetic surface. *Equine veterinary journal*, 42, 351-357.

PETERSON, M., SANDERSON, W., KUSSAINOV, N., HOBBS, S. J., MILES, P., SCOLLAY, M. C. & CLAYTON, H. M. 2021. Effects of Racing Surface and Turn Radius on Fatal Limb Fractures in Thoroughbred Racehorses. *Sustainability*, 13, 539.

PFAU, T., SPENCE, A., STARKE, S., FERRARI, M. & WILSON, A. 2009. Modern riding style improves horse racing times. *Science*, 325, 289-289.

PHYSICK-SHEARD, P. 1986. Career profile of the Canadian Standardbred. I. Influence of age, gait and sex upon chances of racing. *Canadian journal of veterinary research*, 50, 449.

POOLE, D. C. & ERICKSON, H. H. 2011. Highly athletic terrestrial mammals: horses and dogs. *Comprehensive Physiology*, 1, 1-37.

POOLE, D. C. & ERICKSON, H. H. 2014. Heart and vessels. *Equine Sports Medicine and Surgery.*

RABBANI, A., KARGARFARD, M. & TWIST, C. 2020. Fitness monitoring in elite soccer players: group vs. individual analyses. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 34, 3250-3257.

RACING AUSTRALIA. 2016. *Australian Group Races* [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.racingaustralia.com.au</u> [Accessed 1/08/2022].

RACING VICTORIA. 2011. *The Rules of Racing of Racing Victoria.* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.racingvictoria.com.au</u> [Accessed 1/08/2022].

RACING VICTORIA. 2017. 2017 Annual Report [Online]. Available: <u>https://cdn.racing.com/-/media/rv/files/racing-victoria-2017-annual-report.pdf</u> [Accessed 1/08/2022].

RACING VICTORIA. 2022. *Track Preparation Guidelines* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.racingvictoria.com.au/the-sport/racing/tracks-and-facilities/track-prep-guidelines</u> [Accessed 1/08/2023].

RATZLAFF, M. H., SHINDELL, R. M. & WHITE, K. K. 1985. The interrelationships of stride lengths and stride times to velocities of galloping horses. *Journal of Equine Veterinary Science*, 5, 279-283.

RAY, M. A. & GRIMES, P. W. 1993. Jockeying for position: Winnings and gender discrimination on the thoroughbred racetrack. *Social Science Quarterly*, 46-61.

REED, S. R., JACKSON, B. F., WOOD, J. L., PRICE, J. S. & VERHEYEN, K. L. 2013. Exercise affects joint injury risk in young Thoroughbreds in training. *The veterinary journal*, 196, 339-344.

REYNAERT, R., MARCUS, S., DE PAEPE, M. & PEETERS, G. 1976. Influences of stress, age and sex on serum growth hormone and free fatty acid levels in cattle. *Hormone and Metabolic Research*, 8, 109-114.

RIVERO, J.-L. L., RUZ, A., MARTÍ-KORFF, S., ESTEPA, J.-C., AGUILERA-TEJERO, E., WERKMAN, J., SOBOTTA, M. & LINDNER, A. 2007. Effects of intensity and duration of exercise on muscular responses to training of thoroughbred racehorses. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 102, 1871-1882.

RIVERO, J. L. 2007. A scientific background for skeletal muscle conditioning in equine practice. *Journal of Veterinary Medicine Series A*, 54, 321-332.

ROBERTS, L.-J. & MACLEAN, M. 2012. Women in the weighing room: Gendered discourses of exclusion in English flat racing. *Sport in Society*, 15, 320-334.

ROBINSON, R., KOBLUK, C., CLANTON, C., MARTIN, F., GORDON, B., AMES, T., TRENT, M. & RUTH, G. 1988. Epidemiological studies of musculoskeletal racing and training injuries in Thoroughbred horses, Minnesota, USA. *Acta veterinaria Scandinavica. Supplementum*, 84, 340-343.

ROGERS, C. & FIRTH, E. 2004. Musculoskeletal responses of 2-year-old Thoroughbred horses to early training. 2. Measurement error and effect of training stage on the relationship between objective and subjective criteria of training workload. *New Zealand Veterinary Journal*, 52, 272-279.

ROGERS, C. W., BOLWELL, C. F., TANNER, J. C. & VAN WEEREN, P. R. 2012. Early exercise in the horse. *Journal of veterinary behavior*, **7**, 375-379.

RONÉUS, N., ESSÉN-GUSTAVSSON, B., LINDHOLM, A. & PERSSON, S. 1999. Muscle characteristics and plasma lactate and ammonia response after racing in Standardbred trotters: relation to performance. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 31, 170-173.

ROONEY, M. F., HILL, E. W., KELLY, V. P. & PORTER, R. K. 2018. The "speed gene" effect of myostatin arises in Thoroughbred horses due to a promoter proximal SINE insertion. *PLoS One,* 13, e0205664.

ROSS, J. 2003. Australian Racing Fact Book [Online]. [Accessed].

RUEDA, M. A. F., HALLEY, W. L. & GILCHRIST, M. D. 2010. Fall and injury incidence rates of jockeys while racing in Ireland, France and Britain. *Injury*, 41, 533-539.

SAAD, G. & VONGAS, J. G. 2009. The effect of conspicuous consumption on men's testosterone levels. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 110, 80-92.

SAASTAMOINEN, M. & NYLANDER, A. 1996. Genetic and phenotypic parameters for age at starting to race and racing performance during early career in trotters. *Livestock Production Science*, 45, 63-68.

SAASTAMOINEN, M. T. & BARREY, E. 2000. Physiological Traits. *The genetics of the horse*, 439.

SAHLIN, K. 1986. Muscle fatigue and lactic acid accumulation. *Acta physiologica Scandinavica. Supplementum*, 556, 83-91.

SANTSCHI, E. M., WHITE, B. J., PETERSON, E. S., GOTCHEY, M. H., MORGAN, J. M. & LEIBSLE, S. R. 2017. Forelimb conformation, sales results, and lifetime racing performance of 2-year-old Thoroughbred racing prospects sold at auction. *Journal of Equine Veterinary Science*, 53, 74-80.

SCHMIDT, A., AURICH, J., MÖSTL, E., MÜLLER, J. & AURICH, C. 2010. Changes in cortisol release and heart rate and heart rate variability during the initial training of 3-year-old sport horses. *Hormones and Behavior*, 58, 628-636.

SCHRURS, C., BLOTT, S., DUBOIS, G., VAN ERCK-WESTERGREN, E. & GARDNER, D. S. 2022a. Locomotory Profiles in Thoroughbreds: Peak Stride Length and Frequency in Training and Association with Race Outcomes. *Animals*, 12, 3269.

SCHRURS, C., DUBOIS, G., PATARIN, F., COBB, M., GARDNER, D. S. & VAN ERCK-WESTERGREN, E. 2022b. Cardiovascular and locomotory parameters during training in Thoroughbred racehorses: a multi-national study. *Comparative Exercise Physiology*, 18, 185-199.

SCHRURS, C., DUBOIS, G., VAN ERCK-WESTERGREN, E. & GARDNER, D. S. 2022c. Does sex of the jockey influence racehorse physiology and performance. *PLoS One*.

SEILER, S. 2010. What is best practice for training intensity and duration distribution in endurance athletes? *International journal of sports physiology and performance*, **5**, 276-291.

SELF, Z. T., SPENCE, A. J. & WILSON, A. M. 2012. Speed and incline during Thoroughbred horse racing: racehorse speed supports a metabolic power constraint to incline running but not to decline running. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 113, 602-607.

SERRANO, M., EVANS, D. & HODGSON, J. 2002. Heart rate and blood lactate responses during exercise in preparation for eventing competition. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 34, 135-139.

SETTERBO, J. J., GARCIA, T. C., CAMPBELL, I. P., REESE, J. L., MORGAN, J. M., KIM, S. Y., HUBBARD, M. & STOVER, S. M. 2009. Hoof accelerations and ground reaction forces of Thoroughbred racehorses measured on dirt, synthetic, and turf track surfaces. *American journal of veterinary research*, 70, 1220-1229.

SIDES, R., BAYLY, W., KIRKPATRICK, R., RENNER, E., GOUGH, K., KATZ, L. & EVANS, D. 2014. Evaluation of masks for field testing of exercising horses. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 46, 2-2.

SMITH, E. S., MCKAY, A. K., KUIKMAN, M., ACKERMAN, K. E., HARRIS, R., ELLIOTT-SALE, K. J., STELLINGWERFF, T. & BURKE, L. M. 2022. Auditing the Representation of Female Versus Male Athletes in Sports Science and Sports Medicine Research: Evidence-Based Performance Supplements. *Nutrients*, 14, 953.

SOBCZYNSKA, M. 2006. Genetic correlations between racing performance at different racing distances in Thoroughbreds and Arab horses. *Czech Journal of Animal Science*, 51, 523.

STARKE, S. D., RAISTRICK, K. J., MAY, S. A. & PFAU, T. 2013. The effect of trotting speed on the evaluation of subtle lameness in horses. *The veterinary journal*, 197, 245-252.

STOVER, S. M. 2003. The epidemiology of Thoroughbred racehorse injuries. *Clinical Techniques in Equine Practice*, 2, 312-322.

SYMONS, J., GARCIA, T. & STOVER, S. M. 2014. Distal hindlimb kinematics of galloping T horoughbred racehorses on dirt and synthetic racetrack surfaces. *Equine veterinary journal*, 46, 227-232.

TAKAHASHI, T. 2015. The effect of age on the racing speed of Thoroughbred racehorses. *Journal of equine science*, 26, 43-48.

TAKAHASHI, Y., TAKAHASHI, T., MUKAI, K. & OHMURA, H. 2021. Effects of fatigue on stride parameters in thoroughbred racehorses during races. *Journal of Equine Veterinary Science*, 101, 103447.

TANNER, J., ROGERS, C. & FIRTH, E. 2011. The relationship of training milestones with racing success in a population of Standardbred horses in New Zealand. *New Zealand Veterinary Journal*, 59, 323-327.

TANNER, J., ROGERS, C. & FIRTH, E. 2013. The association of 2-year-old training milestones with career length and racing success in a sample of Thoroughbred horses in New Zealand. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 45, 20-24.

TAVANAEIMANESH, H., DASHLI-BOROON, O. J. & CORLEY, K. 2022. Comparison of βendorphin, Lactate and Cortisol Concentrations in Winning and Losing Racehorses. *Journal of Equine Veterinary Science*, 110, 103857.

TER WOORT, F., DUBOIS, G., DIDIER, M. & VAN ERCK-WESTERGREN, E. 2021. Validation of an equine fitness tracker: heart rate and heart rate variability. *Comparative Exercise Physiology*, 17, 189-198.

THOMPSON, M. 2017. Physiological and biomechanical mechanisms of distance specific human running performance. *Integrative and comparative biology*, 57, 293-300.

THOMSON, P., HAYEK, A., JONES, B., EVANS, D. & MCGREEVY, P. 2014. Number, causes and destinations of horses leaving the A ustralian T horoughbred and S tandardbred racing industries. *Australian veterinary journal*, 92, 303-311.

TOBIN, T. 1981. *Drugs and the performance horse*, Charles C. Thomas.

TOWNES, C. 2019. A decade of fighting for equal pay in sports [Online]. [Accessed].

TOZAKI, T., MIYAKE, T., KAKOI, H., GAWAHARA, H., SUGITA, S., HASEGAWA, T., ISHIDA, N., HIROTA, K. & NAKANO, Y. 2010. A genome-wide association study for racing performances in Thoroughbreds clarifies a candidate region near the MSTN gene. *Animal genetics*, *4*1, 28-35.

TOZAKI, T., SATO, F., HILL, E. W., MIYAKE, T., ENDO, Y., KAKOI, H., GAWAHARA, H., HIROTA, K.-I., NAKANO, Y. & NAMBO, Y. 2011. Sequence variants at the myostatin gene locus influence the body composition of Thoroughbred horses. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science*, 1108030597-1108030597.

TRANQUILLE, C., WALKER, V., HODGINS, D., MCEWEN, J., ROBERTS, C., HARRIS, P., CNOCKAERT, R., GUIRE, R. & MURRAY, R. 2017. Quantification of warm-up patterns in elite showjumping horses over three consecutive days: a descriptive study. *Comparative Exercise Physiology*, 13, 53-61.

TURNER, M., MCCRORY, P. & HALLEY, W. 2002. Injuries in professional horse racing in Great Britain and the Republic of Ireland during 1992–2000. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 36, 403-409.

VAN ERCK, E., VOTION, D.-M., SERTEYN, D. & ART, T. 2007. Evaluation of oxygen consumption during field exercise tests in Standardbred trotters. *Equine and Comparative Exercise Physiology*, 4, 43-49.

VELIE, B., KNIGHT, P., THOMSON, P., WADE, C. & HAMILTON, N. 2013a. The association of age at first start with career length in the Australian Thoroughbred racehorse population. *Equine veterinary journal*, 45, 410-413.

VELIE, B., WADE, C. & HAMILTON, N. 2013b. Profiling the careers of Thoroughbred horses racing in Australia between 2000 and 2010. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 45, 182-186.

VERHEYEN, K., HENLEY, W., PRICE, J. & WOOD, J. 2005. Training-related factors associated with dorsometacarpal disease in young Thoroughbred racehorses in the UK. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 37, 442-448.

VERHEYEN, K., NEWTON, J., PRICE, J. & WOOD, J. 2006a. A case-control study of factors associated with pelvic and tibial stress fractures in Thoroughbred racehorses in training in the UK. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 74, 21-35.

VERHEYEN, K., PRICE, J., LANYON, L. & WOOD, J. 2006b. Exercise distance and speed affect the risk of fracture in racehorses. *Bone*, 39, 1322-1330.

VERHEYEN, K. & WOOD, J. 2004. Descriptive epidemiology of fractures occurring in British Thoroughbred racehorses in training. *Equine veterinary journal*, 36, 167-173.

VERHEYEN, K. L., PRICE, J. S. & WOOD, J. L. 2009. Exercise during training is associated with racing performance in Thoroughbreds. *Vet J*, 181, 43-7.

VERMEULEN, A. & EVANS, D. 2006. Measurements of fitness in Thoroughbred racehorses using field studies of heart rate and velocity with a global positioning system. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 38, 113-117.

VON LEWINSKI, M., BIAU, S., ERBER, R., ILLE, N., AURICH, J., FAURE, J.-M., MÖSTL, E. & AURICH, C. 2013. Cortisol release, heart rate and heart rate variability in the horse and its rider: Different responses to training and performance. *The Veterinary Journal*, 197, 229-232.

WALLER, A. E., DANIELS, J. L., WEAVER, N. L. & ROBINSON, P. 2000. Jockey injuries in the United States. *Jama*, 283, 1326-1328.

WALLNER, B., PALMIERI, N., VOGL, C., RIGLER, D., BOZLAK, E., DRUML, T., JAGANNATHAN, V., LEEB, T., FRIES, R. & TETENS, J. 2017. Y chromosome uncovers the recent oriental origin of modern stallions. *Current Biology*, 27, 2029-2035. e5.

WALMSLEY, E., STEEL, C., HAINES, G., LUMSDEN, J. & O'SULLIVAN, C. 2011. Colic after swimming exercise in racehorses: An investigation of incidence, management, surgical findings and outcome. *Australian Veterinary Journal*, 89, 180-183.

WEATHERBY, S. 1791. An Introduction to a General Stud Book. London: Weatherby and Sons. [Online]. [Accessed].

WEBB-CARTER, C. 2015. A Study into British Stayers and Staying Races, The Thoroughbred Breeders' Association. Available: <u>https://www.thetba.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/A-TBA-Study-into-the-Future-of-British-Stayers-and-Staying-Races.pdf</u>.

WESTERLING, D. 1983. A study of physical demands in riding. *European journal of applied physiology and occupational physiology*, 50, 373-382.

WHITAKER, T. The effect of rider gender on performance at international equine eventing competitions. Proceedings of the British Society of Animal Science, 2007. Cambridge University Press, 33-33.

WHITAKER, T., HARGREAVES, A. & WOLFRAMM, A. I. 2012. Differences in elite showjumping performance between male and female riders. *International journal of performance analysis in sport*, 12, 425-435.

WICKLER, S., GREENE, H., EGAN, K., ASTUDILLO, A., DUTTO, D. & HOYT, D. 2006. Stride parameters and hindlimb length in horses fatigued on a treadmill and at an endurance ride. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 38, 60-64.

WILLIAMS, F. & ASHBY, K. 1992. Horse related injuries. *Hospital*, 1989.

WILLIAMS, J. 2013. Performance analysis in equestrian sport. *Comparative Exercise Physiology*, 9, 67-77.

WILLIAMS, J. 2015. Defining performance and measuring success. *Training for Equestrian Performance.* Wageningen Academic Publishers.

WILLIAMS, J. & FIANDER, A. 2014. The impact of full vs. half chukka playing strategies on recovery in low goal polo ponies. *Comparative Exercise Physiology*, 10, 139-145.

WILLIAMS, J., KENWORTHY, K., JONES, T., MARLIN, D. & TABOR, G. 2019. The role of heart rate monitoring to assess workload during maintenance interval training in National Hunt racehorses. *Journal of Veterinary Behavior*, 30, 54-60.

WILLIAMS, J. & TABOR, G. 2017. Rider impacts on equitation. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 190, 28-42.

WILLIAMSON, C., JAMES, E., JAMES, M., MAY, C. & CASEY, P. 1996. Horse plasma lactate determinations: comparison of wet and dry chemistry methods and the effect of storage. *Equine veterinary journal*, 28, 406-408.

WILSON, G., DRUST, B., MORTON, J. P. & CLOSE, G. L. 2014a. Weight-making strategies in professional jockeys: implications for physical and mental health and well-being. *Sports medicine*, 44, 785-796.

WILSON, G., HAWKEN, M. B., POOLE, I., SPARKS, A., BENNETT, S., DRUST, B., MORTON, J. & CLOSE, G. L. 2014b. Rapid weight-loss impairs simulated riding performance and strength in jockeys: implications for making-weight. *Journal of sports sciences*, 32, 383-391.

WILSON, G. & MCGOWAN, C. 2019. Recovery heart rates as a predictor of race position in race-fit National Hunt racehorses. *Comparative Exercise Physiology*, 15, 307-312.

WITTE, T., HIRST, C. & WILSON, A. 2006. Effect of speed on stride parameters in racehorses at gallop in field conditions. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 209, 4389-4397.

WONG, A. S., MORRICE-WEST, A. V., WHITTON, R. C. & HITCHENS, P. L. 2022. Changes in Thoroughbred speed and stride characteristics over successive race starts and their association with musculoskeletal injury. *Equine Veterinary Journal*.

WONG, J. K. & WAN, T. S. 2014. Doping control analyses in horseracing: A clinician's guide. *The Veterinary Journal*, 200, 8-16.

WOOD, J., HARKINS, L. & ROGERS, K. A retrospective study of factors associated with racehorse fatality on British racecourses from 1990-1999. Proceedings of the 13th International Conference of Racing Analysts and Veterinarians, 2000. R&W Publications Ltd., 274-277.

WOODMAN, T. & HARDY, L. 2003. The relative impact of cognitive anxiety and self-confidence upon sport performance: A meta-analysis. *Journal of sports sciences*, 21, 443-457.

WYLIE, C. & NEWTON, J. 2018. A systematic literature search to identify performance measure outcomes used in clinical studies of racehorses. *Equine veterinary journal*, 50, 304-311.

YAMANOBE, A., HIRAGA, A. & KUBO, K. 1993. Evaluation of the training effect using daily heart rate during warming up in the horse. *Bulletin of Equine Research Institute*, 1993, 5-8.

YOUNG, L. & WOOD, J. Effect of age and training on Thoroughbred valvular competence. Proc. Am. Coll. vet. med. Forum, 2001. 93-95.

Chapter 8 Published Papers

Comparative Exercise Physiology, 2022; 18 (3): 185-199



a multi-national study

C. Schrurs^{1*}, G. Dubois², F. Patarin³, M. Cobb¹, D.S. Gardner^{1*} and E. Van Erck-Westergren^{4*}

¹School of Veterinary Medicine & Science, University of Nottingham, Sutton Bonington, LE12 SRD Loughborough, United Kingdom; ²Arioneo, 94 Boulevard Auguste Blanqui, 75013 Paris, France; ³Fundamental and Applied Research for Animals & Health, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Liège, 4000 Liège, Belgium; ⁴Equine Sports Medicine Practice, 83 Avenue Beau Séjour, 1410 Waterloo, Belgium; charlotte. schrurs@nottingham.ac.uk; david.gardner@nottingham.ac.uk; evanerck@esmp.be

> Received: 9 September 2021 / Accepted: 10 February 2022 © 2022 Wageningen Academic Publishers

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Abstract

Studies assessing concurrent speed, cardiovascular physiology and biomechanical parameters in racehorses during training have been rarely reported, mostly due to a lack of available comprehensive technology. Here, using a validated device (the 'Equimetre") that records all parameters simultaneously, we report the effect of increased training speed and thus intensity, from slow canter to hard gallop, on racehorse heart rate, heart rate recovery and on biomechanical parameters, such as stride length and frequency. We also demonstrate the effects of varying track surface, horse age and sex. Cohorts comprised a total of 509 Thoroughbred racehorses in-training in either Australia or France, completing a total of 1,124 and 6,016 training sessions, respectively. Horses varied by age (2-9 years old) and sex (including geldings) and were trained by either a single trainer (Australia) or two trainers (France); both using multiple training centres that varied by track surface (sand, turf or fibre). Data were analysed using Analysis of Variation (ANOVA) or linear mixed-effect models as appropriate. Racehorses increased speed predominantly by an increment in stride length, then frequency, both of which varied according to track surface (shorter stride on sand; P<0.001). Cardiovascular parameters (peak, and recovery of, heart rate) increased with training intensity, but not linearly (Ptrend<0.001). Older horses recorded lower heart rate at 15 mins after training (P=0.002), often due to lower achieved peak heart rate at most training intensities (P<0.001 for the cohort in Australia). In conclusion, this immersive field study demonstrates the value of technology for recording physiological and biomechanical parameters of racehorses-in-training. The data could inform trainers, jockeys and owners on aspects of individual racehorse health, welfare and suitability for certain races.

Keywords: horse, exercise, racetrack surface, heart rate, locomotion

1. Introduction

Thoroughbred racehorses have evolved, comparatively, as elite athletes. By any measure, they have superior speed, oxidative threshold and exhibit greater circulatory responses to exercise such as release of red cells from the splenic reservoir, when compared to man (Allen *et al.*, 2016b). Racehorses are trained consistently from two years of age to race and ideally win against other racehorses at ages two, three or older. Despite much progress in the understanding of equine sports performance, training practices remain predominantly grounded in tradition, experience, observation and the rider's feedback (Ely et al., 2010) rather than evidence-based principles of performance (Williams, 2013). In contrast, development of human elite performance toward readiness for competition has been influenced and informed by objective feedback from a variety of training aids, such as monitoring of heart rate (HR) or of recovery (HRR), or power output (particularly for cycling) for decades. Indeed, relatively recently, incorporation of variations in training intensity (e.g. high-intensity intervals during a training session) and variations in training patterns over time (e.g. periodisation of training over the racing season) have been introduced

PLOS ONE



OPEN ACCESS

Citation: Schrurs C, Dubois G, Van Erck-Westergren E, Gardner DS (2022) Does sex of the jockey influence racehorse physiology and performance. PLoS ONE 17(8): e0273310. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0273310

Editor: Yaodong Gu, Ningbo University, CHINA

Received: April 7, 2022

Accepted: August 7, 2022

Published: August 31, 2022

Peer Review History: PLOS recognizes the benefits of transparency in the peer review process; therefore, we enable the publication of all of the content of peer review and author responses alongside final, published articles. The editorial history of this article is available here: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0273310

Copyright: © 2022 Schrurs et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: All anonymized data used in this manuscript are available from Arioneo, Ltd at https://vet.arioneo.com/en/bdd-publication/ (racehorse training data with sex of jockey listed) and all data used to calculate the win percentage of male or female jockeys are available at The

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Does sex of the jockey influence racehorse physiology and performance

Charlotte Schrurs¹*, Guillaume Dubois², Emmanuelle Van Erck-Westergren³, David S. Gardner_©¹*

1 School of Veterinary Medicine & Science, University of Nottingham, Sutton Bonington, Loughborough, United Kingdom, 2 Arioneo, Paris, France, 3 Equine Sports Medicine Practice, Waterloo, Belgium

* charlotte.schrurs@nottingham.ac.uk (CS); david.gardner@nottingham.ac.uk (DSG)

Abstract

The racing industry is supported by a predominance of female stablehands and work riders, but few become professional jockeys. Female jockeys have recently had notable race success. No study has assessed whether the sex of the rider may subtly influence racehorse physiology to affect performance. Here, using a validated exercise tracking system (the 'Equimetre'™) that records many physiological parameters simultaneously, this study characterised racehorse cardiovascular (heart rate, heart rate recovery) and biomechanical (stride length and frequency) parameters at various exercise intensities (slow canter to hard gallop) to address the question whether any parameter varied according to sex of the rider. A total of 530 Thoroughbreds, varying in age (2-7 years old) and sex (including geldings), from one racing yard in Australia, completed a total of 3,568 exercise sessions, monitored by a single trainer, on varying track surfaces (sand, turf, or fibre). Different work riders, 103 in total (male, n = 66; female, n = 37) of which n = 43 were current or past registered professional jockeys, participated in the study. Data were analysed using analysis of variation (ANOVA) or mixed-effect models, as appropriate. Sex of the rider did not influence (P> 0.05) racehorse speed nor stride length at any training intensity. Racehorse heart rate and peak heart rate increased with training intensity (P < .001), with no difference according to sex of rider (P > 0.05). Racehorse heart rate recovery was influenced by sex of the rider, but only at the extremes of the reversed, usual training intensity on each surface (e.g. heart rate after galloping on sand was significantly lower with male riders, P = 0.03). Finally, analysis of 52,464 race results indicated a similar chance of a top-three placing for male and female jockeys. In conclusion, this study, using objectively obtained data, demonstrates for the first time no overt effect of the rider's sex on racehorse physiology in training and performance in racing. Such data could encourage greater female participation in racing and improve access of female jockeys to better quality mounts in racing events.

Introduction

In human elite sport, athletes are almost invariably segregated by sex. Male athletes tend to perform at a faster, higher, and stronger level due to a combination of various physical and Article





Locomotory Profiles in Thoroughbreds: Peak Stride Length and Frequency in Training and Association with Race Outcomes

Charlotte Schrurs ^{1,*}⁽⁰⁾, Sarah Blott ¹⁽⁰⁾, Guillaume Dubois ², Emmanuelle Van Erck-Westergren ³ and David S. Gardner ^{1,*}⁽⁰⁾

- ¹ School of Veterinary Medicine & Science, University of Nottingham, Sutton Bonington, Loughborough LE12 5RD, UK
- Arioneo Ltd., 94 Boulevard Auguste Blanqui, 75013 Paris, France Equine Sports Medicine Practice, 83 Avenue Beau Séjour, 1410 Waterloo, Belgium
- Correspondence: charlotte.schrurs@nottingham.ac.uk (C.S.); david.gardner@nottingham.ac.uk (D.S.G.)

Simple Summary: Racehorses compete in short ('sprinters'); medium ('milers') or long distance ('stayers') races. Sprinters are thought to naturally have a shorter stride than stayers; but no study has objectively tested this theory. Here, using known race distance to categorize racehorses into one of the three aforementioned categories together with a stride tracking device that objectively measures locomotion; this study demonstrates that peak stride length in racehorses is a heritable trait that is different in sprinters versus stayers prior to them even racing at that distance. In training, sprinters took shorter strides of higher frequency and were faster to cover furlongs in race-speed training sessions from a standing start than stayers. These stride data were recorded during training sessions before the horses raced and thus categorised as 'sprinters' or 'stayers'. Stride length during training did not predict later racing success. This study provides the first objective insight into locomotory differences between sprinters and stayers. Such information when coupled with the trainer's experience/eye could help them choose the most suitable race for each individual horse; to benefit both its health and safety on the track.

Abstract: Racehorses competing in short (i.e., 'sprinters'), middle- or longer-distance (i.e., 'stayers') flat races are assumed to have natural variation in locomotion; sprinters having an innately shorter stride than stayers. No study has objectively tested this theory. Here, racehorses (n = 421) were categorised as sprinters, milers or stayers based on known race distance (n = 3269 races). Stride parameters (peak length and frequency) of those racehorses were collected from prior race-pace training sessions on turf (n = 2689; 'jumpout', n = 1013), using a locomotion monitoring device. Pedigree information for all 421 racehorses was extracted to three-generations. In training, sprinters had a shorter stride of higher frequency and covered consecutive furlongs faster than stayers (p < 0.001). Relatively short or longer stride did not predict race success, but stayers had greater race success than sprinters (p < 0.001). Peak stride length and frequency were moderately heritable ($h^2 = 0.15$ and 0.20, respectively). In conclusion, differences in stride were apparent between sprinters and stayers (e.g., shorter stride in sprinters) during routine training, even after accounting for their pedigree. Objective data on stride characteristics could supplement other less objectively obtained parameters to benefit trainers in the appropriate selection of races for each individual racehorse.

Keywords: horse; exercise; stride; performance; heritability

1. Introduction

In flat racing, Thoroughbreds compete in various types of races usually categorised as short (<1500 m), middle (1600-2500 m) or long (>2500 m) distance. Racehorses are usually considered to be naturally predisposed to one type of race distance, due to various physiological and morphological characteristics such as size, musculature [1], and

Animals 2022, 12, 3269. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12233269

https://www.mdpi.com/journal/animals



Citation: Schnurs, C.; Blott, S.; Dubois, G.; Van Erck-Westergren, E.; Gardner, D.S. Locomotory Profiles in Thoroughbreds: Peak Stride Length and Frequency in Training and Association with Race Outcomes Animals 2022, 12, 3269, https:// doi.org/10.3390/ani12233269

Academic Editors: Hilary Clayton and Lindsay St. George

Received: 29 October 2022 Accepted: 21 November 2022 Published: 24 November 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affilall on the



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPL Basel, Switzerland, This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 40/).